
No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This Prospectus 
constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and only by persons 
permitted to sell such securities. The securities offered by this Prospectus have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state of the United States and, subject to certain 
exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States of America or to, or for the benefit or account of, U.S. persons (as defined in Rule 
902(k) of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act (“U.S. Persons”), except in transactions exempt from registration under the U.S. Securities 
Act and under the securities laws of any applicable state. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy 
any of the securities offered hereby within the United States. See “Plan of Distribution”. 
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INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING FEBRUARY 3, 2015 

SAN ANGELO OIL LIMITED 
 

$1,000,000 
5,000,000 Units 

 
San Angelo Oil Limited (the “Company”) is offering for sale to the public (the “Offering”) 5,000,000 
Units in the capital of the Company at a price of $0.20 per Unit (the “Offering Price”). Each Unit is 
comprised of one common share in the capital of the Company (an “Offering Share”) and one common 
share purchase warrant.  Each warrant (a “Warrant”) entitles the holder thereof to acquire one additional 
common share in the capital of the Company (a “Warrant Share”) upon payment of the exercise price of 
$0.30 at any time prior to 1:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date which is 24 months from the date the 
common shares in the capital of the Company (the “Common Shares”) and Warrants are listed on the 
TSX Venture Exchange (the “Listing Date”). The Warrants will be created and issued pursuant to the 
terms of a warrant indenture (“Warrant Indenture”) dated the Closing Date (as defined herein) between 
the Company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the “Warrant Agent”), as warrant agent 
thereunder.  Richardson GMP Limited (the “Agent”) has agreed to act as agent for the Offering on a 
commercially reasonable efforts basis.  The Offering Price of the Units was determined by negotiation 
between the Agent and the Company in accordance with the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange (the 
“TSX-V”). 
 

Price: $0.20 per Unit 
 

 Price to the Public 
Agent’s 

Commission(1)(2)(3) 
Net Proceeds to the 

Company(4) 
Per Unit $0.20 $0.016 $0.184 

Total Offering $1,000,000 $80,000 $920,000 
 
Notes: 
(1) The Company has agreed to pay the Agent, on the Closing Date, a cash commission (the “Agent’s Commission”) 

equal to 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, other than any subscriptions received from a purchaser of Units 
pursuant to the Offering (a “Purchaser”) listed in a “president’s list” (the “President’s List Purchasers”) to be 
provided to the Agent by the Company, on which a fee of 4% will be paid to the Agent.  See “Plan of Distribution”.  
The Agent’s Commission payable in this table assumes there are no President’s List Purchasers. 

(2) The Company has agreed to grant the Agent an agent’s compensation option (the “Agent’s Option”) to purchase that 
number of common shares in the capital of the Company (the “Agent’s Shares”) equal to 8% of the aggregate number 
of Units sold under the Offering (being 400,000 Agent’s Shares), other than in respect of orders from the President’s 
List Purchasers on which the Agent will receive an Agent’s Option entitling it to purchase that number of Agent’s 
Shares equal to 4% of the Units issued to President’s List Subscribers.  See “Plan of Distribution” and “Description of 
Securities Distributed”.  The Agent’s Option is exercisable at a price of $0.20 per Agent’s Share for a period of 24 
months from the Listing Date. This Prospectus qualifies the grant of the Agent’s Option. 



 
 

(3) The Company has granted to the Agent an option (the “Over-Allotment Option”) exercisable, in whole or in part, 
from time to time, if the Offering is completed and in the sole discretion of the Agent at any time up to the closing of 
the Offering (the “Closing”), to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes.  If the Over-
Allotment Option is exercised by the Agent, the Company will issue up to an aggregate number of additional Units (the 
“Over-Allotment Units”) equal to 15% of the number of Units sold under the Offering (being up to 750,000 Units). 
The purchase price of each Over-Allotment Unit will be equal to the Offering Price.  Each Over-Allotment Unit is 
comprised of one Common Share (an “Over-Allotment Share”) and one common share purchase warrant. Each 
warrant (an “Over-Allotment Warrant”) entitles the holder thereof to acquire one additional Common Share (an 
“Over-Allotment Warrant Share”) upon payment of the exercise price of $0.30 at any time prior to 1:30 p.m. 
(Vancouver time) on the date which is 24 months from the Listing Date. The Over-Allotment Warrants will be 
administered pursuant to the Warrant Indenture. This table excludes any Over-Allotment Units issuable upon exercise 
of the Over-Allotment Option.  See “Plan of Distribution”.  This Prospectus (as defined herein) qualifies the 
distribution of the Over-Allotment Units to be issued by the Company upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.  A 
Purchaser who acquires Over-Allotment Units forming part of the Agent’s over-allotment position acquires such 
securities under this Prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allotment position is ultimately filled through the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases.  Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined 
herein), the Company has agreed to pay to the Agent a cash commission (the “Agent’s Over-Allotment 
Commission”) equal to 8% of the gross proceeds realized from the sale of Over-Allotment Units pursuant to the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, other than any subscriptions received from the President’s List Purchasers, on 
which a fee 4% will be paid to the Agent.  In addition, the Company has agreed to grant to the Agent an agent’s over-
allotment compensation option (the “Agent’s Over-Allotment Option”) to purchase that number of additional 
Common Shares (the “Agent’s Over-Allotment Shares”) equal to 8% of the aggregate number of Over-Allotment 
Units sold and issued pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option (being up to 60,000 Agent’s Over-
Allotment Shares), other than in respect of orders from the President’s List Purchasers on which the Agent will receive 
an Agent’s Over-Allotment Option entitling it to purchase that number of Agent’s Over-Allotment Shares equal to 4% 
of the Over-Allotment Units issued to President’s List Subscribers.  The Agent’s Over-Allotment Option is exercisable 
at a price of $0.20 per Agent’s Over-Allotment Share for a period of 24 months from the Listing Date. If the Over-
Allotment Option is exercised in full, the total Offering will amount to $1,150,000, the Agent’s Commission including 
the Agent’s Over-Allotment Commission (and assuming no President’s List Subscribers) will be $92,000 and the net 
proceeds available to the Company will be $1,058,000.  See “Plan of Distribution” and “Description of Securities 
Distributed”.  

(4) After deducting the Agent’s Commission but before deducting the expenses of the Offering estimated to be $80,000 
which, together with the Agent’s Commission, will be paid by the Company out of the gross proceeds of the Offering. 
See “Use of Proceeds”. 
 

The following table sets out the number of securities issuable by the Company to, or at the option of, the 
Agent. 
 

Agent’s Position 
 

Number of Securities 
Available 

Exercise Period or 
Acquisition Date 

Exercise Price or 
Acquisition Price 

Agent’s Option(1)(3) 400,000 Agent’s Shares Up to 24 months from the 
Listing Date $0.20 per Agent’s Share 

Over-Allotment Option(1)(2) 750,000 Over-Allotment 
Units Up to the Closing Date $0.20 per Over-Allotment 

Unit 

Agent’s Over-Allotment 
Option(1)(2)(3) 

60,000 Agent’s Over-
Allotment Shares 

Up to 24 months from the 
Listing Date 

$0.20 per Agent’s Over-
Allotment Share 

 
Notes: 
(1) This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent’s Option, any Over-Allotment Units issued upon exercise of the 

Over-Allotment Option, and the Agent’s Over-Allotment Option.  See “Description of Securities Distributed” and 
“Plan of Distribution”. 

(2) Assuming exercise in full of the Over-Allotment Option. 
(3) Assuming no participation by the President’s List Purchasers. 

 
There is currently no market through which these securities may be sold and Purchasers may not 
be able to resell securities purchased under this Prospectus.  This may affect the pricing of the 
securities in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity 
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of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation.  See “Risk Factors”.  The Company’s business is 
subject to certain risks normally encountered in the oil and gas industry, including the risks associated 
with the Company’s early stage of development and with oil and gas exploration in particular.   
 
The TSX-V has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares and the Warrants.  Listing of 
the Common Shares and the Warrants is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the 
TSX-V on or before April 23, 2015. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of 
its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to 
apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a 
marketplace outside Canada and the U.S.   
 
The Offering is not underwritten or guaranteed by any person.  The Agent, as exclusive agent of the 
Company for the purposes of the Offering, conditionally offers the Units on a commercially reasonable 
efforts basis, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by the Company and accepted by the Agent in 
accordance with the Agency Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution” and subject to approval 
of certain legal matters on behalf of the Company by Morton Law LLP and on behalf of the Agent by 
Getz Prince Wells LLP.  Subscriptions for the Units will be received subject to rejection or allotment in 
whole or in part and the Agent reserves the right to close the subscription books at any time without 
notice. 
 
The Offering is being made on a commercially reasonable efforts basis and is subject to a minimum 
aggregate subscription of 5,000,000 Units within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date (as defined 
herein). All subscription funds received will be held by the Agent and if the minimum subscription is not 
raised within the ninety (90) day period, subscription monies will be returned to Purchasers without 
interest or deduction. If the Offering is not fully subscribed within ninety (90) days from the Effective 
Date, the Offering may continue if the British Columbia Securities Commission gives its consent to an 
extension of time and an amendment has been filed with them and sent to all Purchasers who subscribed 
during the ninety (90) day period.  The maximum distribution period for the Offering is 180 days from 
November 18, 2014, the date the Company received a final receipt for its prospectus dated November 14, 
2014.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
The Company, through its subsidiary, San Angelo Operating Corp. (“SAOC”), is engaged in the 
exploration for, and the development and production of, oil and natural gas properties in the U.S.  
Substantially all of the assets of the Company are owned by SAOC and are located outside Canada. 
SAOC is formed under a jurisdiction outside of Canada.  Some of the directors and officers of the 
Company, and one of the experts named in this Prospectus, reside outside of Canada.  It may not be 
possible for Purchasers to collect from the Company or to enforce judgements obtained in Canadian 
courts predicated upon civil liability provisions of applicable Canadian securities laws against the 
Company and any of its directors and officers and certain of the experts named in this Prospectus.  
Moreover, it may not be possible for Purchasers to effect service of process within Canada upon the 
directors, officers and experts referred to above. 
 
Michael Arguijo, Chief Executive Officer, President and a director of the Company, John G. Turner, a 
director of the Company, and Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc., an expert named in this Prospectus, 
reside outside of Canada and have appointed the following agent for service of process: 
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Name of Person Name and Address of Agent 

Michael Arguijo San Angelo Oil Limited 
c/o Suite 1200, 750 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8 

John G. Turner San Angelo Oil Limited 
c/o Suite 1200, 750 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8 

Netherland, Sewell & 
Associates, Inc. 

San Angelo Oil Limited 
c/o Suite 1200, 750 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8 

 
Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada 
against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a 
foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of 
process. 
 
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves significant risks 
that should be carefully considered by prospective Purchasers before purchasing such securities. 
The risks outlined in this Prospectus should be carefully reviewed and considered by prospective 
Purchasers in connection with an investment in such securities. An investment in the Units is 
suitable only for those Purchasers who are willing to risk a loss of some or all of their investment 
and who can afford to lose some or all of their investment.  See “Risk Factors”. 
 
Prospective Purchasers should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus.  Neither the 
Agent nor the Company has authorized anyone to provide you with different information.  The Company 
is not making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted.  Purchasers 
should not assume that the information contained in this Prospectus is accurate as of any date other than 
the date on the front of this Prospectus. If a material change occurs before the Closing of the Offering, the 
Company would be required to file an amendment to this Prospectus as soon as practicable, and in any 
event, within 10 days after the material change occurred.  
 

AGENT: 
 

RICHARDSON GMP LIMITED 
550 Burrard Street, Suite 500 

Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2B5 
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GLOSSARY 

 
“2014 Plan” means the stock option plan adopted by the Board of Directors on October 8, 2014;  

“3-D” means 3-D Oil and Gas; 

“3-D Lease” means the leasehold interest in the Farmout Lands held by 3-D; 

“Agency Agreement” means the agency agreement dated for reference November 14, 2014, and 
amended and restated January 26, 2015 and further amended and restated the 3rd day of February, 2015 
between the Agent and the Company relating to the Offering; 

“Agent” means Richardson GMP Limited; 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended, including all 
regulations promulgated thereunder; 

“Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time; 

“Business Day” means a day, other than Saturdays, Sundays and statutory holidays, when the banks 
conducting business in the city of Vancouver, British Columbia are generally open for the transaction of 
banking business; 

“Closing” means the closing of the Offering; 

“Closing Date” means the date of which is no later than 90 days from the date of the Final Receipt, or 
such other date as the Agent and the Company may agree upon;  

“COGEH” means the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook prepared by the Society of Petroleum 
Evaluation Engineers (Calgary Chapter) and the Petroleum Society of Canada; 
 
“Common Share” means a common share in the capital of the Company; 

“Company” means San Angelo Oil Limited, together with its successors and assigns; 

“CSA” means the Canadian Securities Administrators; 

“Effective Date” means the date that a Final Receipt is issued or deemed to be issued by each of the 
Securities Commissions in accordance with the procedures for prospectus review in multiple jurisdictions 
provided for under NP 11-202 and MI 11-102; 

“Farmout Agreement” means the farmout agreement dated April 8th, 2014, between 3-D and LoIn; 

“Farmout Lands” means the 258.3 acres out of the Western portion of the Noah Smithwick Survey No. 
452, A-440 located in Runnels County, Texas, as more particularly described in the Farmout Agreement;   

“Final Receipt” means the final receipt issued by the securities regulatory authorities in the Qualifying 
Jurisdictions for this Prospectus; 

“Financial Statements” means the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements and the notes thereto for the three month period ended September 30, 2014, and the audited 
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the period from incorporation to June 30, 2014, 
which are attached as Schedule A to this Prospectus; 
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“Gray Sand” means the geologic formation of Pennsylvanian age that is the target of the Orb Prospect 
proposed development;  

“gross acres” or “acres” is the total acreage contained within tracts of land where SAOC has an interest 
in part of the acreage included in such tracts, and has drilling rights to such tracts; 

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board; 

“Leases” means the oil, gas and mineral leases covering a total of 2,694.7 net mineral acres in which the 
Company, through SAOC, has an interest pursuant to the PSPA;  

“Listing Date” means the date on which the Common Shares and Warrants are listed for trading on the 
TSX-V; 

“LoIn” means LoIn Energy Corporation; 

 “MD&A” means management’s discussion and analysis; 

“MI 11-102” means Multilateral Instrument 11-102- Passport System; 

“net mineral acres” means the number of acres attributable to a specific lease within a gross acreage;   

“NI 51-101” means National Instrument 51-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities of 
the CSA; 

“NI 52-107” means National Instrument 52-107 – Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing 
Standards of the CSA; 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees of the CSA; 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices of the 
CSA; 

“NP 11-202” means National Policy 11-202 – Process for Prospectus Reviews in Multiple Jurisdictions; 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings;  

“NSAI” means Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc., petroleum consultants; 
 
“Offering” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“Offering Price” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“Orb Prospect” means the prospect area targeting the Gray Sand in which SAOC currently owns an 
interest in 2,953 net mineral acres (acquired via leasing and farmout) that encompasses the Wingate Field 
area of western Runnels County in the State of Texas; 

“President’s List Purchasers” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“Prospectus” means this amended and restated prospectus and any appendices, schedules or attachments 
hereto; 

“PSPA” means the Purchase, Sale and Participation Agreement made effective January 1, 2014, between 
SAOC and LoIn;  
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“Purchaser” means a person or other entity that purchases Units under the Offering;  

“Qualifying Jurisdictions” means the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario; 

“Reserve Report” means the report titled “Estimates of Reserves and Future Revenue to the San Angelo 
Operating Corp. Interest in Certain Oil and Gas Properties located in Wingate Field, Runnels County, 
Texas as of June 30, 2014” prepared by NSAI; 
 
“SAOC” means San Angelo Operating Corp.; 

“Securities Commissions” means, collectively, the securities commissions or similar regulatory 
authorities in the Qualifying Jurisdictions; 

“Selling Firms” means licensed dealers, brokers and investment dealers retained by the Agent in respect 
of the Offering; 

“Stock Options” means options to purchase Common Shares granted by the Board of Directors to certain 
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company pursuant to the 2014 Plan; 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations thereunder, as amended; 

“Tier 2 Value Escrow” means the escrow provisions for value securities for Tier 2 issuers, as set out in 
TSX-V Policy 5.4; 

“TSX-V” means the TSX Venture Exchange;  

“TSX-V Policy 5.4” means TSX-V Policy 5.4- Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions; 

“Units” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“U.S. Person” has the meaning ascribed to it in Rule 902(k) of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities 
Act; 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended; 

“U.S.” or “United States” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any State of 
the United States, and the District of Columbia; 

“Warrant” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“Warrant Indenture” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus; 

“Warrant Share” has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus;  

“wellbore only rights” means a working interest which limits the working interest to the production and 
equipment associated with a specific wellbore only and does not include ownership in the acreage outside 
of the regulatory proration unit for that wellbore; and 

“Wingate Field” means the regulatory field designated by the Texas Railroad Commission as ‘Wingate 
Field’ and in the context of the Orb Prospect, which may include regulatory fields adjacent to the Wingate 
Field proper. 
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Abbreviations 
 
Bbl Barrel or barrels  Mcf Thousands of cubic feet 
Bbl/d  Barrel or barrels per day  Mcf/d Thousands of cubic feet per day 
BOE Barrel or barrels of oil equivalent  MMcf Million cubic feet 
BOE/d Barrels of oil equivalent per day  USM$ Thousands of United States dollars 
Mbbls Thousand barrels  US$/d United States dollars per day 
MBOE/d Thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day    
 

EXCHANGE RATE DATA 
 
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high, low, average noon spot and period end noon spot 
buying rates of exchange for one U.S. dollar in Canadian dollars as published by the Bank of Canada.  Although 
obtained from sources believed to be reliable, the data is provided for informational purposes only, and the Bank of 
Canada does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the data. 
 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 

2014 

Period Ended 
September 30, 

2014 

Period Ended 
June 30, 2014 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2013 
Highest noon spot rate during period 1.1643 1.1208 1.1251 1.0697 
Lowest noon  spot rate during period 1.0614 1.0634 1.0614 0.9839 
Average noon spot rate for the period 1.1047 1.0890 1.0968 1.0299 
Period end noon spot rate 1.1601 1.1208 1.0676 1.0636 

 
On February 2, 2015, the noon spot rate reported by the Bank of Canada was US$1.00 = $1.2578. 

 
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
Certain statements contained in this Prospectus and any marketing materials incorporated by reference in 
this Prospectus constitute forward-looking information and forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of applicable securities legislation (collectively “forward-looking statements”).  Forward-
looking statements may include financial and other projections, as well as statements regarding future 
plans, objectives or economic performance, or the assumption underlying any of the foregoing. The use of 
any of the words “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, 
“plan”, “forecast”, “project”, “estimate”, and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements.  
 
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to differ materially from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.  
Accordingly, Purchasers should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements.  
Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made.  New 
factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all of such factors and 
to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the Company’s business or the extent to which any 
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any 
forward-looking statements.  In addition, this Prospectus and any marketing materials incorporated by 
reference in this Prospectus may contain forward-looking statements attributed to third party industry 
sources. 
 
In particular, this Prospectus contains forward-looking statements pertaining to the following: 
 
• business strategy, strength and focus; 
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• proposed expenditures under “Use of Proceeds”; 
• the satisfaction of conditions contained in the PSPA and any additional leases in which the 

Company may obtain an interest; 
• the granting of regulatory approvals; 
• the timing for receipt of regulatory approvals; 
• the reserve potential of the properties; 
• the estimated quantity and quality of the Company’s oil and natural gas reserves; 
• projections of market prices and costs and the related sensitivity of distributions; 
• supply and demand for oil and natural gas; 
• expectations regarding the ability to raise capital and to continually add to reserves through 

acquisitions and development; 
• treatment under governmental regulatory regimes and tax laws, and capital expenditure programs; 
• expectations with respect to the Company’s future working capital position; 
• capital expenditure programs; 
• abandonment and reclamation costs; and 
• the completion of the Offering. 
 
Statements relating to “reserves” are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve the 
implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the reserves described can be 
profitably produced in the future. 
 
Forward-looking statements are based on the reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of 
management made in light of its experience and its perception of trends, current conditions and expected 
developments, as well as other factors that management believes to be relevant and reasonable in the 
circumstances at the date that such statements are made, but which may prove to be incorrect. With 
respect to forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus and any marketing materials 
incorporated by reference in this Prospectus, assumptions have been made regarding, among other things: 
 
• future commodity prices; 
• the Company’s ability to obtain qualified staff and equipment in a timely and cost-efficient manner; 
• the impact of any changes in U.S. law; 
• the ability of the Company to satisfy the requirements to maintain its existing and future leases and 

the PSPA in good standing; 
• the regulatory framework governing royalties, taxes and environmental matters in the U.S. and any 

other jurisdictions in which the Company may conduct its business in the future; 
• the ability of the Company’s subsidiary to obtain any required permits, access rights in respect of 

land and resource and environmental approvals; 
• the recoverability of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas reserves; 
• the applicability of technologies for recovery and production of the Company’s oil and natural gas 

reserves; 
• the Company’s future production levels; 
• the Company’s ability to market crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids production; 
• future development plans for the Company’s assets unfolding as currently envisioned; 
• future capital expenditures to be made by the Company; 
• future cash flows from production meeting the expectations stated herein; 
• future sources of funding for the Company’s capital program; 
• the Company’s future debt levels; 
• geological and engineering estimates in respect of the Company’s reserves; 
• the geography of the areas in which the Company is exploring; 
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• the Company’s ability to engage and retain qualified key personnel and employees; 
• the intentions of the Company’s board with respect to the executive compensation plans and 

corporate governance programs described herein; 
• the impact of increasing competition on the Company; and 
• the Company’s ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all. 
 
Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of the risk factors set forth below and elsewhere in this Prospectus and any marketing materials 
incorporated by reference in this Prospectus: 
 
• the speculative nature of exploration, appraisal and development of oil and natural gas properties; 
• uncertainties associated with estimating oil and natural gas reserves; 
• changes in the cost of operations, including costs of extracting and delivering oil and natural gas to 

market, that affect potential profitability of oil and natural gas exploration; 
• operating hazards and risks inherent in oil and natural gas operations; 
• volatility in market prices for oil and natural gas; 
• market conditions that prevent the Company from raising the funds necessary for exploration and 

development on acceptable terms or at all; 
• global financial market events that cause significant volatility in commodity prices; 
• unexpected costs or liabilities for environmental matters; 
• competition for, among other things, capital, acquisitions of oil and gas properties, skilled 

personnel, and access to equipment and services required for exploration, development and 
production; 

• changes in exchange rates, laws of U.S. or laws of Canada affecting foreign trade, taxation and 
investment; 

• failure to realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions; and 
• the other factors discussed under “Risk Factors”. 
 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. 
 
The material factors and assumptions used in developing the forward-looking statements are based on the 
assumptions contained in the Reserve Report, including future commodity prices, costs and expected 
inflation, as well as the Company’s planned capital expenditure program, estimated drilling success rates 
and other prospects.  Due to the nature of the oil and natural gas industry, budgets are regularly reviewed 
in light of the success of the expenditures and other opportunities, which may become available to the 
Company.  Accordingly, while the Company anticipates that it will have the ability to spend the funds 
available to it as stated in this Prospectus, there may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, 
a reallocation of funds may be prudent.  The Company’s business objectives and other factors that 
management will consider in assessing the Company’s participation in acquisition or development 
opportunities are described under “General Development of the Business”. 
 
The forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus and any marketing materials 
incorporated by reference in this Prospectus are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.  
Except as required under applicable securities laws, the Company does not undertake or assume 
any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements. Purchasers should read 
this entire Prospectus and consult their own professional advisors to assess the income tax, legal, 
risk factors and other aspects of their investment in the Units. 
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Market and Industry Data 
 
This Prospectus and any marketing materials incorporated by reference in this Prospectus may include 
market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, including industry publications, 
as well as industry data prepared by management of the Company on the basis of its knowledge of and 
experience in the industry in which the Company operates (including management’s estimates and 
assumptions relating to the industry based on that knowledge). The Company believes that its industry 
data is accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the 
accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the information contained 
therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy 
or completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, none of the 
Company, the Agent, or their management has independently verified any of the data from third party 
sources referred to in this Prospectus and any marketing materials incorporated by reference in this 
Prospectus or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 
 

Marketing Materials 
 

The “template version” of the “marketing materials” (as such terms are defined under applicable 
Canadian securities laws) filed in connection with the Offering, consisting of a corporate presentation and 
a summary, both dated November 20, 2014 (the “Initial Marketing Materials”), are not part of this 
Prospectus to the extent that the contents of the Initial Marketing Materials have been modified or 
superseded by a statement contained in this Prospectus.  
 
Statements included in the Initial Marketing Materials have been modified or superseded by disclosure 
contained in this Prospectus.  In particular, statements regarding the size and pricing of the Offering, as 
well as the use of proceeds from the Offering, have been modified or superseded. The foregoing is not an 
exhaustive list of the modifications and is qualified by the information contained in this Prospectus.  
Pursuant to Section 13.8(7) of NI 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements, the Company has prepared 
revised marketing materials, which are blacklined to the Initial Marketing Materials to reflect the 
modified statements. The revised template version of the marketing materials can be viewed under the 
Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, and are incorporated by reference in this prospectus. 
 
Any template version of any marketing materials that may be filed under the Company’s profile on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com after the date of this Prospectus and before the termination of the distribution 
under the Offering (including any amendments to, or an amended version of, any template version of any 
marketing materials) are deemed to be incorporated into this Prospectus. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 
 
The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with 
the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
 
 

THE COMPANY 
 
The Company through its subsidiary, SAOC, is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 
of conventional oil and natural gas properties.  The Company is focusing on identification of conventional 
low permeability reservoirs with additional development potential that may be primarily accessed 
utilizing horizontal drilling and completion technology, and has investigated and acquired interests in oil 
and gas leases, through SAOC, all of which are located in the State of Texas, U.S. The Company’s assets 
consist of a 55% working interest in the Orb Prospect.  See “Business of the Corporation- Property of the 
Company- Orb Prospect, Runnels County”. 
 
Since incorporation on February 11, 2014, the Company has completed private placement financings and 
a debt offering to raise approximately $2,663,000, established an operational structure, set up an office in 
Austin, Texas, engaged key personnel and acquired its current oil and natural gas assets. 
 
 

THE OFFERING 
 
Terms of the Offering: 5,000,000 Units are being offered at a price of $0.20 per Unit for aggregate 

gross proceeds of $1,000,000.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
The Company has granted to the Agent an Over-Allotment Option 
exercisable, in whole or in part if the Offering is completed and in the sole 
discretion of the Agent no later than the Closing Date, to cover over-
allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes.  If the Over-
Allotment Option is exercised by the Agent, the Company will issue up to 
an aggregate number of Over-Allotment Units equal to 15% of the number 
of Units sold under the Offering.  The purchase price of each Over-
Allotment Unit under the Over-Allotment Option will be equal to the 
Offering Price.  See “Description of Securities Distributed” and “Plan of 
Distribution”. 
 

Use of Proceeds: The Company will receive gross proceeds from the sale of the Units of 
$1,000,000.  These funds will be combined with the Company’s estimated 
working capital of approximately $130,000 as at December 31, 2014 for a 
total of $1,130,000. The Company intends to use these funds as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8 



 
 

Principal Purpose 

Planned 
Expenditures for 

a period of 12 
months 

Agent’s Commission $80,000 

Estimated remaining costs of the Offering $80,000 

Additional leasing on the Orb Prospect $30,000 

Capital and exploration expenditures on the Orb 
Prospect(1) 

$300,000 

Estimated general and administrative expenses(2) $393,800 

Interest due on convertible debentures $165,930 

Unallocated working capital to fund ongoing operations 
and for reviewing business opportunities 

$80,270 

TOTAL: $1,130,000 
 
Notes: 
(1) Refer to “Use of Proceeds” for a more detailed summary of planned expenditures. 
(2) Refer to “Use of Proceeds - Administrative Costs” for a breakdown of general and 

administrative costs. 
 
The table above excludes any proceeds to the Company from any exercise 
of the Over-Allotment Option. See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this 
Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, where for sound 
business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. 
 

Risk Factors: The Company’s future development and operating results may be very 
different from those expected as at the date of this Prospectus.  Purchasers 
should carefully consider all such risks.  Risk factors include, but are not 
limited to, the Company’s ability to expand business in existing markets, 
adverse or negative publicity regarding the Company, the Company’s 
limited operating history, the Company’s reliance on key personnel, 
government regulations and economic conditions.  
 
An investment in the Company’s securities is highly speculative due to the 
nature of the Company’s involvement in the exploration for, and the 
acquisition, development and production of, oil and natural gas properties. 
The Company is in an early stage of development and has no operating 
history in the oil and natural gas industry in the U.S., and no earnings 
history. In addition, the Company’s business is subject to the risks 
normally encountered in the oil and natural gas industry such as the 
marketability of, and prices for, oil and natural gas, competition with 
companies having greater resources, acquisition, exploration and 
production risks, need for capital, fluctuations in the market price and 
demand for oil and natural gas and the regulation of the oil and natural gas 
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industry by various levels of government.  The success of its exploration or 
development projects cannot be assured. In addition, the Company’s 
operations are primarily outside of Canada and are subject to risks arising 
from foreign exchange and applicable regulatory regimes.  Investors must 
rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good 
faith of the management of the Company. In addition to the other 
information contained in this Prospectus, prospective Purchasers should 
carefully review and consider the risk factors discussed in greater detail in 
“Risk Factors” before a decision is made to invest in the Units.  Such risks 
may not be the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks not 
currently known may also impair the Company’s business operations and 
results of operation. 
 

Eligibility for 
Investment: 

In the opinion of Bull, Housser & Tupper LLP, special tax counsel to the 
Company, provided that the Common Shares (which include, for the 
purposes of the discussion under “Eligibility for Investment”, Warrant 
Shares) are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (which currently 
includes tiers 1 and 2 of the TSX-V) for purposes of the Tax Act, and 
subject to the more detailed discussion under “Eligibility for Investment”, 
the Common Shares and Warrant Shares will be qualified investments 
under the Tax Act for trusts governed by a  registered retirement savings 
plan, registered retirement income funds, registered education savings 
plan, registered disability savings plan, deferred profit sharing plan (other 
than a trust governed by a deferred profit sharing plan in respect of which 
the Company or a corporation with which the Company does not deal at 
arm’s length for the purposes of the Tax Act pays contributions) and tax-
free savings accounts, as defined in the Tax Act. 
 

Currency: Unless otherwise indicated, all currency amounts herein are stated in 
Canadian Dollars. 
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

The following tables summarize selected financial information reported by the Company for the three 
month period ended September 30, 2014, and the period from incorporation to June 30, 2014.  This 
summary should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements, included the notes thereto, 
included elsewhere in this Prospectus.  See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Selected Financial 
Information”. 
 

 As at  
September 30, 2014 

As at  
June 30, 2014  

Details $ $ 
Balance Sheet   

Current assets 1,235,991 637,282 
Total assets 1,997,026 1,255,999 
Current liabilities 164,624 341,895 
Total liabilities 1,052,889 1,176,119 

 
 For the Three Month 

Period Ended 
September 30, 2014 

For the Period 
February 11, 2014 

to June 30, 2014 
 

Details $ $ 
Operations   

Expenses 416,509 164,569 
Net loss for the period (373,770) (147,399) 
Comprehensive loss for the period (352,688) (155,848) 
Loss per share (0.03) (0.06) 
Dividends paid - - 
   

Expenses   
Accretion 35,190 - 
Amortization 2,702 - 
Consulting 141,798 54,268 
Salary and benefits 81,281 5,365 
Legal fees 83,081 59,013 
Professional fees 37,500 25,000 
Office and miscellaneous 17,369 6,029 
Travel 17,588 14,894 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 
Name and Incorporation 
 
The Company was incorporated under the name “San Angelo Oil Limited” pursuant to the BCBCA on 
February 11, 2014.  The Company’s registered office is located at Suite 1200 – 750 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8.  The Company’s U.S. subsidiary’s head office is located in the 
U.S. at 7004 Bee Cave Road, Bldg 3, Suite 318, Austin, Texas 78746. 
 
The Company, through its subsidiary, is engaged in the exploration for, and the acquisition and 
development of oil and natural gas properties in the U.S.  See “Business of the Company”. 
 
Inter-corporate Relationships 
 
The Company has one wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, “San Angelo Operating Corp.”, which was 
incorporated on April 15, 2014, pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas. 
 
The following chart illustrates the Company’s organizational structure: 
 

 

 
            

 

 

  

 
        
 

Orb  
   Prospect(1) 

 
 
Note: 
(1) See “Business of the Corporation - Property of the Company -Orb Prospect, Runnels County” for more information 

regarding the Orb Prospect. 
 

BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION 
 
General Development of the Business 
 
The Company through its subsidiary, SAOC, is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 
of conventional oil and natural gas properties.  The Company is focusing on identification of conventional 
low permeability reservoirs with additional development potential that may be primarily accessed 
utilizing horizontal drilling and completion technology, and has investigated and acquired interests in oil 
and gas leases, through SAOC, all of which are located in the State of Texas, U.S.  The Company’s assets 
consist of a 55% working interest in the Orb Prospect.  See “Business of the Corporation- Property of the 
Company- Orb Prospect, Runnels County” below. 

 
San Angelo Oil Limited 

(British Columbia) 
 

 
San Angelo Operating 

Corp. 
(Texas) 

 
55% 

100% 
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Since incorporation on February 11, 2014, the Company has completed private placement financings and 
a debt offering to raise approximately $2,663,000, established an operational structure, set up an office in 
Austin, Texas, engaged key personnel and acquired its current oil and natural gas assets. 
 
Business Objectives and Strategy 
 
The Company’s immediate objectives are to complete and tie in its initial vertical well drilled in 
December 2014. At that point, the Company will assess production from the well (if any), commodity 
prices and the requirement for additional financing to fund future plans. See “Use of Proceeds – 
Milestones” for more detail. 
 
In the long term, the Company’s goal is to provide growth for shareholders by executing a technically 
disciplined exploration and development program focusing on horizontal development of conventional 
low permeability reserves in the State of Texas. The Company’s business objective is to build a 
diversified oil and natural gas exploration and production company.  To achieve this, the Company’s 
strategy is to develop the Orb Prospect and to pursue further exploration and development opportunities 
in areas with proven hydrocarbon systems.  The Company anticipates evaluating strategic acquisitions 
from time to time where it views further exploration and development opportunities exist.  Pursuing these 
long term goals will be dependent on the Company accessing additional capital through financing or 
alternative funding arrangements. 
 
Financings 
 
Since incorporation, the Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately $2,663,000 through the 
sale of  securities on a private placement basis.   
 
On May 20, 2014, the Company completed a private placement of 8,500,000 Common Shares for gross 
proceeds of $85,000. 
 
On June 30, 2014 and July 22, 2014, the Company issued secured subordinated convertible debentures 
that bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum with expiry dates of June 30, 2019 and July 22, 2019, 
(respectively) for gross proceeds of $1,100,000.  The debentures are secured by a first charge over all the 
assets owned by the Company and SAOC, including (but not limited to) the Orb Prospect.  The 
debentures are convertible into units of the Company at $0.20 per unit.  Each unit is comprised of one 
Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant pursuant to which each whole 
warrant entitles such holder to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per 
Common Share for a period of five years from the closing dates of the debenture offering.  On January 
21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the holder thereof to 
purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common Share. 
 
On August 28, 2014, the Company completed a brokered private placement with the Agent of 7,390,000 
units of the Company at a price of $0.20 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,478,000.  Each unit is 
comprised one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant pursuant to which 
each whole warrant entitles such holder to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of 
$0.50 per Common Share until the earlier of (i) August 28, 2017; and (ii) two years from the date the 
Common Shares are listed on a recognized stock exchange in Canada.  The Company also issued 591,200 
agent’s options to the Agent, each entitling the holder to purchase Common Shares at a price of $0.20 per 
Common Share until the earlier of (i) August 28, 2017; and (ii) two years from the date the Common 
Shares are listed on a recognized stock exchange in Canada.  In addition and in connection with the 
offering, the Company paid a cash commission of $118,240, a corporate finance fee of $36,750 (including 
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GST) and $32,129 for the agent’s expenses which included legal counsel fees and disbursements. On 
January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the holder 
thereof to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common Share. 
 
Property of the Company- Orb Prospect, Runnels County 

 
History of the Property  
 
The Orb Prospect focuses on a sandstone member in the Pennsylvanian age Strawn Group known locally 
as the Gray Sand.  The original Orb Prospect was developed by LoIn and Sojen Petroleum Consulting, of 
Bellville, Texas.  Following a technical evaluation of the Orb Prospect, LoIn and Sojen Petroleum 
Consulting agreed to jointly develop the Orb Prospect and initiated leasing efforts.  The initial Orb 
Prospect area covered approximately 5,361 gross acres.  Following a preliminary evaluation of the land 
and leasehold position over the prospect area, the acreage under the initial Orb Prospect found to be 
available for leasing was  approximately 3,500 gross acres.   
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Leasing efforts over the Orb Prospect were conducted by LoIn utilizing Walker Land and Minerals Inc., a 
LaGrange, Texas based contract land services company.  Leasing efforts began in September 2013 and 
are ongoing. Through the end of May 2014, 2,663 gross acres encompassing 2,348 net mineral acres had 
been leased and farmed out, with the Leases and farmout being taken in the name of LoIn.  The leasing 
process included courthouse review of the target acreage tracts.  In addition, Walker Land and Minerals 
Inc. contacted mineral owners with lease terms and negotiated the Leases on behalf of LoIn.  The Leases 
generally have a three year primary term with the option to extend the Lease for two additional years and 
a 20% royalty to the lessors. 
 
In addition to the Leases, LoIn entered into the Farmout Agreement with 3-D, pursuant to which they 
have the right to earn an assignment of the 3-D Lease by: 
 
(i) commencing drilling on a well on the Farmout Lands before April 8, 2016 to a depth sufficient to 

test the Gray Sands formation underlying the Farmout Lands; and 
 
(ii) completing such well as a well capable of producing in commercial quantities.   
 
Pursuant to the Farmout Agreement, 3-D will deliver an 80% net revenue interest, retaining for itself the 
difference between the lessor royalty and 80% in the 3-D Lease. 
 
The Purchase, Sale and Participation Agreement  
 
On May 29, 2014, SAOC and LoIn entered into the PSPA.  Pursuant to the PSPA, the Company through 
SAOC, acquired a 55% working ownership interest in LoIn’s existing leasehold and farmout position in 
the Orb Prospect, with the remaining 45% working interest held by LoIn and its other partners.  Pursuant 
to the PSPA: 
 
(i) SAOC paid an aggregate purchase price of US$534,322 to LoIn by advancing US$335,971, 

US$100,000 and US$98,351 on May 29, 2014, July 18, 2014 and September 16, 2014, 
respectively.  The total purchase price covered LoIn’s actual leasing costs, legal costs, 
professional services costs, a cash promote, and other out of pocket costs incurred to develop the 
Orb Prospect;  
 

(ii) SAOC is required to participate in an initial vertical commitment well and either: (a) one 
additional horizontal well, or (b) two additional vertical wells.  If SAOC fails to participate and 
tender its share of the costs, then SAOC will forfeit its 55% working interest in the Orb Prospect 
to LoIn and all costs incurred as of that date.  If SAOC completes the initial well but fails to pay 
for its proportionate share in the second commitment, then SAOC will be allowed to reserve and 
retain its wellbore only rights in the initial commitment well; and  

 
(iii) SAOC and LoIn established an area of mutual interest extending for approximately one mile 

from the boundary of the Orb Prospect. 
 
On June 11, 2014, SAOC and LoIn executed an instrument of partial assignment dated effective June 10, 
2014, assigning and transferring an undivided 55% interest in the Leases covering 2,348 net mineral acres 
included in the PSPA from LoIn to SAOC.  On June 18, 2014, this partial assignment was filed on record 
in Runnels County, Texas.  Subsequent to signing of the PSPA, SAOC and LoIn entered into additional 
lease agreements, increasing the area of the Orb Prospect to the current 2,953 net mineral acres.  
Assignments for the Leases entered into subsequent to the signing of the PSPA will be executed and filed 
by SAOC and LoIn in the future.  Upon LoIn earning the interest in the 3-D Lease pursuant to the 
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Farmout Agreement, LoIn will be required to assign a 55% working interest in the 3-D Lease to SAOC 
pursuant to the PSPA.  
 
Pursuant to the PSPA, on September 30, 2014, LoIn resigned as operator of the Orb Prospect and named 
SAOC as the operator effective October 1, 2014.  SAOC and LoIn entered into a joint operating 
agreement based on the American Association of Petroleum Landmen Model Form Operating Agreement 
with respect to the portion of the Orb Prospect consisting of the Farmout Lands. Under the joint operating 
agreement, SAOC and LoIn et al are responsible for their proportionate share of the costs of developing 
and operating the Farmout Lands, and SAOC agreed to commence drilling of an initial well on or before 
January 31, 2015. A joint operating agreement for the remainder of the Orb Prospect Leases will be 
executed as those Leases are developed.  
 
On October 7, 2014, SAOC received a permit to drill the initial well on the Orb Prospect, the Mikeska #7 
well, from the Texas Railroad Commission. SAOC commenced drilling in December 2014, drilling to a 
depth of 5,300 feet into the Gray Sands. The well was spud on December 11, 2014, and reached total 
depth without incident, with the rig released on December 21, 2014. Analysis of petro-physical data 
gathered during drilling of the well yielded results in line with the reserve estimates contained in the 
Reserve Report (see “Statement of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information”). SAOC 
anticipates completing and tying in the well in February 2015.    
 
Employees, Specialized Skill and Knowledge  
 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company and SAOC have 1 full time employee and 1 part time 
employee.  The operations of the Company are managed by its directors and officers.  The Company may 
engage other consultants from time to time as required to assist in the evaluation and conduct of work 
programs.  
 
The Company’s directors and officers have a wide range of professional skills and expertise to assist the 
Company in pursuing and executing its business strategy. In addition, the Company has available to it 
various specialized consultants to assist in areas where full time employees are not required. These 
professional skills include, but are not limited to, geology, geophysics, engineering, financial and 
business skills, which are widely available in the industry.  Drawing on significant experience in the oil 
and natural gas business, the Company believes management and the directors have a demonstrated track 
record of bringing together all of the key components for a successful exploration and production 
company, such as strong technical skills, expertise in planning and financial controls, ability to execute on 
business development opportunities, capital markets expertise, and significant entrepreneurial experience 
which will allow the Company to effectively identify, evaluate and execute on value added initiatives. 
 
Competitive Conditions 
 
The oil and natural gas industry is highly competitive. The Company encounters competition from other 
independent operators and from major oil companies in: acquiring oil and natural gas properties suitable 
for exploration, development and production; contracting for drilling equipment; securing trained 
personnel; obtaining transportation access to storage, refining and production infrastructure; and for 
capital to finance such activities. Many of these competitors have financial resources and personnel 
resources available to them that are substantially larger than that of the Company. See “Risk Factors”. 
 
Foreign Operations 
 
The Properties are located in the U.S.  As such, the Company’s business is exposed to various degrees of 
political, economic and other risks and uncertainties.  See “Risk Factors”. 
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Environmental Protection 
 
The Company is committed to high environmental standards.  The Company carries out its activities and 
operations in compliance with all relevant and applicable environmental regulations and best industry 
practices.  At present, the Company believes it has included appropriate amounts in its capital expenditure 
budget to continue to meet its environmental obligations. See “Risk Factors – Environmental Liability”. 
 
All the surface lands on which the Company will conduct operations are privately owned lands.  Costs of 
environmental regulatory compliance are not expected to be significant relative to the cost of drilling and 
remedial well work operations.  Such costs are typically accounted for in the work ‘Authority For 
Expenditure’ that will be prepared for management approval prior to conducting drilling and well work 
operations.  SAOC has operating general liability insurance in place.  Included in the general liability 
policy is sudden and accidental Pollution coverage for up to $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 
aggregate claims per year.  SAOC will also maintain a $5,000,000 general liability umbrella policy.  In 
addition to general liability insurance, SAOC will maintain control of well insurance in the amount of 
$7,500,000 which will also include sudden and accidental pollution coverage overlapping the general 
liability coverage. 
 

STATEMENT OF RESERVES DATA AND OTHER OIL AND GAS INFORMATION 
 
The Company engaged NSAI to prepare a report evaluating the Company’s interest in reserves in the Orb 
Prospect in the Wingate Field, Runnels County, Texas. NSAI prepared the Reserve Report dated 
September 5, 2014, which evaluates the Company’s reserves effective as at June 30, 2014.  The Reserve 
Report was prepared in accordance with the definitions and guidelines set forth in the COGEH and in 
accordance with NI 51-101.  The Report on Reserves Data by NSAI in Form 51-101F2 and the Report of 
Management and Directors on Reserves Data and Other Information in Form 51-101F3 are attached to 
this Prospectus as Schedule C and Schedule D, respectively.  The information set out below relating to the 
Company’s reserves constitutes forward looking statements which are subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 
 
The following tables are based on information contained in the Reserve Report, which show oil and 
natural gas reserves associated with the Company’s interest in the Orb Prospect as at June 30, 2014 and 
the net present value of estimated future revenue for these reserves using forecast prices and costs as 
indicated.  The Company had an interest in 2,348 net mineral acres of the Orb Prospect at June 30, 2014, 
and the Reserve Report documents reserves attributable to 2,659 net mineral acres of the Orb Prospect, 
being the 2,348 net mineral acres in which the Company had an interest at June 30, 2014, plus the net 
mineral acres of subsequent Leases entered into within a same tract. The area of the Orb Prospect has 
since increased to 2,953 net mineral acres. Gross reserves are the Company’s working interest share 
before the deduction of royalties. Net reserves are the Company’s working interest share after the 
deduction of royalties. Gross revenue shows the Company’s share of the gross revenue from the Orb 
Prospect prior to any deductions. Future net revenue is after deductions for the Company’s share of 
production taxes, ad valorem taxes, capital costs and operating expenses, but before consideration of any 
income taxes. The estimated future net revenue figures contained in the following tables do not 
necessarily represent the fair market value of the Company’s reserves. There is no assurance that the 
forecast price and cost assumptions contained in the Reserve Report will be attained, and variances could 
be material.   
 
The recovery and reserve estimates of the Company’s oil and natural gas reserves included in this 
statement of reserves data are estimates only and there is no guarantee that the estimated reserves will be 
recovered. Reserves are classified according to the degree of certainty associated with the estimates. 
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Proved reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable. 
It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved reserves. 
Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves. 
Possible reserves are those additional reserves which are less certain to be recovered than probable 
reserves. There is a 10% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of 
proved plus probable plus possible reserves. Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of 
market conditions, future operations, changes in regulations or actual reservoir performance. Risks and 
uncertainties that could cause the actual reserves to differ from those anticipated include, but are not 
limited to, the underlying risks of the oil and gas industry (operational risks in development, exploration 
and production; potential delays or changes in plans with respect to work programs or expenditures; 
uncertainty of reserves estimates; uncertainty in production and cost projections; political and 
environmental factors), and commodity price and exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
The term BOE may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. The Company uses a standard measure 
of six Mcf to one bbl when converting natural gas to BOE. This conversion ratio is based on an energy 
equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value 
equivalency at the wellhead. 
 
Definitions of Reserves 
 
The information in this “Definitions of Reserves” section is extracted from section 5.4 of the COGEH.  
 
Reserves Categories 
 
Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and natural gas and related substances anticipated to be 
recoverable from known accumulations, as of a given date, based on: 
 
• analysis of drilling, geological, geophysical, and engineering data; 
• the use of established technology; 
• specified economic conditions, which are generally accepted as being reasonable, and will be 

disclosed. 
 
Reserves are classified according to the degree of certainty associated with the estimates. 
 
Proved Reserves: Proved reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty 
to be recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated 
proved reserves. 
 
Probable Reserves: Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered 
than proved reserves. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or 
less than the sum of the estimated proved plus probable reserves. 
 
Possible Reserves: Possible reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered 
than probable reserves. It is unlikely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the sum of 
the estimated proved plus probable plus possible reserves.  
 
Other criteria that must also be met for the classification of reserves are provided in Section 5.5.4 of the 
COGEH. 
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Development and Production Status 
 
Each of the reserves categories (proved, probable, and possible) may be divided into developed and 
undeveloped categories. 
 
Developed Reserves: Developed reserves are those reserves that are expected to be recovered from 
existing wells and installed facilities or, if facilities have not been installed, that would involve a low 
expenditure (e.g., when compared to the cost of drilling a well) to put the reserves on production. The 
developed category may be subdivided into producing and non-producing. 
 

Developed producing reserves are those reserves that are expected to be recovered from completion 
intervals open at the time of the estimate. These reserves may be currently producing or, if shut in, 
they must have previously been on production, and the date of resumption of production must be 
known with reasonable certainty. 

 
Developed non-producing reserves are those reserves that either have not been on production, or have 
previously been on production but are shut in and the date of resumption of production is unknown. 
 

Undeveloped Reserves: Undeveloped reserves are those reserves expected to be recovered from known 
accumulations where a significant expenditure (e.g., when compared to the cost of drilling a well) is 
required to render them capable of production. They must fully meet the requirements of the reserves 
category (proved, probable, possible) to which they are assigned. 
 
In multi-well pools, it may be appropriate to allocate total pool reserves between the developed and 
undeveloped categories or to subdivide the developed reserves for the pool between developed producing 
and developed non-producing. This allocation should be based on the estimator's assessment as to the 
reserves that will be recovered from specific wells, facilities, and completion intervals in the pool and 
their respective development and production status. 
 
Levels of Certainty for Reported Reserves 
 
The qualitative certainty levels contained in the definitions in Section 5.4.1 of the COGEH are applicable 
to “individual reserves entities”, which refers to the lowest level at which reserves calculations are 
performed, and to “reported reserves,” which refers to the highest level sum of individual entity estimates 
for which reserves estimates represented. Reported reserves should target the following levels of certainty 
under a specific set of economic conditions: 
 
• at least a 90 percent probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 

estimated proved reserves, 
• at least a 50 percent probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum 

of the estimated proved plus probable reserves, 
• at least a 10 percent probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum 

of the estimated proved plus probable plus possible reserves. 
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Disclosure of Reserves Data 
 

Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves  
As at June 30, 2014 

Forecast Prices and Costs 
 

 
Reserves Category 

Light & Medium Oil 
(Mbbl) 

Natural Gas 
(MMcf) 

Barrels Oil 
Equivalent (Mboe) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 
Proved        

Developed Producing - - - - - - 
Developed Non-Producing - - - - - - 
Undeveloped 138.2 110.6 440.2 352.1 211.6 169.3 

Total Proved 138.2 110.6 440.2 352.1 211.6 169.3 
Probable 282.2 225.8 898.9 719.1 432.0 345.7 
Proved + Probable 420.4 336.4 1,339.1 1,071.2 643.6 514.9 
Possible 522.7 418.2 1,664.9 1,331.9 800.2 640.2 
Proved + Probable + Possible 943.1 754.6 3,004.0 2,403.1 1,443.8 1,155.1 

 
 

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue 
Before Tax 

As at June 30, 2014 
Forecast Prices and Costs 

 
 Net Present Value of Future Net Revenues 

Before Tax, Discounted at %/year 

Reserves Category 
0% 

(USM$) 
5% 

(USM$) 
10% 

(USM$) 
15% 

(USM$) 
20% 

(USM$) 

Unit Value 
10% 

(US$/boe) 
Proved        
 Developed Producing - - - - - - 
 Developed Non-Producing - - - - - - 
 Undeveloped 4,091.7 2,512.8 1,518.6 870.2 434.9 8.97 
Total Proved 4,091.7 2,512.8 1,518.6 870.2 434.9 8.97 
Probable 13,161.1 8,887.1 6,216.4 4,462.1 3,263.6 17.98 
Proved + Probable 17,252.8 11,399.9 7,735.0 5,332.3 3,698.5 15.02 
Possible 30,182.5 21,274.2 15,702.3 11,999.5 9,413.3 24.53 
Proved + Probable + Possible 47,435.3 32,674.1 23,437.3 17,331.8 13,111.8 20.29 

 
Note: 
(1) The net present value of future net revenue presented in this table excludes abandonment costs. See “Other Oil and Gas 

Information- Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs” below. 
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Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue 

After Tax 
As at June 30, 2014 

Forecast Prices and Costs 
 

 Net Present Value of Future Net Revenues 
After Tax, Discounted at %/year 

 
Reserves Category 

0% 
(USM$) 

5% 
(USM$) 

10% 
(USM$) 

15% 
(USM$) 

20% 
(USM$) 

Proved       
Developed Producing - - - - - 
Developed Non-Producing - - - - - 
Undeveloped 2,659.6 1,633.3 987.1 565.6 282.7 

Total Proved 2,659.6 1,633.3 987.1 565.6 282.7 
Probable 8,554.7 5,776.6 4,040.7 2,900.4 2,121.3 
Proved + Probable 11,214.3 7,409.9 5,027.8 3,466.0 2,404.0 
Possible 19,618.6 13,828.2 10,206.5 7,799.7 6,118.6 
Proved + Probable + Possible 30,832.9 21,238.1 15,234.3 11,265.7 8,522.6 

 
Note: 
(1) The net present value of future net revenue presented in this table excludes abandonment costs. See “Other Oil and Gas 

Information- Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs” below. 
 
 

Total Future Net Revenue 
Undiscounted 

As at June 30, 2014 
Forecast Prices and Costs 

 

Reserves 
Category 

Revenue 
(USM$) 

Royalties, 
Burden, 
and NPI 
(USM$) 

Property 
and 

Mineral 
Taxes 

(USM$) 

Operating 
Costs 

(USM$) 

Development 
Costs 

(USM$) 

Abandonment 
and 

Reclamation 
Costs 

(USM$) 

Future 
Net 

Revenue 
Before 

Tax 
(USM$) 

Income 
Tax 

(USM$) 

Future 
Net 

Revenue 
After 
Tax 

(USM$) 
Total 
Proved 16,362.5 3,272.4 991.4 2,687.9 5,319.1 - 4,091.7 1,432.1 2,659.6 

Proved + 
Probable 50,115.1 10,022.9 3,036.9 6,726.9 13,075.6 - 17,252.8 6,038.5 11,214.3 

Proved + 
Probable 
+ Possible 

112,699.1 22,540.6 6,827.8 12,629.0 23,266.4 - 47,435.3 16,602.4  30,832.9 
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Future Net Revenue by Production Group 
Before Tax, Discounted at 10%/year 

As at June 30, 2014 
Forecast Prices and Costs 

 

Reserves Category Production Group 
Future Net Revenue 

(USM$) 
Unit Value 
 (US$/boe) 

Total Proved Light and Medium Crude Oil 1,167.0 10.56 
 Natural Gas 351.6 5.99 
 Total BOE 1,518.6 8.97 
Proved + Probable Light and Medium Crude Oil  6,040.4 17.96 
 Natural Gas  1,694.6 9.49 
 Total BOE  7,735.0 15.02 

 
Note: 
(1) The future net revenue presented in this table excludes abandonment costs. See “Other Oil and Gas Information- 

Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs” below. 
 
Pricing Assumptions 
 
Forecast oil and gas prices used by NSAI in the Reserve Report are summarized below.  
   

Summary of Pricing and Inflation Rate Assumptions 
As at June 30, 2014 

Forecast Prices and Costs 
 

Year  

Light and 
Medium Oil 

(US$/bbl)(1) 
Natural Gas 
(US$/Mcf)(2) 

Inflation Rate 
%/year 

2014 (6 mos) 96.94 6.389 2 
2015 93.48 6.347 2 
2016 92.10 6.473 2 
2017 93.74 6.933 2 
2018 95.08 7.254 2 
2019 96.23 7.589 2 
2020 97.79 7.812 2 
2021 99.64 8.049 2 
2022 101.50 8.272 2 
2023 103.42 8.496 2 
2024 104.92 8.830 2 

Notes: 
(1) Based on the average of four March 31, 2014 forecasts of NYMEX West Texas Intermediate near-month prices prepared 

by Canadian independent consultants and are adjusted for quality, transportation fees and a regional price differential. 
(2) Based on the average of four March 31, 2014 forecasts of NYMEX Henry Hub near-month prices prepared by Canadian 

independent consultants and are adjusted for energy content, transportation fees and a regional price differential. 
 
After 2024, forecast prices are escalated 2% on January 1 of each year. 
 
Reconciliation of Changes in Reserves 
 
The Company became involved in oil and gas activities in its first financial year, which ended on June 30, 
2014.  As a result, there is no evaluation report in respect of reserves for a preceding financial year, and 
no reconciliation required. 
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Additional Information Relating to Reserves Data 
 
Undeveloped Reserves 
 
The following table sets out the proved and probable undeveloped reserves attributed in the financial year 
ended June 30, 2014, being the first financial year of the Company. 
 

Proved and Probable Undeveloped Reserves 
As at June 30, 2014 

Forecast Prices and Costs 
 

Reserves Category Light and Medium Oil 
(Mbbl) 

Natural Gas  
(MMcf) 

Gross Net Gross Net 
Proved Undeveloped  138.2 110.6 440.2 352.1 
Probable Undeveloped  282.2 225.8 898.9 719.1 

 
Proved and probable undeveloped reserves are generally those reserves where no wells have been drilled 
or where a significant expenditure is required to render reserves capable of production.  All reserves 
attributable to the Orb Prospect were undeveloped at June 30, 2014, and while the Company drilled its 
first well in December 2014, the reserves remain undeveloped as there is still a significant expenditure 
required to complete the well and render it capable of production.  See “Use of Proceeds – Milestones” 
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Outlook” for the Company’s plans and timing for 
developing the Orb Prospect.  
 
Factors or Uncertainties Affecting Reserves Data 
 
Since June 30, 2014, the price of oil and natural gas has decreased substantially, which affects current 
forecasts for oil and gas prices, and causes them to differ substantially from those used in the Reserve 
Report.  As a result, the future net revenue estimates set out under “Disclosure of Reserves Data” would 
be lower if calculated using current forecast prices and costs. Additionally, actual commodity pricing may 
affect the pace of anticipated development and therefore actual annual production may be lower than the 
estimates noted under “Production Estimates” below. See also “Risk Factors”.    
 
The Company does not anticipate any unusually high development costs or operating costs related to the 
development of the reserves, or contractual obligations to produce and sell a significant portion of 
production at prices substantially below those which could be realized but for those contractual 
obligations.  
 
Future Development Costs 
 
The following table sets out the development costs that are deducted in the estimation of future net 
revenue attributable to each of the reserve categories noted in the table. 
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Estimated Future Development Costs 
As at June 30, 2014 

Forecast Prices and Costs 
 

Year ended 
June 30 

Proved Reserves 
(USM$) 

Proved plus Probable Reserves 
(USM$) 

2014 (6 mos) 440.0 440.0 
2015 392.7 2,671.8 
2016 2,260.3 5,604.8 
2017 1,809.4 2,626.6 
2018 416.7 1,732.4 
2019 - - 
Total 5,319.1 13,075.6 

 
The Company expects to fund the above development costs from a combination of existing working 
capital and the funds raised pursuant to this Prospectus, as well as future financing, which may include 
debt or equity issues, farm-ins, corporate transactions or reserve based lending (if available on favourable 
terms). The costs of funding the estimated future development costs is not expected to have an effect on 
disclosed reserves or future net revenue, or to make the development of the Orb Prospect uneconomic for 
the Company. As at the date of this Prospectus, not all of the 2014 development costs have been expended 
but are expected to be incurred by the end of February, 2015. 
 
Other Oil and Gas Information  
 
Oil and Gas Properties and Wells 
 
The Orb Prospect is currently the Company’s only prospect, and is located onshore in Runnels County, 
Texas, in the U.S.  The Company and LoIn have drilled and logged one well on the Orb Prospect, which 
is targeted for completion and tie-in in February, 2015.  
 
The majority of the Leases making up the Orb Prospect have a primary term of three years, with one 
Lease having a two year term.  Pursuant to the Leases, the Company will relinquish its rights to such 
Leases at the end of the primary term if SAOC has not developed the Lease or does not exercise the 
option to extend the Lease for two additional years, at the same lease bonus and provisions as currently 
existing under the Lease agreements. 
 
Properties With No Attributed Reserves 
 
SAOC has entered into several Leases which extend the Orb Prospect to the south and which do not have 
reserves attributed to them, as the leases are in different tracts within the same prospect. These Leases 
cover a total of 293.5 gross and net mineral acres, with the Company’s 55% interest being 161.4 net acres. 
These Leases do not have specific work commitments, but are subject to the same relinquishment terms 
as noted above. Each of the Leases has a two or three year term, which terms do not expire within one 
year of the date of this Prospectus.    
 
Forward Contracts 
 
The Company is not bound by an agreement directly or through an aggregator, under which it may be 
precluded from fully realizing, or may be protected from the full effect of, future market prices for oil and 
gas. 
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Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs 
 
Management of the Company estimates abandonment and reclamation costs for surface leases and wells 
based on past experience and estimates of local plugging and abandonment costs. The Company expects 
to incur abandonment and reclamation costs on a total of 10.1 net wells. The total amount of such costs, 
net of estimated salvage value, expected to be incurred is US$344,600 (US$48,300 using a discount rate 
of 10%). This amount was not deducted as abandonment and reclamation costs in estimating the future 
net revenue in “Disclosure of Reserves Data” above. The expected 19 year life span of the wells means 
the present value of the abandonment and reclamation costs, discounted over the full life of the well, are 
not major costs relative to other costs, and as such, they were not deducted in estimating future net 
revenue.    
 
The Company does not expect to pay any portion of the abandonment and reclamation costs in the next 
three financial years.  
 
Tax Horizon 
 
The Company was not required to pay income taxes for its most recently completed financial year, but 
expects that income taxes may become payable in the next two to five years.  
 
Costs Incurred 
 
The following table summarizes the estimated costs incurred for each of the following categories in the 
most recently completed financial year: 
 

Expenditure 

Period ended  
June 30, 2014 

($) 
Property acquisition costs (proved properties) 582,625 
Property acquisition costs (unproved properties) - 
Exploration costs 8,693 
Development costs - 
Translation adjustment (12,701) 
Total 578,617 

 
Exploration and Development Activities 
 
The Company did not complete any wells in the financial year ended June 30, 2014. The Company 
commenced drilling of the Mikeska #7 well on the Orb Prospect in December 2014, drilling to a depth of 
5,300 feet into the Gray Sands. The well was spud on December 11, 2014, and reached total depth 
without incident, with the rig released on December 21, 2014. Analysis of petro-physical data gathered 
during drilling of the well yielded results in line with the reserve estimates contained in the Reserve 
Report.  The Company anticipates completing and tying in the well in February, 2015. 
 
Additional detail regarding the Company’s current exploration and development plans for the Orb 
Prospect are set out under “Use of Proceeds- Milestones”.  
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Production Estimates 
 
The following table sets out the volumes of production estimated for the year ending June 30, 2015 from 
the Orb Prospect, which is reflected in the estimates of gross proved reserves and gross probable reserves 
under “Disclosure of Reserves Data” above. 
 
Category Light and Medium Oil 

Production 
(bbls) 

Natural Gas  
Production 

(Mcf) 

Barrels of Oil Equivalent 
(BOE) 

Gross proved reserves 5,730.5 20,111.5 9,088.5 
Gross probable reserves 16,936.0 59,312.5 26,827.5 
 
The Company will review commodity pricing and adjust the pace of development to reflect what it 
believes to be prudent development. As such, based on commodity pricing and the pace of development, 
the above estimates of produced volumes may be lower. See “Factors or Uncertainties Affecting Reserves 
Data”. 
  
Production History 
 
To date, the Company has not produced any oil or gas from the Orb Prospect. 
 

USE OF PROCEEDS  
 
Upon completion of the Offering, the Company will receive gross proceeds of $1,000,000. The estimated 
net proceeds of the Offering, after deducting the Agent’s Commission and payment of the costs of the 
Offering, are $840,000.  Estimated expenses of the Offering are set out in the table below.   
 
The proceeds of Offering will be combined with the Company’s working capital of approximately 
$130,000 as at December 31, 2014.  Based upon management’s current intentions, the estimated 
expenditures for which the total available funds will be used in the 12 months after closing of the Offering 
are as follows: 
 

Sources(1)  

Working capital as of December 31, 2014 $130,000 
Contemplated capital raised from the Offering  $1,000,000 

TOTAL AVAILABLE FUNDS 
 

$1,130,000 

Principal Uses  

Agent’s Commission(2)     $80,000 
Remaining costs of the Offering(3) $80,000 
Additional leasing on the Orb Prospect $30,000 
Capital and exploration expenditures on the Orb Prospect(4) $300,000 
General and administrative expenses(5) $393,800 
Interest due on convertible debentures $165,930 
Unallocated working capital to fund ongoing operations and 
for reviewing business opportunities 

$80,270 

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS 
 

$1,130,000 
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Notes: 
(1) The table above excludes any proceeds to the Company from any exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.  See “Plan of 

Distribution”.  Any proceeds from the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option will be added to working capital. 
(2) Agent’s Commission payable assuming there are no President’s List Purchasers.  Excludes the Agent’s commission in 

connection with the Over-Allotment Option, if applicable. 
(3) Comprised of the remainder of the Agent’s estimated expenses (including legal), the Company’s estimated legal, 

accounting and audit fees, and the estimated printing and filing fees. 
(4) The Company intends to use the proceeds from Offering on exploration and drilling within the Orb Prospect.  Specific 

decisions regarding ongoing use of the proceeds will be dependent on ongoing analysis of the success of exploration 
and drilling. See “Use of Proceeds- Milestones” in this section. 

(5) See “Use of Proceeds - Administrative Costs”. 
 

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it following the Offering as described under “Use of 
Proceeds - Milestones”.  For the periods ended June 30, 2014 and September 30, 2014, the Company 
had negative operating cash flow.  To the extent required, the net proceeds of the Offering will be used 
to fund negative operating cash flow in future periods.  
 
The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus.  There may be 
circumstances however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary.  
Due to the nature of the oil and gas industry, budgets are regularly reviewed with respect to the success of 
the expenditures and other opportunities which may become available to the Company.  The amounts and 
timing of the expenditures will vary depending upon a number of factors, including drilling success, 
availability of drilling equipment, assessment of newly acquired seismic data over the Orb Prospect and 
any future properties acquired, unexpected expenses, fluctuations in commodity prices and other factors 
referred to under “Risk Factors”.  Accordingly, while it is currently intended by management that the net 
proceeds of the Offering will be expended as set forth above, actual expenditures may in fact differ from 
these amounts and allocations. 
 
Milestones 
 
The Company reduced the size of the Offering in light of the recent decrease in commodity prices. In 
conjunction with this reduction, the Company has significantly reduced its overhead, as well as re-
assessed its near term goals, to reflect current market conditions. Milestones for the 12 months following 
completion of the Offering include closing on several leases to acquire additional acreage to expand the 
area of the Orb Prospect, and completing and tying in the Mikeska #7 well in preparation for sales of oil 
and natural gas. 
 
Since the execution of the PSPA, the Company and its partners (which includes LoIn) have continued to 
expand the Orb Prospect, increasing it by 605 net mineral acres to the current 2953 net mineral acres. The 
Company anticipates closing on lease agreements to acquire additional net acreage in 2015, with an 
estimated leasing cost of approximately $30,000 to the Company to acquire the target acreage.  
 
The Company drilled the Mikeska #7 well in December 2014. Pursuant to the PSPA, in order to maintain 
its 55% interest in the Orb Prospect, the Company plans to complete and tie-in the well in February 2015.  
The Company’s share of the costs to complete the well is expected to be approximately $246,000.  After 
completion, the Company expects to test the well for several months, and to consider further completing 
the well into the Gardner Sands. The Company’s share of the cost for further completing the well into the 
Gardner Sands is expected to be approximately $54,000. 
 
The Company and its partners have identified an additional 2,200 gross acres for leasing, however after 
completion of the Mikeska #7 well, the Company will assess production from the well (if any), 
commodity prices and the requirement for additional financing to carry out its business plan and maintain 
its interest in the Orb Prospect pursuant to the PSPA. Under the PSPA, SAOC is required to participate in 
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one horizontal well or two vertical wells (in addition to the Mikeska #7 well), however there is no 
definitive timeline for this obligation.  If additional financing is required, the Company will consider any 
or all of the following alternatives: debt or equity financings; farm-ins; sale of assets; and business 
combinations with strategic partners.  
 
Administrative Costs 
 
Upon completion of the Offering, the Company’s working capital available to fund ongoing operations 
will be sufficient to meet its administrative costs for the following 12 months.  An estimate of the general 
and administrative expenses of the Company for the 12 months following completion of the Offering is as 
follows: 
 

Items Yearly Cost 

Salaries, benefits and consulting fees $198,500 
Legal and accounting fees $40,000 
Technical studies $10,000 
Travel, marketing, overhead contingency $7,000 
Office and software expenses $70,500 
Rent and overhead $14,600 
Insurance  $29,200 
Regulatory filing fees and transfer agent fees $24,000 

TOTAL $393,800 

 
DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

 
The Company has not declared or paid any dividends on the Common Shares since its incorporation.  
Any decision to pay dividends on the Common Shares will be made by the Board of Directors on the 
basis of earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such future time. 
 
The Company currently intends to retain its future earnings, if any, to finance further business expansion. 
As a result, the return on an investment on the Common Shares will depend on any future appreciation in 
value of the Common Shares.  There can be no assurance that the Common Shares will appreciate or even 
maintain the price at which shareholders purchased their Common Shares. 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The Company is a junior resource exploration company focused on acquiring a portfolio of producing oil 
and gas assets in the U.S. with significant low cost proven undeveloped reserves.  This MD&A provides 
an analysis of the Company’s operations and financial results for the three month period ended September 
30, 2014 and the period from February 11, 2014 (date of incorporation) to June 30, 2014, and should be 
read in conjunction with the Company’s Financial Statements. 
 
The Company reports its financial information in Canadian dollars and all dollar amounts are stated in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. The financial information presented in this MD&A was 
prepared effective as of the date of this Prospectus using accounting policies in compliance with IFRS as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and effective on that date.  
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Forward-Looking Statements 
 
Information and statements contained in this MD&A that are not historical facts are forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of Canadian securities legislation and involve risk and uncertainty. 
Forward-looking statements contain known and unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause actual 
performance to be materially different from any future results.  See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward 
Looking Statements”. 
 
Overview of Significant Events  
 
Corporate Matters 
 
The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, SAOC, entered into the PSPA, pursuant to which SAOC 
acquired a 55% working ownership interest in LoIn’s existing leasehold and farmout position in the Orb 
Prospect.  The Orb Prospect currently consists of approximately 2,953 leased net mineral acres located in 
Runnels County, State of Texas, U.S. A portion of the currently held position (258.3 acres) falls under the 
Farmout Agreement whereby LoIn has procured the rights to drill a vertical well into the target Gray 
Sand. As is customary in farm-out agreements, after drilling and completing the vertical well so that it is 
capable of producing in commercial quantities, LoIn will have earned an assignment from 3-D for the 
entire 258.3 acre tract, 55% of which will be assigned to SAOC pursuant to the PSPA.  On September 30, 
2014, LoIn resigned as operator of the Orb Prospect and named SAOC as the operator effective October 
1, 2014.  Pursuant to a joint operating agreement, SAOC and LoIn et al are responsible for their 
proportionate share of the costs of developing and operating the Farmout Lands.  
 
On October 7, 2014, SAOC received a permit to drill the initial well on the Orb Prospect, the Mikeska #7 
well, from the Texas Railroad Commission. SAOC commenced drilling of the vertical well in December 
2014, drilling to a depth of 5,300 feet into the Gray Sands. The well was spud on December 11, 2014, and 
reached total depth without incident, with the rig released on December 21, 2014. Analysis of petro-
physical data gathered during drilling of the well yielded results in line with the reserve estimates 
contained in the Reserve Report (see “Statement of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information”). 
SAOC anticipates completing and tying in the well in February, 2015.    
 
Financing Matters 
 
On May 20, 2014, the Company completed its initial seed financing, issuing 8,500,000 Common Shares 
at a price of $0.01 per Common Share. This was followed up with the issuance of 10% secured 
subordinated convertible debentures for gross proceeds of $1,100,000, with the first tranche in the amount 
of  $1,030,250 closing on June 30, 2014. The second tranche, in the amount of $69,750, closed on July 
22, 2014. 
 
On August 28, 2014, the Company completed a brokered private placement with the Agent resulting in 
the issuance of 7,390,000 units at a price of $0.20 per unit. Each unit was comprised of one Common 
Share and one-half of a share purchase warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional Common 
Share for each whole share purchase warrant held plus cash consideration of $0.50. The Company also 
issued 591,200 agent’s options to the Agent, each entitling the holder to subscribe for and purchase 
Common Shares at a price of $0.20 per Common Share. On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the 
warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase an additional Common 
Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common Share. 
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Outlook 
 
SAOC commenced field operations beginning in the fourth quarter of 2014, which included preparations 
for, and drilling of, the vertical well to test the Gray Sand. SAOC anticipates completing and tying in the 
well in February 2015.  The Company also anticipates closing on several more leases to expand the Orb 
Prospect in early 2015.  The Company and its partners have identified an additional 2,200 gross acres for 
leasing, however additional leasing, and drilling of additional wells, will be dependent on market 
conditions, commodity prices and the Company’s ability to raise additional capital.  
 
The Company expects to continue its search for viable opportunities in 2015, and to manage its cash 
balances as circumstances dictate to remain in a financially flexible position. The Company continues to 
examine and refine its business model improving the protocols which are followed during the evaluation 
of any potential investment opportunity. 
 
The Company is focused on managing administrative and operational costs, consistent with the plan to 
conserve cash reserves and to employ funds only when there is a significant level of certainty that their 
use will be of benefit to the Company and stakeholders. 
 
The Company anticipates completing the Offering in the first half of 2015. See “Use of Proceeds” for 
details on how the Company anticipates using the proceeds raised pursuant to the Offering. 
 
Selected Financial Information 
 
The following table summarizes selected financial information reported by the Company for the three month 
period ended September 30, 2014 and the period the period from February 11, 2014 (date of 
incorporation) to June 30, 2014. This financial information should be read in conjunction with the Financial 
Statements. 
 

 As at  
September 30, 2014 

 

As at  
June 30, 2014 

 

Details $ $ 
Balance Sheet   

Current assets 1,235,991 637,282 
Total assets 1,997,026 1,255,999 
Current liabilities 164,624 341,895 
Total liabilities 1,052,889 1,176,119 

 
The following table sets forth selected items for the Company for the three month period ended 
September 30, 2014 and the period from February 11, 2014 (date of incorporation) to June 30, 2014. The 
information has been summarized from the Financial Statements. 
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 For the Three 
Months Ended  

September 30, 2014 

For the Period 
February 11, 2014 

to June 30, 2014 
  

Account Details $ $ 
Operations   

Expenses 416,509 164,569 
Net loss for the period (373,770) (147,399) 
Comprehensive loss for the period (352,688) (155,848) 
Loss per share (0.03) (0.06) 
Dividends paid - - 
   

Expenses   
Accretion 35,190 - 
Amortization 2,702 - 
Consulting 141,798 54,268 
Salary and benefits 81,281 5,365 
Legal fees 83,081 59,013 
Professional fees 37,500 25,000 
Office and miscellaneous 17,369 6,029 
Travel 17,588 14,894 

 
Results of Operations: February 11, 2014 (Date of Incorporation) to June 30, 2014 
 
The Company had a net loss of $147,399 for the period ended June 30, 2014.  
 
Significant costs were incurred in the following categories:  
 
• Salary and benefits of $5,365 reflect the cost of a part-time Chief Financial Officer; 
• Legal fees of $59,013 were reflective of an increase in general corporate activities; 
• Office and miscellaneous expenses of $6,029 are representative of the office and administrative 

costs incurred; 
• Consulting fees of $54,268 were incurred during the period, as a result of the Company focusing 

their activities on the evaluation of potential oil and  gas assets; 
• Travel expenses of $14,894 were incurred due to corporate activities. Management was active in 

the fund raising process with trips to Calgary, Denver and Toronto to meet potential investor 
groups. 

 
The Company had no revenue and  paid no dividends during the period. 
 
Total Assets 
 
The Company’s liquid assets are a result of the financing activities to date. The Company’s long term 
assets represent a 55% undivided interest in the Leases and the Farmout Agreement, which as at June 30, 
2014 covered net mineral acreage of 2,563 acres located in Runnels County, State of Texas, U.S.  
 
Working Capital 
 
The Company’s working capital of $295,387 as at June 30, 2014 was funded from proceeds received from 
private placements and the issuance of convertible debentures completed in 2014.  
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Expenses 
 
Operating expenses are discussed above and are representative of the Company’s start-up activities.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
The Company is an exploration stage enterprise.  It does not earn any operating revenues and relies on its 
working capital to fund its exploration activities and its administrative costs. The Company’s cash 
position on June 30, 2014, was $60,246. The Company also had $570,250 held in trust by the Company’s 
legal counsel which was transferred to the Company on July 7, 2014.  
 
Capital Management 
 
The Company manages its convertible debentures and share capital as capital. It is management’s 
objective to safeguard its capital in order that it will be able to continue as a going concern in the best 
interests of all stakeholders. 
 
The Company currently has no sources of revenues.  As such, the Company is dependent upon external 
financings to fund activities.  In order to finance future projects and to pay for administrative activities, 
the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds as needed.  Management 
reviews its capital management practices on an ongoing basis and believes that their approach, given the 
relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  
 
Other than disclosed in this Prospectus, the Company does not know of any trends, demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in, or that are reasonably likely to result in, its capital 
either materially increasing or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future. 
 
Operating Activities 
 
Cash used in operating activities during the period ended June 30, 2014 was $49,721.  The use of these 
funds was reflective of the corporate activity as discussed previously.  
 
Financing Activities 
 
The Company had two sources of financing during the period ended June 30, 2014. The Company 
completed its initial financing on May 27, 2014, issuing 8,500,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.01 
per Common Share, resulting in gross proceeds of $85,000. In addition, the Company closed the first 
tranche of its convertible debenture financing, issuing $1,030,250 of the notes on June 30, 2014.  
 
Investing Activities 
 
During the period ended June 30, 2014, the Company purchased computer and office equipment at a cost 
of $13,434. The Company also completed the acquisition of the Orb Prospect at a cost of $582,625. At 
June 30, 2014, there remained a balance due of US$198,351 required to complete the acquisition. 
 
Commitments 
 
The Company had the following commitments at June 30, 2014: 
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 Payments Due By Period 
 Total Less than 

1 year 
1 – 3  
years 

3 – 5  
years 

After 5  
years 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 341,895 341,895 - - - 
Convertible debentures 1,030,250 - - 1,030,250 - 
Operating leases 47,256 23,628 23,628 - - 
Convertible debenture interest 515,125 103,025 206,050 206,050 - 

 
The Company has entered into an agreement to obtain office rental space at a cost of approximately 
US$22,152 per annum.  The agreement remains in effect through to June 1, 2016 and is terminable on 
three months’ notice. 
  
The Company is required to pay interest on the outstanding balance of the convertible debenture at the 
rate of 10% per annum, calculated at the end of each quarter. The Company has estimated that the 
quarterly accrual will be approximately $27,500 until the notes are repaid in whole or in part. The first 
payment date is the one year anniversary of the closing of the first tranche, or on an earlier date as agreed 
to by management. 
 
The Company has agreed to bear its proportionate share of well costs for the drilling and completion of 
the initial vertical well on the Orb Prospect and either (a) one horizontal well or (b) two additional vertical 
wells. Should the Company fail to pay its proportionate share of well costs, the Company will be 
obligated to reassign its interests to LoIn, free of charge and without refund of the purchase price. 
 
Results of Operations For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 
 
The Company had a net loss of $373,770 for the three month period ended September 30, 2014.  
 
Significant costs were incurred in the following categories:  
 
• Accretion of $35,190 reflects costs associated with the convertible debentures; 
• Salary and benefits of $81,281 reflect the transition from consultants to employees for key 

personnel; 
• Legal fees of $83,081 were reflective of an increase in general corporate activities; 
• Office and miscellaneous expenses of $17,369 are representative of the office and administrative 

costs incurred; 
• Consulting fees of $141,798 were incurred during the period, as a result of the Company focusing 

their activities on the evaluation of potential oil and gas assets; 
• Travel expenses of $17,588 were incurred due to corporate activities. Management was active in 

the fund raising process with trips to Austin, New Orleans, Denver and Vancouver to meet 
potential investor groups. 

 
The Company had no revenue and  paid no dividends during the period. 
 
Total Assets 
 
The Company’s liquid assets are a result of the financing activities to date. The Company’s long term 
assets represent a 55% undivided interest in the Leases and the Farmout Agreement, which as at 
September 30, 2014 covered net mineral acreage of 2,659 acres located in Runnels County, State of 
Texas, U.S.A.  
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Working Capital 
 
The Company’s working capital of $1,071,367 as at September 30, 2014, was funded from proceeds 
received from private placements and the issuance of convertible debentures completed in 2014.  
 
Expenses 
 
Operating expenses are discussed above and are representative of the Company’s ongoing activities.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company is an exploration stage enterprise. It does not earn any operating revenues and relies on its 
working capital to fund its exploration activities and its administrative costs. The Company’s cash 
position on September 30, 2014, was $1,200,704. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s working capital was approximately $130,000. 
 
Capital Management 
 
The Company manages its convertible debentures and share capital as capital. It is management’s 
objective to safeguard its capital in order that it will be able to continue as a going concern in the best 
interests of all stakeholders. 
 
The Company currently has no sources of revenues. As such, the Company is dependent upon external 
financings to fund activities. In order to finance future projects and to pay for administrative activities, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds as needed. Management 
reviews its capital management practices on an ongoing basis and believes that their approach, given the 
relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
 
Other than disclosed in this Prospectus, the Company does not know of any trends, demand, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in, or that are reasonably likely to result in, its capital 
either materially increasing or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future. 
 
Operating Activities 
 
Cash used in operating activities during the period ended September 30, 2014, was $467,744. The use of 
these funds was reflective of the corporate activity as discussed previously. 
 
Financing Activities 
 
The Company had two sources of financing completed during the period ended September 30, 2014. The 
Company completed a brokered private placement on August 28, 2014, issuing 7,390,000 units at a price 
of $0.20 per unit resulting in gross proceeds of $1,478,000. Also the Company closed Tranche #2 of its 
convertible debenture financing issuing $69,750 of the notes on July 22, 2014. 
 
Investing Activities 
 
During the period ended September 30, 2014, the Company purchased computer and office equipment at 
a cost of $19,364. The Company also incurred exploration and evaluation costs on the Orb Project, 
located in Runnels County, at a cost of $266,340. 
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Commitments 
 
The Company had the following commitments at September 30, 2014: 
 

 Payments Due By Period 
 Total Less than 

1 year 
1 – 3  
years 

3 – 5  
years 

After 5  
years 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 164,624 164,624 - - - 
Convertible debentures 1,100,000 - - 1,100,000 - 
Operating leases 49,680 24,840 24,840 - - 
Convertible debenture interest 550,000 135,756 220,000 194,244 - 

 
The Company has entered into an agreement to obtain office rental space at a cost of approximately 
US$22,152 per annum.  The agreement remains in effect through to June 1, 2016, and is terminable on 
three months’ notice.  
  
The Company is required to pay interest on the outstanding balance of the convertible debenture at the 
rate of 10% per annum, calculated at the end of each quarter. The Company has estimated that the 
quarterly accrual will be approximately $27,500 until the notes are repaid in whole or in part. The first 
payment date is the one year anniversary of the closing of the first tranche, or on an earlier date as agreed 
to by management. 
 
The Company has agreed to bear its proportionate share of well costs for the drilling and completion of 
the initial vertical well on the Orb Prospect and either (a) one horizontal well or (b) two additional vertical 
wells. Should the Company fail to pay its proportionate share of well costs, the Company will be 
obligated to reassign its interests to LoIn, free of charge and without refund of the purchase price. 
 
Effective October 1, 2014, the Company was appointed as operator for the thirty-two claims in which it 
has a 55% working interest in Runnels County, State of Texas. 
 
Share Capital 
 
As of the date of this Prospectus: 
 
(i) Authorized share capital: The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common 

Shares without par value. 
 

(ii) Convertible Debentures:  The Company had $1,100,000 worth of secured subordinated 
convertible debentures issued and outstanding.  The debentures bear interest at a rate of 10% per 
annum, and expire five (5) years from the date of issuance.  The debentures are convertible into 
units of the Company at $0.20 per unit for a period of five years from the closing dates of the 
debenture offering. Each unit is comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one non-
transferable Common Share purchase warrant pursuant to which each whole warrant entitles 
such holder to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per Common 
Share for a period of five years from the closing dates of the debenture offering. On January 21, 
2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the holder 
thereof to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common 
Share. 
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(iii) Common Shares: The Company had 15,890,000 Common Shares issued, outstanding and fully 
paid. 

 
(iv) Common Share purchase warrants: The Company had 3,695,000 Common Share purchase 

warrants issued and outstanding. The warrants have an exercise price of $0.50, with an expiry 
date of the earlier of August 28, 2017 and the date that is 24 months from the date that the 
Common Shares are listed for trading on a recognized public exchange or quotation system. On 
January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the 
holder thereof to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per 
Common Share. 

 
(v) Agent’s Options:  The Company had 591,200 agent’s options issued to the Agent and 

outstanding, each entitling the holder to subscribe for and purchase Common Shares at a price of 
$0.20 per Common Share, with an expiry date of the earlier of August 28, 2017 and the date that 
is 24 months from the date that the Common Shares are listed for trading on a recognized public 
exchange or quotation system. 

 
(vi) Stock options: On October 8, 2014 and November 14, 2014, the Company granted 2,050,000 

options to directors, employees and consultants. On January 21, 2015 the number of options was 
reduced to 1,253,600, with the exercise price decreased to $0.20. 1,125,000 of these options will 
vest over a three year period, with one third of the options vesting every 12 months after the 
Listing Date. 128,600 of these options held by a consultant to SAOC will vest over an 18 month 
period, with 10% of the options vesting on January 27, 2015 and a further 15% vesting every 
three months following that date. 

 
(vii) Stock option plan: The Company has implemented the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides, 

subject to the requirements of the TSX-V, for the aggregate number of securities reserved for 
issuance under the stock option plan not to exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares of the Company at the time of granting such stock options (including all stock options 
granted by the Company as at that date). The exercise price of each stock option will be based on 
the market price of the Common Shares at the date of the grant, subject to the terms of the 2014 
Plan.  

 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Transactions with related parties were in the normal course of operations and are measured at an 
exchange amount established and agreed to by the related parties. 
 
In addition to the related party transactions noted below, the Company reimbursed all key management 
personnel for out-of-pocket direct costs incurred on behalf of the Company. Such costs include travel, 
postage, courier, printing and telephone charges. 
 

 For the Three 
Months Ended 

September 30, 2014 

For the Period 
February 11, 2014 

to June 30, 2014 

 $ $ 
Transactions with Key Management Personnel   

Salaries paid to key management included in salary and benefits 40,993       5,365 
Consulting fees paid to a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer(1) 48,999 30,166 
Convertible debentures held by key management personnel(2) 362,500 362,500 
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Notes: 
(1) Paid as consulting fees prior to permanent payroll status. 
(2) Convertible debentures were purchased by Donald Sharpe ($200,000), Michael Black ($37,500), Richard Schroeder 

($25,000), Barry Loughlin ($25,000), Michael Arguijo ($70,000) and John Turner ($5,000).  
 
Financial Instruments and Risk Management 
 
At June 30, 2014 and as at September 30, 2014, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and 
cash equivalents, funds held in trust, other receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
convertible debentures. Fair value estimates are made at the reporting date based on relevant market 
information and information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and 
may involve significant uncertainties in matters of judgement and, therefore, cannot be determined with 
precision.  
  
The Company’s financial instruments have been classified as follows under IFRS: 
 
• Cash and cash equivalents: fair value through profit and loss. 
• Funds held in trust: fair value through profit and loss. 
• Other receivables: loans and receivables. 
• Account payable and accrued liabilities: other financial liabilities. 
• Convertible debentures: other financial liabilities. 
 
The types of financial risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed by the Company is 
as follows: 
 
Credit Risk 
 
It is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk arising from these 
financial instruments. The Company’s exposure to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents is limited 
by maintaining these assets with high-credit quality financial institutions. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. The Company manages liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash and other financial 
resources available to meet its obligations. The Company typically forecasts cash flows for a period of 
twelve months to identify financial requirements. These requirements are met through a combination of 
cash on hand, disposition of assets and accessing capital markets. 
 
At June 30, 2014, the Company’s current liabilities consisted of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
of $341,895. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust total $630,496 at June 30, 
2014, and together with additional funds obtained in a private placement offering completed on August 
28, 2014, are sufficient to pay these current liabilities and to meet projected financial requirements for a 
period of twelve months subsequent to the reporting date albeit this would require management to scale 
down their current activities. 
 
On August 28, 2014, the Company closed a private placement issuing 7,390,000 units at a price of $0.20 
per unit resulting in gross proceeds of $1,478,000. 
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At September 30, 2014, the Company’s current liabilities consisted of accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities of $164,624. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents total $1,200,704 at September 30, 
2014, are sufficient to pay these current liabilities and to meet projected financial requirements for a 
period of twelve months subsequent to the reporting date albeit this would require management to scale 
down their current activities. 
 
Market Risks 
 
The only significant market risk to which the Company is exposed is that of interest rate risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Company will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.  Based on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust at June 
30, 2014, and assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 1% increase or decrease in interest rates 
would result in a decrease or increase to the Company’s net loss of approximately $6,300 (on an 
annualized basis). Based on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and funds held in trust at 
September 30, 2014, and assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 1% increase or decrease in 
interest rates would result in a decrease or increase to the Company’s net loss of approximately $12,000 
(on an annualized basis). 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these 
estimates. Financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of 
such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments 
based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These 
estimates are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Certain key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty could have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. 
 
Reference should be made to the Company’s significant accounting policies contained in Note 2 of the 
Financial Statements. These accounting policies can have a significant impact on the financial 
performance and financial position of the Company. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for 
accounting periods beginning after July 1, 2014, or later periods. Some updates that are not applicable or 
are not consequential to the Company may have been excluded from the list below. 
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The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of this Prospectus are 
disclosed below. Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the 
accounting policy for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information 
on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant is provided below. 
 
The Company continues to evaluate the impact the implementation of these standards will have on the 
financial statements. 
 
Accounting standards anticipated to be effective on or after July 1, 2014 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“ IFRS 9”) 
 
On July 24, 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9, 
bringing together the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the 
International Accounting Standards Board’s project to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments; 
Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of IFRS 9. 
 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The 
Company is still in the process of assessing the impact of these changes. 
 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) 
 
IFRS 15 is effective for years commencing on or after January 1, 2017 and replaces IAS 11 - 
Construction Contracts; IAS 18 - Revenue; IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15 - 
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC  18 - Transfer of Assets from Customers; and SIC 
31 - Revenue- Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The standard contains a single model 
that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or 
over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, or 
how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgemental thresholds have been 
introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized. The extent of the impact 
of adoption of the standard has not been determined.  
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
Management has established disclosure controls and procedures for the Company in order to provide 
reasonable assurance the information is made known to it in a timely manner, particularly during the 
period in which the annual and quarterly fillings were being prepared.  However, the Company is not 
required to certify the design and evaluation of its disclosure controls and procedures, and has not 
completed such an evaluation. Inherent limitations on the ability of the certifying officers to design and 
implement disclosure controls and procedures on a cost effective basis may result in additional risks to the 
quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided 
under securities legislation. 
 
Legal Matters 
 
The Company is not currently, and has not at any time during the period from February 11, 2014 (date of 
incorporation) to June 30, 2014 and the three month period ended September 30, 2014 been a party to, nor 
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has any of its property been the subject of, any material legal proceedings or regulatory actions. 
 
Proposed Transactions 
 
As is typical of the resource exploration and development industry, the Company is continually reviewing 
potential merger, acquisition, investment and joint venture transactions and opportunities that could 
enhance shareholder value. At present, there are no transactions pending that would affect the Company’s 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of any asset. 
 
Post Reporting Date Event 
 
There were no adjusting or significant non-adjusting events that occurred between the reporting date and 
the date of this MD&A that have not already been disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A. 
 
Risk and Uncertainties  
 
The Company’s principal activity involves the exploration and development of oil and natural gas 
interests. Companies in this industry are subject to many risks. See “Risk Factors”. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED 
 
Common Shares 
 
The Company is offering for sale under this Prospectus 5,000,000 Units at the Offering Price. The Units 
include 5,000,000 Offering Shares, which are Common Shares of the Company. The TSX-V has 
conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares.  Listing of the Common Shares is subject to the 
Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSX-V on or before April 23, 2015. This Prospectus 
qualifies the distribution of the Offering Shares.  
 
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares.  As of 
the date of this Prospectus, 15,890,000 Common Shares were issued and outstanding as fully paid and 
non-assessable shares.  The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend 
and vote at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company and each Common Share confers the right to 
one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company.  The holders of the 
Common Shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, of any other class of shares of the Company, are 
entitled to receive such dividends in any financial year as the Board of Directors may by resolution 
determine.  In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary 
or involuntary, the holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive, subject to the prior rights, if any, 
of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company, the remaining property and assets of the 
Company.   
 
Warrants 
 
The Units being offered for sale under this Prospectus include 5,000,000 Warrants. The TSX-V has 
conditionally approved the listing of the Warrants.  Listing of the Warrants is subject to the Company 
fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSX-V on or before April 23, 2015.  Each Warrant will entitle the 
holder thereof to acquire one Warrant Share upon payment of the exercise price of $0.30 at any time prior 
to 1:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date which is twenty-four (24) months from the Listing Date. If, 
prior to the exercise of the Warrants, any reorganization of the authorized capital of Company occurs by 
way of consolidation, merger, sub-division, amalgamation or otherwise, or the payment of any stock 
dividends, both the exercise price and the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the 
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Warrants will be subject to adjustment so that the rights evidenced by the Warrants are thereafter as 
reasonably as possible equivalent to those originally granted. See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
Warrant Indenture 
 
The Warrants will be created and issued by the Company pursuant to the Warrant Indenture to be entered 
into between the Company and the Warrant Agent on the Closing Date.  The Company will appoint the 
principal office of the Warrant Agent in the city of Vancouver, British Columbia, as the location at which 
Warrants may be surrendered for exercise or transfer. 
 
The following summarizes certain provisions of the Warrant Indenture, but is not, and does not purport to 
be, a complete summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the provisions of the Warrant 
Indenture. A copy of the Warrant Indenture will be filed on SEDAR under the Company's profile 
following the Closing Date. 
 
The Warrant Indenture will provide for adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the 
exercise of the Warrants and/or the exercise price per Warrant Share upon the occurrence of certain 
events, including but not limited to:  
 
• the issuance of Common Shares or securities exchangeable for or convertible into Common Shares to 

all or substantially all of the holders of the Common Shares as a stock dividend or other distribution; 
• the subdivision, re-division or change of the Common Shares into a greater number of shares;  
• the reduction, combination or consolidation of the Common Shares into a lesser number of shares; 
• a reclassification of Common Shares or a capital reorganization of the Company (other than set out 

above); 
• a consolidation, amalgamation, arrangement or merger of the Company with or into any other body 

corporate, trust, partnership or other entity; and 
• a sale or conveyance of the property and assets of the Company as an entirety or substantially as an 

entirety to any other body corporate, trust, partnership or other entity.  
 
The Warrant Indenture provides that no adjustment in the exercise price of a Warrant will be required 
unless the cumulative effect of such adjustment or adjustments would require an increase or decrease of at 
least 1% in the exercise price then in effect. 
 
The Company will also covenant in the Warrant Indenture that, during the period in which the Warrants 
are exercisable, it will give notice to the Warrant Agent and  holders of Warrants of certain stated events, 
including events that would result in the adjustment to the exercise price for the Warrants or the number 
of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, at least 14 days prior to the record date or 
effective date, as the case may be, of such event. 
 
No fractional Warrant Shares will be issuable upon the exercise of any Warrants, and no cash or other 
consideration will be paid in lieu of fractional shares. Holders of Warrants will not have any voting or 
rights or any other rights which a holder of Common Shares would have.  This Prospectus qualifies the 
distribution of the Warrants.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
The Warrants may not be exercised in the United States or by, or on behalf of, a U.S. person unless 
an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable 
securities laws of any state of the United States is available to the holder and the holder has 
furnished an opinion of counsel of recognized standing to such effect, or other evidence of such 
exemption, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 
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Agent’s Option 
 
Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to the Agent an Agent’s 
Option.  The Agent’s Option entitles the Agent to purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 8% 
of the Units sold by the Agent under the Offering, excluding any Units sold to President’s List Purchasers 
on which the Agent will receive 4% of the Units sold to such President’s List Purchasers. Assuming there 
are no President’s List Purchasers, the Agent’s Option will entitle the Agent to purchase 400,000 
Common Shares. 
 
The Agent’s Option may be exercised in whole or in part at any time prior to 4:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) 
on the date which is twenty-four (24) months from the Listing Date upon the payment of the exercise 
price of $0.20 per Agent’s Share. This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent’s Option.  See 
“Plan of Distribution”. 
 
Over-Allotment Option 
 
Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has granted to the Agent an Over-Allotment 
Option exercisable, in whole or in part, from time to time, if the Offering is completed and in the sole 
discretion of the Agent, at any time up to the Closing Date, to cover over-allotments, if any, and for 
market stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised by the Agent, the Company will 
issue up to an aggregate number of Over-Allotment Units equal to 15% of the number of Units sold under 
the Offering. The purchase price of each Over-Allotment Unit under the Over-Allotment Option will be 
equal to the Offering Price. This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of up to 750,000 Over-Allotment 
Shares and 750,000 Over-Allotment Warrants. The Over-Allotment Warrants will be administered 
pursuant to the Warrant Indenture, as described above.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 
 
Agent’s Over-Allotment Option 
 
Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to the Agent an Agent’s 
Over-Allotment Option. The Agent’s Over-Allotment Option entitles the Agent to purchase that number 
of Common Shares equal to 8% of the Over-Allotment Units sold by the Agent pursuant to the Over-
Allotment Option, excluding any Over-Allotment Units sold to President’s List Purchasers on which the 
Agent will receive 4%. Assuming there are no President’s List Purchasers, the Agent’s Over-Allotment 
Option will entitle the Agent to purchase up to 60,000 Common Shares. 
 
The Agent’s Over-Allotment Option may be exercised in whole or in part at any time prior to 4:30 p.m. 
(Vancouver time) on the date which is twenty-four (24) months from the Listing Date upon the payment 
of the exercise price of $0.20 per Agent’s Over-Allotment Share. This Prospectus qualifies the 
distribution of the Agent’s Over-Allotment Option.  See “Plan of Distribution”.   
 

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 
 
In the opinion of Bull, Housser & Tupper LLP, special tax counsel to the Company, the following is, as of 
the date hereof, a general summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations under the 
Tax Act applicable to a purchaser of Units pursuant to this Prospectus. This summary is applicable only 
to a purchaser who, at all relevant times, is not affiliated with the Company or the Agent, and who will 
acquire and hold the Common Shares (which include, for the purpose of this section, Warrant Shares) and 
Warrants as capital property, all within the meaning of the Tax Act (a “Holder”). The Common Shares 
and Warrants will generally be considered capital property to a Holder unless the Holder acquired such 
property with a motivation of selling them at a profit, holds such securities in the course of carrying on 
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business, or acquired them in a transaction or transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the 
nature of trade.  
 
Certain Holders whose Common Shares or Warrants might not otherwise qualify as capital property may 
be entitled to obtain such qualification by making an irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of 
the Tax Act in respect of all of the Holder’s Canadian securities. Holders contemplating such an election 
should consult their own tax advisors regarding this election. 
 
This summary does not apply to a purchaser that is a “financial institution” for purposes of the mark to 
market provisions of the Tax Act or that is a “specified financial institution” or to a purchaser, an interest 
in which is a “tax shelter investment”, each as defined in the Tax Act, or who has made a functional 
currency reporting election pursuant to the detailed provisions of the Tax Act. 
 
This summary is based on the current provisions of the Tax Act and counsel’s understanding of the 
current published administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the 
“CRA”) as of the date hereof. This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax 
Act publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the 
“Tax Proposals”) and assumes that the Tax Proposals will be enacted in the form proposed, although no 
assurance can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted in their current form or at all. This 
summary does not otherwise take into account any changes in law or in the administrative policies or 
assessing practices of the CRA, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action (any of 
which may be effective retroactively), nor does it take into account or consider any provincial, territorial 
or foreign income tax considerations, which considerations may differ significantly from the Canadian 
federal income tax considerations discussed in this summary. 
 
This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations 
applicable to a Holder of Common Shares or Warrants. The following description of income tax 
matters is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal 
or income tax advice to any particular Holder. It does not address the tax considerations relevant to 
a Holder that borrows in order to acquire the Units. 
 
Holders are urged to consult their own income tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences 
applicable to them based on their own particular circumstances. 
 
Residents of Canada 
 
Taxation of Dividends on the Common Shares 
 
Dividends (including deemed dividends) received on the Common Shares by a Holder who is an 
individual will be included in the Holder’s income and, with the exception of dividends received by 
certain trusts, will generally be subject to the gross-up and dividend tax credit rules normally applicable to 
taxable dividends received from corporations resident in Canada including the enhanced gross-up and 
dividend tax credit under the Tax Act in respect of “eligible dividends” received from taxable Canadian 
corporations. Eligible dividends generally include dividends paid by taxable Canadian corporations that 
have been designated as eligible dividends by the corporation. There may be limitations on the ability of 
the Company to designate dividends as eligible dividends. 
 
Taxable dividends received by a Holder who is an individual (or certain trusts) will be relevant in 
computing possible liability for alternative minimum tax. Holders should consult their own tax advisors 
with respect to the application of alternative minimum tax. 
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Dividends (including deemed dividends) received on the Common Shares by a Holder that is a 
corporation must be included in computing the Holder’s income but will generally be deductible in 
computing the Holder’s taxable income. 
 
A Holder that is a “private corporation”, as defined in the Tax Act, or any other corporation controlled by 
or for the benefit of an individual (other than a trust) or a related group of individuals (other than trusts), 
will generally be liable to pay a 33⅓% refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act on dividends received 
(or deemed to be received) on the Common Shares to the extent such dividends are deductible in 
computing its taxable income. 
 
Disposition of the Common Shares 
 
A Holder who disposes of or is deemed to dispose of the Common Shares will generally realize a capital 
gain (or capital loss) to the extent that the Holder’s proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less than) the 
aggregate of the adjusted cost base of such Common Shares to the Holder and any reasonable expenses 
associated with the disposition. The adjusted cost base to a Holder of a Common Share will be 
determined by averaging the cost of the Common Shares acquired pursuant to this Offering with the 
adjusted cost base of all other Common Shares held as capital property by the Holder at that time. 
 
Generally, one half of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year 
will be included in computing the Holder’s income for such year, and one half of any capital loss (an 
“allowable capital loss”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year may be deducted from the Holder’s 
taxable capital gains realized in that year in accordance with the rules in the Tax Act. Allowable capital 
losses in excess of taxable capital gains may be carried back three years or carried forward to a 
subsequent year and deducted against taxable capital gains realized in such years in accordance with the 
rules in the Tax Act. 
 
If the Holder is a corporation, any capital loss arising on a disposition (including a deemed disposition) of 
a Common Share may, in certain circumstances, be reduced by the amount of any dividends, including 
deemed dividends, previously received on the share to the extent and under circumstances specified by 
the Tax Act. Analogous rules may apply to a partnership or trust of which a corporation, partnership or 
trust is a member or beneficiary. Capital gains realized by a Holder who is an individual (or certain trusts) 
will be relevant in computing possible liability for alternative minimum tax. Holders should consult their 
own tax advisors with respect to the application of alternative minimum tax. 
 
A Holder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” as defined in the Tax Act may be subject to 
an additional refundable 6⅔% tax on its “aggregate investment income” (defined in the Tax Act to 
include taxable capital gains). 
 
Exercise of Warrants 
 
The exercise of Warrants will be deemed not to constitute a disposition of property for purposes of the 
Tax Act and, consequently, no gain or loss will be realized on the exercise of Warrants. A Common Share 
acquired by a Holder upon the exercise of Warrants will have a cost to the Holder for tax purposes equal 
to the aggregate of the Subscription Price for the Common Share and the adjusted cost base, if any, to the 
Holder of the Warrants so exercised. The cost of a Common Share acquired by a Holder upon the exercise 
of Warrants will be averaged with the adjusted cost base to the Holder of all other Common Shares held 
at the time as capital property to determine the adjusted cost base of each such Common Share to the 
Holder. 
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Disposition and Expiry of Warrants 
 
Upon the disposition or deemed disposition of a Warrant by a Holder, which, as discussed above, will be 
deemed to not include an exercise of such Warrant, the Holder will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) 
to the extent that the proceeds of disposition, net of reasonable costs of disposition, exceed (or are 
exceeded by) the adjusted cost base, if any, of the Warrant to the Holder. Upon the expiry of an 
unexercised Warrant, a Holder will realize a capital loss equal to the adjusted cost base, if any, of the 
Warrant to the Holder. One-half of such a capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) will be included in 
computing the Holder's income, and one-half of such a capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) must be 
deducted against taxable capital gains realized in such taxation years of the Holder in accordance with the 
detailed rules in the Tax Act. Allowable capital losses for a taxation year in excess of taxable capital gains 
for that year may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried 
forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation year against taxable capital gains in accordance with the 
provisions of the Tax Act. Capital gains realized by a Holder may give rise to alternative minimum tax. 
 
Non-residents of Canada 
 
Currency Conversion 
 
For purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition of the 
Common Shares and Warrants, including interest, dividends, adjusted cost base and proceeds of 
disposition must be converted into Canadian dollars based on the relevant exchange rate (as determined in 
accordance with the Tax Act) applicable on the relevant effective date. 
 
Exercise of Warrants 
 
Upon the exercise of a Warrant, there will be no income tax consequences for a Non-Resident Holder. 
When a Warrant is exercised, the Non-Resident Holder’s cost of the Common Share acquired thereby will 
be the aggregate of the Non-Resident Holder’s adjusted cost base of such Warrant and the exercise price 
paid for the Common Share. The Non-Resident Holder’s adjusted cost base of the Common Share so 
acquired will be determined by averaging such cost with the adjusted cost base to the Non-Resident 
Holder of all Common Shares held by the Non-Resident Holder as capital property immediately prior to 
such acquisition. 
 
Dispositions of Common Shares and Warrants 
 
A Non-Resident Holder will not be subject to tax under the Tax Act in respect of any capital gain realized 
by such Non-Resident Holder on a disposition or deemed disposition of the Common Shares or Warrants, 
nor will capital losses arising from a disposition be recognized under the Tax Act unless the Common 
Shares or Warrants constitute “taxable Canadian property” (as defined in the Tax Act) of the Non-
Resident Holder at the time of disposition and the Non-Resident Holder is not entitled to relief under an 
applicable income tax treaty or convention. 
 
If the Common Shares of the Company are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (as defined in the Tax 
Act and which includes the TSX-V) at the time of disposition, the Common Shares and the Warrants 
generally will not constitute taxable Canadian property of a Non-Resident Holder at that time unless, at 
any time during the 60 month period immediately preceding the disposition, the following two conditions 
have been met concurrently: (i) the Non-Resident Holder, persons with whom the Non-Resident Holder 
did not deal at arm’s length, or the Non-Resident Holder together with all such persons, owned 25% or 
more of the issued shares of any class or series of shares of the Company; and (ii) more than 50% of the 
fair market value of the shares of the Company was derived directly or indirectly from one or any 
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combination of real or immovable property situated in Canada, “Canadian resource properties” (as 
defined in the Tax Act), “timber resource properties” (as defined in the Tax Act) or an option, an interest 
or right in such property, whether or not such property exists. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in certain 
circumstances set out in the Tax Act, a share could be deemed to be taxable Canadian property of the 
Non-Resident Holder. Pursuant to Proposed Amendments released July 12, 2013, the ownership test will 
include shares held by a partnership in which the Non-Resident Holder or any non-arm’s length person 
holds a membership interest (either directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships). 
 
If the Common Shares of the Company are not listed on a “designated stock exchange” at the time of 
disposition, the Common Shares and the Warrants generally will not constitute taxable Canadian property 
of a Non-Resident Holder at that time unless, at any time during the 60 month period immediately 
preceding the disposition, more than 50% of the fair market value of the shares of the Company was 
derived directly or indirectly from one or any combination of real or immovable property situated in 
Canada, “Canadian resource properties” (as defined in the Tax Act), “timber resource properties” (as 
defined in the Tax Act) or an option, an interest or right in such property, whether or not such property 
exists. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in certain circumstances set out in the Tax Act, a share could be 
deemed to be taxable Canadian property of the Non-Resident Holder. 
 
Even if the Common Shares or Warrants are taxable Canadian property to a Non-Resident Holder, any 
capital gain realized on the disposition or deemed disposition of such securities may not be subject to 
Canadian federal income tax depending to the terms of an applicable income tax treaty or convention 
between Canada and the country of residence of the Non-Resident Holder. 
 
Non-Resident Holders whose securities are, or may be, taxable Canadian property should consult 
their own advisors. 
 
Dividends on Common Shares 
 
Under the Tax Act, dividends paid or credited to a Non-Resident Holder on the Common Shares will be 
subject to Canadian withholding tax at the rate of 25% of the gross amount of the dividends. This 
withholding tax may be reduced pursuant to the terms of an applicable income tax treaty or convention 
between Canada and the country of residence of a Non-Resident Holder. 
  

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 
 
In the opinion of Bull, Housser & Tupper LLP, special tax counsel to the Company, provided that the 
Common Shares (which include, for the purposes of this section, Warrant Shares) are listed on a 
“designated stock exchange” (which currently includes tiers 1 and 2 of the TSX-V) for purposes of the 
Tax Act, the Common Shares and Warrant Shares will be qualified investments under the Tax Act for 
trusts governed by a  registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), registered retirement income funds 
(“RRIF”), registered education savings plan (“RESP”), registered disability savings plan (“RDSP”), 
deferred profit sharing plan (other than a trust governed by a deferred profit sharing plan in respect of 
which the Company or a corporation with which the Company does not deal at arm’s length for the 
purposes of the Tax Act pays contributions) (“DPSP”) and tax-free savings account (“TFSA”), each as 
defined in the Tax Act (collectively, “Deferred Plans”).  
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the holder of the TFSA or annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF will be subject 
to a penalty tax under the Tax Act if the Common Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares held by a particular 
TFSA, RRSP or RRIF are “prohibited investments” for purposes of the Tax Act. The Common Shares, 
Warrants and Warrant Shares will generally be a ‘‘prohibited investment’’ for these purposes if the holder 
of the TFSA or the annuitant under the RRSP or RRIF, as applicable, (i) does not deal at arm’s length 
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with the Company for the purposes of the Tax Act or (ii) has a “significant interest” as defined in the Tax 
Act in the Company. In addition, the Common Shares and the Warrants will generally not be a 
“prohibited investment” if the Common Shares and the Warrants are “excluded property” as defined in 
the Tax Act for a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF.  
 
Holders or annuitants should consult their own tax advisors with respect to whether the Common Shares 
and the Warrants would be prohibited investments, including with respect to whether the Common Shares 
and the Warrants would be “excluded property” as defined in the Tax Act provisions. 
 
The Warrants will be qualified investment for a Deferred Plan at any particular time provided that, at that 
time, the Common Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange”, as defined in the Tax Act, and that 
the Company is not a “connected person” under the Deferred Plan. A “connected person”, in relation to a 
Deferred Plan, is defined in the Tax Act as a person who is an annuitant, a beneficiary, an employer or a 
subscriber under, or a holder of, the Deferred Plan, as well as any other person who does not deal at arm's 
length with that person.  
 
In general, if Common Shares or Warrants are held in a Deferred Plan that is an RRSP, RRIF, TFSA or 
RDSP at a time when they are not a qualified investment for such Deferred Plan, then the holder or 
annuitant of the Deferred Plan, as the case may be, will be subject to a penalty tax equal to 50% of the fair 
market value the Common Shares or Warrants. In addition, any income earned on the Common Shares or 
Warrants (including the full amount of any capital gain from the disposition of such property and certain 
dividends that would not otherwise be included in income) while they are held by a trust governed by an 
RRSP, RRIF, TFSA or RDSP will be subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act (unless such shares are a 
“prohibited investment” for the TFSA, RRSP or RRIF, in which case a separate penalty tax applies 
instead, as discussed below).  
 
If a DPSP acquires the Common Shares or Warrants at a time when they are not a qualified investment 
for such Deferred Plan, then the trust governed by the DPSP will be subject to a tax equal to 100% of the 
fair market value of such property at the time of receipt. 
 
If Common Shares or Warrants are held in an RESP at a time when they are not a qualified investment for 
such Deferred Plan, then the trust governed by the RESP will be liable for a tax equal to 1% of the fair 
market value of such property at the time of receipt for each month in which the trust holds such property 
at the end of the month. In addition, as the result of acquisition of the Common Shares or Warrants at a 
time when they are not a qualified investment for an RESP, the RESP’s status may be revoked by the 
Minister of National Revenue, with the result that the trust will be taxable on its income under Part I of 
the Tax Act.  
  

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 
 
The following table summarizes the consolidated capitalization of the Company at the dates indicated and 
after giving effect to the Offering.  The table should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements 
and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” included in this Prospectus. 
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  As at June 
30, 2014 
(audited) 

 As at 
September 

30, 2014  
(unaudited) 

 After giving 
effect to the 
Offering(1) 

(unaudited) 
Indebtedness $ 1,176,119 $ 1,052,889 $ 1,212,889 
Common Shares  81,068  1,287,103  2,127,103 
Additional paid in capital  146,211  178,203  178,203 
Accumulated deficit  147,399  521,169  521,169 
Total shareholder’s equity (deficiency)  79,880  944,137  1,784,137 
Total capitalization  1,255,999  1,997,026  2,997,026 

 
Note: 
(1) Assuming the completion of the Offering but excluding the Over-Allotment Option. 
 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 
The following table summarizes the Stock Options that have been granted as of the date of this 
Prospectus, which grant will be effective on the date set out below. 
 

Holder of 
Stock 
Options(1) 

No. of 
Options 

Securities 
Under 
Option 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry Date Exercise 
Price per 
Common 

Share 

 

Market 
Value of 
Common 
Shares on 

Grant Date 

Market 
Value of 
Common 
Shares as 
at date of 

Prospectus 
Michael 
Arguijo 

160,700 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price 

N/A N/A 

Donald A. 
Sharpe 

192,900 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

John G. Turner 160,700 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

Michael J. 
Black 

160,700 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

Barry Loughlin 160,700 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

Richard D. 
Schroeder 

96,400 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

Employees of 
the Company 
and SAOC 

192,900 Common 
Shares 

Listing 
Date 

6 years from the 
Listing Date 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

Consultant of 
SAOC 

128,600 Common 
Shares 

January 
27, 2015  

6 years from 
January 27, 

2015 

Offering 
Price  

N/A N/A 

TOTAL: 1,253,600       
 
Note: 
(1) As a group, directors of the Company and SAOC who are not also officers (being a total of 4 directors) will hold 675,000 

Stock Options. As a group, officers of the Company and SAOC (being a total of 2 officers) will hold 257,100 Stock Options. 
 
1,125,000 of these Stock Options will vest over a three year period, with one third of the Stock Options 
vesting every 12 months after the Listing Date. 128,600 of these Stock Options held by a consultant to 
SAOC will vest over an 18 month period, with 10% of the Stock Options vesting on January 27, 2015 and 
a further 15% vesting every three months following that date.   
 
All of the Stock Options listed in the table above were granted pursuant to the 2014 Plan.  The 2014 Plan 
was adopted by the Board of Directors on October 8, 2014.  The purpose of the 2014 Plan is to advance 
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the interests of the Company and its stockholders and subsidiaries by attracting, retaining and motivating 
the performance of selected directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company of high calibre 
and potential and to encourage and enable such persons to acquire and retain a proprietary interest in the 
Company by ownership of its stock.  The 2014 Plan provides that, subject to the requirements of the 
TSX-V, the aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan may not 
exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares at the time of granting of options (including 
all options granted by the Company to date). 
 
The 2014 Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors, which will have full and final authority 
with respect to the granting of all options thereunder.  Options may be granted under the 2014 Plan to 
such directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company and its affiliates, as the Board of 
Directors may from time to time designate.  Options may also be granted to employees of management 
companies providing management services to the Company.  The exercise price of any options granted 
under the 2014 Plan will be determined by the Board of Directors, but may not be less than the last 
closing market price of the Common Shares on the TSX-V prior to the date of grant of the options, less 
any discount permitted by the TSX-V. The term of any options granted under the 2014 Plan will be 
determined by the Board of Directors at the time of grant but will be subject to earlier termination in the 
event of dismissal for cause, termination other than for cause or in the event of death.  The term of any 
options granted under the 2014 Plan may not exceed 10 years.  Options granted under the 2014 Plan may 
be subject to vesting. Subject to certain exceptions, options will expire on a date fixed by the Board of 
Directors which date will be no more than one year after such Director or officer ceases to hold office or 
after an employee, consultant or management company employee ceases to act in that capacity in relation 
to the Company.  In the event of death or disability of an option holder, options granted under the 2014 
Plan will expire one year from the date of the death or disability of the option holder. 
 

PRIOR SALES 
 
The following table summarizes the sales of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common 
Shares that the Company has issued within the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus. 
 

Date of Issue Type of Security Number of Securities 
 

Issue or Exercise Price 
of Security 

May 20, 2014 Common Shares(1) 8,500,000 $0.01 
June 30, 2014 Convertible debenture(2) N/A $0.20 
July 22, 2014 Convertible debenture(2) N/A $0.20 
August 28, 2014 Common Shares(3) 7,390,000 $0.20 
August 28, 2014 Warrants(3) 3,695,000 $0.30 
August 28, 2014 Agent’s options(3) 591,200 $0.20 
January 27, 2015 Stock Options 128,600 $0.20 

 
Notes:  
(1) Issued pursuant to seed capital private placement. See “General Development of the Business” and “Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis”. 
(2) The Company issued secured subordinated convertible debentures for gross proceeds of $1,100,000.  The debentures 

bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum, and expire five (5) years from the date of issuance.  The debentures are 
convertible into units of the Company at $0.20 per unit for a period of five years from the closing dates of the 
debenture offering. Each unit will be comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one non-transferable Common 
Share purchase warrant pursuant to which each whole warrant will entitle such holder to purchase an additional 
Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per Common Share for a period of five years from the closing dates of the 
debenture offering. On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole warrant entitles the 
holder thereof to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common Share. 

(3) Issued pursuant to a brokered private placement. The private placement consisted of units, each unit consisting of one 
Common Share and one-half of one share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles such holder to purchase an 
additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per Common Share until the earlier of (i) August 28, 2017; and 
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(ii) two years from the date the Common Shares are listed on a recognized stock exchange in Canada. The Company 
also issued agent’s options, each entitling the holder to purchase Common Shares at a price of $0.20 per Common 
Share until the earlier of (i) August 28, 2017; and (ii) two years from the date the Common Shares are listed on a 
recognized stock exchange in Canada. On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants such that each whole 
warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase an additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.30 per Common 
Share. 

 
ESCROWED SECURITIES 

 
Summary of Contractual and Statutory Resale Restrictions 
 
As a result of various escrow agreements, voluntary pooling agreements and TSX-V seed share resale 
restrictions, 8,665,000 Common Shares, 82,500 warrants, $357,500 in convertible debentures and the 
units underlying all $1,100,000 in convertible debentures issued and outstanding as at the date of this 
Prospectus will be subject to restrictions and released in accordance with the following schedule: 
 

Release Date Number of 
Common Shares 

Debentures Warrants 
 

On the Listing Date 0 $35,750(4) 0 
1 month after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
2 months after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
3 months after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
4 months after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
5 months after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
6 months after Listing Date 165,000(1) $53,625(4) 82,500(2) 
9 months after Listing Date 0 $0 0 
12 months after the Listing Date 0 $53,625(4) 0 
18 months after the Listing Date 0 $53,625(4) 0 
24 months after the Listing Date 0 $53,625(4) 0 
July 10, 2017 5,955,250 (3) $0 0 
30 months after the Listing Date 1,272,375 $53,625(4) 0 
36 months after the Listing Date 1,272,375 $53,625 0 
TOTAL 8,665,000 $357,500 82,500 

 
Notes: 
(1) These Common Shares (which were issued at $0.20 on August 28, 2014) are released pursuant to the Agent Pooling 

Agreement as defined and described in “Escrowed Securities- Pooling Agreements” below. 
(2) These warrants (which were issued on August 28, 2014) and Common Shares issuable on exercise of these warrants are 

released pursuant to the Agent Pooling Agreement as defined and described in “Escrowed Securities- Pooling 
Agreements” below. 

(3) These Common Shares are released pursuant to the First Pooling Agreement, and may be released earlier pursuant to 
the terms of such agreement. See “Escrowed Securities - Pooling Agreements”.  However, if released earlier, these 
Common Shares remain subject to statutory and TSX-V restrictions, namely the terms of the Escrow Agreements, and 
the Value Escrow Agreement, which impose the restrictions set out under “Escrowed Securities - Escrow Agreement- 
Principals” and “Escrowed Securities - Seed Share Resale Restrictions- Non-Principals” below. 

(4) The units underlying all $1,100,000 of the convertible debentures (including any Common Shares issuable upon the 
exercise of any warrants) are subject to the Second Pooling Agreement, and are restricted until July 22, 2017, subject to 
early release pursuant to the terms of such agreement. See “Escrowed Securities-Pooling Agreements” below.  

 
Details of the escrow agreements, voluntary pooling agreements, TSX-V seed share resale restrictions and 
statutory hold periods are described below. 
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Escrow Agreements- Principals 
 
In accordance with NP 46-201, all common shares and convertible securities of an issuer owned or 
controlled by its principals will be escrowed at the time of the issuer’s initial public offering, unless the 
common shares held by the principal or issuable to the principal upon conversion of convertible securities 
held by the principal collectively represent less than 1% of the total issued and outstanding common 
shares of the issuer after giving effect to the initial public offering.  In calculating this percentage, 
securities that may be issued to the principal under outstanding convertible securities are included in both 
the principal’s securities (the numerator) and the total securities outstanding (the denominator). 
 
At the time of its initial public offering, an issuer will be classified for the purposes of escrow as an 
“exempt issuer”, an “established issuer” or an “emerging issuer”.  As the Company will be classified as 
an “emerging issuer”, the following automatic timed releases will apply to the securities held by its 
principals: 
 
 Release Date Amount Released 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the escrow securities 
6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remaining escrow securities 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remaining escrow securities 
18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remaining escrow securities 
24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remaining escrow securities 
30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remaining escrow securities 
36 months after the Listing Date The remaining escrow securities 

 
Assuming there are no changes to the escrow securities initially deposited and no additional escrow 
securities are deposited, this will result in a 10% release on the Listing Date, with the remaining escrow 
securities being released in 15% tranches every 6 months thereafter. 
 
The automatic time release provisions under NP 46-201 pertaining to “established issuers” provide that 
25% of each principal's escrowed securities are released on the Listing Date, with an additional 25% 
being released in equal tranches at six month intervals over 18 months.  If, within 18 months of the 
Listing Date, the Company meets the “established issuer” criteria, as set out in NP 46-201, the escrow 
securities will be eligible for accelerated release according to the criteria for established issuers.  In such a 
scenario, that number of escrow securities that would have been eligible for release from escrow if the 
Company had been an "established issuer" on the Listing Date will be immediately released from escrow. 
The remaining escrow securities would be released in accordance with the time release provisions for 
established issuers, with all escrow securities being released 18 months from the Listing Date. 
 
In accordance with NP 46-201, the following Common Shares and convertible debentures will be subject 
to the terms of escrow agreements (the “Escrow Agreements” and each an “Escrow Agreement”), 
among certain principals of the Company, the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc. of 3rd 
Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9: 
 

Designation of 
Class 

 
Number/ Amount ($) of 

Securities  
 

Percentage of Class 

At date of this Prospectus On Completion of 
Offering(4)(5) 

Common Shares 3,175,000(2) 19.98 %  15.2% 
Debentures(1) $357,500(3) 32.5% 32.5% 

 
Notes: 
(1) The convertible debentures are convertible into units as further described in “Business of the Corporation- Financings”. 
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(2) These Common Shares are additionally subject to the First Pooling Agreement as described in “Escrowed Shares- 
Pooling Agreements” below. 

(3) The underlying securities of these convertible debentures are additionally subject to the Second Pooling Agreement as 
described in “Escrowed Securities- Pooling Agreements” below. 

(4) There will be 20,890,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding upon completion of the Offering.  This figure 
excludes any Common Shares issued pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option and the exercise of any convertible 
securities currently outstanding. 

(5) The issued and outstanding amount of convertible debentures excludes the conversion of any debentures from the date 
of this Prospectus. 
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreements, the securities of the Company held in escrow may be 
transferred within escrow to an individual who is a director or senior officer of the Company or of a 
material operating subsidiary of the Company, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, or to a 
person or company that before the proposed transfer holds more than 20% of the voting rights attached to 
the Company’s outstanding securities, or to a person or company that after the proposed transfer will hold 
more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities and that has the right 
to elect or appoint one or more directors or senior officers of the Company or of any of its material 
operating subsidiaries. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreements, upon the bankruptcy of a holder of escrowed securities, 
the securities held in escrow may be transferred within escrow to the trustee in bankruptcy or other person 
legally entitled to such securities.  Upon the death of a holder of escrowed securities, all securities of the 
deceased holder will be released from escrow to the deceased holder’s legal representative. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreements, 10% of such Common Shares (a total of 317,500 
Common Shares) will be released from escrow on the Listing Date.  Such Common Shares, however, will 
(upon release) remain subject to the First Pooling Agreement described below.  The remaining 90% of 
such Common Shares (a total of 2,857,500 Common Shares), which will be held in escrow immediately 
following the Listing Date, will represent approximately 13.68% of the Common Shares issued and 
outstanding immediately following the completion of the Offering (excluding any Over-Allotment 
Shares).  
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreements, 10% of such debentures (a total of $35,750 worth of 
debentures) will be released from escrow on the Listing Date.  Upon release and due conversion of such 
debentures the underlying securities will be subject to the Second Pooling Agreement described below.  
The remaining 90% of such debentures (a total of  $321,750 worth of debentures), which will be held in 
escrow immediately following the Listing Date, will represent approximately 29.25% of the convertible 
debentures issued and outstanding immediately following the completion of the Offering.  
 
The complete text of the Escrow Agreements are available for inspection at the office of the Company's 
legal counsel, Suite 1200, 750 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2T8. 
 
Seed Share Resale Restrictions- Non Principals 
 
In accordance with TSX-V Policy 5.4, the Common Shares, warrants and convertible debentures that are 
issued to ‘Non-Principals’ (as that term is defined in the policies of the TSX-V) of the Company prior to 
the completion of the Offering are subject to hold periods imposed by the TSX-V.  The purchase price of 
such securities, and the time of their purchase relative to the date of a receipt for the preliminary 
prospectus of the Company by the Securities Commissions determine which, if any, TSX-V hold periods 
apply.  The TSX-V hold period does not apply to persons who are subject to the Escrow Agreements. 
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Seed Shares 
 
A total of 5,307,500 Common Shares purchased for $0.01 per Common Share by Non-Principals on May 
20, 2014 will be subject to seed share resale restrictions and released as follows: 
 
 Release Date Amount Released 

On the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/10 of the escrow securities 
6 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/6 of the remaining escrow securities 

12 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/5 of the remaining escrow securities 
18 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/4 of the remaining escrow securities 
24 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/3 of the remaining escrow securities 
30 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin 1/2 of the remaining escrow securities 
36 months after the date of the TSX-V Bulletin The remaining escrow securities 

 
The following Common Shares will be subject to the above seed share resale restrictions pursuant to the 
terms of a Tier 2 Value Escrow agreement (the “Value Escrow Agreement”), among certain Non-
Principals of the Company, the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc., of 3rd Floor, 510 
Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9: 
 
Designation of 
Class 

 
Number/ Amount 
($) of Securities  

 

Percentage of Class 

At date of this Prospectus On Completion of Offering(2) 

Common Shares  5,307,500(1) 33.40% 25.41% 
 
Notes: 
(1) These Common Shares are additionally subject to the First Pooling Agreement as described in “Escrowed Shares- 

Pooling Agreements” below. 
(2) There will be 20,890,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding upon completion of the Offering.  This figure 

exclude any Common Shares issued pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option and the exercise of any convertible 
securities currently outstanding. 

 
Pursuant to the terms of the Value Escrow Agreement, 10% of such Common Shares (a total of 530,750 
Common Shares) will be released from escrow on the Listing Date.  Such Common Shares, however, will 
(upon release) remain subject to the First Pooling Agreement described below.  The remaining 90% of 
such Common Shares (a total of 4,776,750 Common Shares), which will be held in escrow immediately 
following the Listing Date, will represent approximately 22.87% of the Common Shares issued and 
outstanding immediately following completion of the Offering (excluding any Over-Allotment Shares). 
 
Pooling Agreements 
 
Shareholders who participated in the seed capital private placement agreed to make their Common Shares 
subject to the terms of a voluntary pooling agreement dated July 10, 2014, between the holders, the 
Company and Morton Law LLP as pooling agent (the “First Pooling Agreement”).  The pooled 
Common Shares will be held by the pooling agent and released subject to the provisions of the First 
Pooling Agreement on July 10, 2017.  The release date may be changed to an earlier date or the pooled 
Common Shares may be released in tranches in such amounts and on such dates if agreed to (in writing) 
by original depositing shareholders under the First Pooling Agreement who hold two-thirds (2/3) or 
greater of the pooled Common Shares. However, two shareholders holding greater than one-third (1/3) of 
the pooled Common Shares subject to the First Pooling Agreement have agreed to provide an undertaking 
confirming that they will not agree to an early release date for a period of six months following the 
Listing Date. 
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Designation of 
Class  Number of 

Securities 
 

Percentage of Class 

At date of this Prospectus On Completion of Offering(1) 

Common Shares 8,500,000 53.49% 40.69% 
 
Note: 
(1) There will be 20,890,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding upon completion of the Offering.  These figures 

exclude any Common Shares issued pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option and the exercise of any convertible 
securities currently outstanding. 

 
Convertible debenture holders who participated in the convertible debenture financing agreed to make all 
‘units’ issued upon conversion of such debentures subject to the terms of a voluntary pooling agreement 
dated July 22, 2014, between the holders, the Company and Morton Law LLP as pooling agent (the 
“Second Pooling Agreement”).  For greater certainty the securities to be pooled includes all underlying 
Common Shares, warrants and any Common Shares issued upon exercise of the underlying warrants.  The 
pooled securities, upon issuance, will be held by the pooling agent and released subject to the provisions 
of the Second Pooling Agreement on July 22, 2017.  The release date may be changed to an earlier date or 
the pooled securities may be released in tranches in such amounts if agreed to (in writing) by the initial 
depositing holders under the Second Pooling Agreement who held at least two-thirds (2/3) or more of the 
total Canadian dollar value of the debenture financing. However, two debenture holders holding greater 
than one-third (1/3) of the dollar value of the convertible debentures subject to the Second Pooling 
Agreement have agreed to provide an undertaking confirming that they will not agree to an early release 
date for a period of six months following the Listing Date. 
 
Designation of Class Held in 
Escrow 

 
Number/ Amount 
($) of Securities  

 

Percentage of Class 
Prior to Offering at 

date of this Prospectus 
After Completion of the 

Offering(2) 

Debentures $1,100,000(1)(2) 100% 100% 
 
Notes: 
(1) The convertible debentures are convertible into units as further described in “Business of the Corporation- Financings”. 
(2) The issued and outstanding amount of convertible debentures excludes the conversion of any debentures from the date 

of this Prospectus. 
 
Two employees of the Agent participated in the August 28, 2014 financing, purchasing a total of 165,000 
Common Shares and 82,500 warrants. Such individuals entered into a voluntary pooling agreement (the 
“Agent Pooling Agreement”), pursuant to which their securities will be restricted for a period of six 
months following the Listing Date.   
 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, as of the date of this Prospectus, no one 
shareholder beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over Common Shares carrying more than 
10% of the votes attached to Common Shares. 
 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
The following table provides the names, province or state of residence, position, principal occupations 
and the number of voting securities of the Company that each of the directors and executive officers 
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control over, as of the date of this Prospectus: 
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Name, Residence and 
Position 
With the Company 

 
 
 
 
 
Director/ 
Officer 
Since 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Principal Occupation for 
the Past Five Years 

Common 
Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned 

Directly or 
Indirectly 

(at the date of 
this 

Prospectus) 
Michael Arguijo(2)(4) 
Chief Executive Officer, 
President and Director 
Texas, USA 

February 11, 2014 Petroleum Engineer; Founder and President 
of Sojen Petroleum Consulting, a private 
company that provides management 
advisory and engineering consulting 
services. 

1,500,000 

Donald A. Sharpe(1)(2)(3) 
Chairman and Director 
British Columbia, Canada 

February 11, 2014 Professional Geophysicist, businessman and 
President of D. Sharpe Management Inc., a 
private consulting firm. 

1,500,000 

John G. Turner(1)(3) 
Director 
Texas, USA 

February 11, 2014 Chief Financial Officer, CCNG, Inc., which 
provides services to oil and gas companies 
(September 2013 – Present); Independent 
Consultant (2010 – September 2013); Chief 
Financial Officer, Mediterranean Resources 
LLC, an exploration and mining company 
(2006 -  2010). 

17,500 

Michael J. Black(3)(4) 
Director 
Alberta, Canada 

May 22, 2014 Senior partner practicing energy law at 
Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, a law 
firm, since September 2010; senior partner 
at Heenan Blaikie LLP (2001 - 2010); 
director of Essential Energy Services Ltd., a 
company providing oilfield services, from 
2006 to May 2011, and June 2012 to 
present; and director of High North 
Resources Ltd., an oil and gas company, 
since 2013. 

75,000 

Barry Loughlin(1)(2)(4) 
Director 
British Columbia, Canada 

June 9, 2014 Independent Consultant providing financial 
and accounting advisory services (February 
2011 – Present); director of Outrider Energy 
Corp., an oil and gas company (November 
2013 – Present); various financial 
management positions with Masonite 
International Corporation, a manufacturing 
company, between 1997 and September 
2010 (most recently, Division Operations 
Manager November 2008 – September 
2010). 

50,000 

Richard D. Schroeder 
Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary 
British Columbia, Canada 

May 1, 2014 Independent Consultant providing financial 
and accounting advisory services (July 2011 
– Present); Partner of Ernst and Young 
LLP, Chartered Accountants (May 2005 – 
June 2011). 

50,000 

 
Notes: 
(1) Denotes a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.  John Turner is the Chair of the Audit Committee. 
(2) Denotes a member of the Reserves Committee of the Company.  Michael Arguijo is the Chair of the Reserves 

Committee. 
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(3) Denotes a member of the Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee of the Company.  Michael Black is 
the Chair of the Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee. 

(4) Denotes a member of the Health, Safety and Environment Committee of the Company.  Barry Loughlin is the Chair of 
the Health, Safety and Environment Committee. 
 

The term of office of the directors expires annually at the time of the Company’s annual general meeting. 
The term of office of the officers expires at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  None of the directors or 
officers have entered into non-competition or non-disclosure agreements with the Company.   
 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the directors and officers of the Company as a group owned beneficially, 
directly or indirectly or exercised control or discretion over an aggregate 3,192,500 Common Shares, which 
is equal to 20.09% of the Common Shares currently issued and outstanding.  After the completion of the 
Offering and prior to the exercise of any other outstanding rights to acquire Common Shares, the directors 
and officers of the Company as a group will own beneficially, directly or indirectly or exercise control or 
discretion over approximately an aggregate of 3,192,500 Common Shares which is equal to 15.28% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares upon completion of the Offering, not including any Common 
Shares which may be acquired by the directors and officers in the Offering. 
 
The directors and officers of the Company anticipate that they will dedicate the following percentage of 
their time to the affairs of the Company:   
 

Michael Arguijo 75% 
Donald A. Sharpe 20% 
John G. Turner 5% 
Michael J. Black 5% 
Barry Loughlin 5% 
Richard D. Schroeder 60% 

 
These percentages are estimates only over the course of a 12 month period and the time commitment of the 
directors and officers will vary depending upon the Company’s activities. In particular, once the Company 
has assessed the results of the Mikeska #7 well, the availability of financing and commodity prices, Mr. 
Arguijo may reduce or increase his time commitment as required, with the Company being given priority 
over any other projects.  The directors and officers of the Company have extensive experience with public 
companies and will allocate as much time as necessary in connection with the Company’s future 
developments.  
 
Michael Arguijo, age 49, President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Company. Mr. Arguijo is 
a Petroleum Engineer with experience in the oil and gas business. During his career Mr. Arguijo has served 
as an officer in a number of independent oil and gas companies with focuses on operations, 
acquisitions/divestitures, and asset management.  He also has significant background in reserves assessment 
and consulting.  Currently Mr. Arguijo acts as a consultant and advisor for a number of clients involved in 
operations, asset development, and acquisitions/divestitures. 
 
Mr. Arguijo received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering from Texas A&M University 
in 1990. He is a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers. 
 
Donald A. Sharpe, age 57, a director (Chairman) of the Company. Mr. Sharpe is a Professional 
Geophysicist with experience in the oil and gas business. During that time, Mr. Sharpe has gained 
experience in exploration, production, marketing, finance and the management of public companies. He has 
been a founder and director of a number of oil and gas companies. 
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Mr. Sharpe received a Bachelor of Science in Geophysics from the University of British Columbia in 1981, 
a Certificate in Business Management from the University of Calgary in 1989 and graduated from the Banff 
School of Advanced Management in 1991. Mr. Sharpe is member of the Association of Professional 
Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta and the Canadian Society of Exploration Geophysicists.  Mr. Sharpe 
is a graduate of the Institute of Corporate Directors in Canada. 
 
John G. Turner, age 43, a director of the Company. Mr. Turner has 18 years of experience in the oil and 
gas business.  Over his career Mr. Turner has had experience building companies and raising capital 
working on both the operations side and investment banking side of the oil and gas business.  He served as 
the Director of Finance and Business Development for Brigham Exploration from 2001 to 2006.  Currently 
Mr. Turner is the CFO of CCNG, Inc., a company that through its subsidiaries provides non-hazardous 
waste and water disposal and other services to oil and gas companies in the U.S.   He has a BBA in 
Accounting and a Masters in Business Administration, both from the McCombs School of Business at the 
University of Texas at Austin. 
 
Michael J. Black, age 55, a director of the Company. Mr. Black is a senior energy partner at an 
international legal firm.  Mr. Black has experience in the energy sector, providing counsel to numerous 
domestic and international energy companies.  He has worked extensively in the energy field, both in 
private practice and as in-house counsel, with a comprehensive focus on the upstream, midstream and 
downstream sectors of the oil and gas business.  Internationally, Mr. Black provides legal and commercial 
advice with respect to transactions in numerous jurisdictions. He previously managed the legal department 
of a state-owned oil and gas corporation in the Middle East. 
 
Mr. Black is a graduate of the Institute of Corporate Directors in Canada. He has experience as both an 
officer and director of energy companies, and is currently a director of two publicly traded companies.  Mr. 
Black has also prepared and presented papers on energy-related matters. 
 
Barry Loughlin, age 54, a director of the Company. Mr. Loughlin served as a Divisional Operations 
Manager of Masonite International Corporation from November 2008 to September 2010, Group Controller 
from May 2005 to November 2008, and prior to that as Vice President Finance from November 1997 to 
May 2005.  Mr. Loughlin has been a self-employed consultant providing financial and accounting advisory 
services since February, 2011.  
 
Richard D. Schroeder, age 62, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company.  Mr. 
Schroeder is a chartered professional accountant with 33 years of experience.  Mr. Schroeder received his 
Chartered Accountant designation in 1981 from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia 
and also received an ICD designation from the Institute of Corporate Directors in 2011. Mr. Schroeder holds 
a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of British Columbia. 
 
For over fifteen years Mr. Schroeder was an audit partner with Ellis Foster, Chartered Accountants and 
continued as an audit partner at Ernst & Young LLP, following their merger in 2005, until his retirement on 
July 1, 2011.  Mr. Schroeder has served as a director on a number of boards of public companies. 
 
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Company is, at the date of 
this Prospectus, or was within the 10 years prior to the date of this Prospectus, a director, chief executive 
officer or chief financial officer of any company (including the Company) that: 
 
(a) was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the 

capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or 
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(b) was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, 

chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial 
officer.  
 

For the purposes of the foregoing, “order” means 
 
(a) a cease trade order; 
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 
 
(c) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 

 
that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Company, nor any 
shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, 
nor any personal holding company of any such person is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within 
the ten years before the date of this Prospectus, a director or executive officer of any company (including the 
Company) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in 
that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency 
or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 
 
Penalties or Sanctions 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Company, nor any 
shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Company to materially affect control of the Company has: 
 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities 

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 
securities regulatory authority; or 
 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would 
likely be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 
Personal Bankruptcies 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Company, nor any 
shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, 
nor any personal holding company of any such person has, within the 10 years before the date of this 
Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 
interests of the Company and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of 
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the Company.  If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board of Directors, any director in a conflict 
will disclose his or her interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, and other than disclosed herein, there are no known existing or 
potential conflicts of interest among the Company, its directors and officers or other members of 
management of the Company as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors 
and officers serve as directors and officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict 
may arise between their duties to the Company and their duties as a director and officer of such other 
companies.  To the extent that such other companies may provide services to the Company, may participate 
with the Company in various ventures, or may compete against the Company in one or more aspects of its 
business, the directors and officers of the Company may have a conflict of interest respecting such.  Any 
conflicts will be subject to the procedures and remedies under the BCBCA.  See also “Interest of 
Management and Others in Material Transactions” and “Risk Factors”. 
 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
 
The objective of the Company’s compensation program is to compensate the executive officers for their 
services to the Company at a level that is in line with the Company’s fiscal resources. 
 
The Company compensates its executive officers based on their skill and experience levels and the existing 
stage of development of the Company.  Executive officers are rewarded on the basis of the skill and level of 
responsibility involved in their position, the individual’s experience and qualifications, the Company’s 
resources, industry practice, and regulatory guidelines regarding executive compensation levels. 
 
The Board of Directors has implemented three levels of compensation to align the interests of the executive 
officers with those of the shareholders.  First, executive officers may be paid a monthly consulting fee or 
salary.  Second, the Board of Directors may award executive officers long term incentives in the form of 
stock options.  Finally, and only in special circumstances, the Board of Directors may award cash or share 
bonuses for exceptional performance that results in a significant increase in shareholder value.  The 
Company provides health insurance to its employees, including executive officers, in the United States.  The 
Company does not provide health benefits to executive officers in Canada, or pension or other benefits to 
any of the executive officers. 
 
The base compensation of the executive officers is reviewed annually by the Compensation, Nomination 
and Governance Committee, which makes a recommendation to the Board of Directors regarding 
compensation levels. See “Corporate Governance – Compensation, Nomination and Governance 
Committee.” The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) has substantial input in setting annual compensation 
levels. The CEO is directly responsible for the financial resources and operations of the Company.  In 
addition, the Board of Directors from time to time determine the stock option grants to be made pursuant to 
the Company’s 2014 Plan.  Previous grants of stock options are taken into account when considering new 
grants.  The Board of Directors awards bonuses at its sole discretion.  The Board of Directors does not have 
pre-existing performance criteria or objectives. 
 
Compensation for the most recently completed financial year (February 11, 2014 (incorporation) to June 30, 
2014) should not be considered an indicator of expected compensation levels in future periods.  All 
compensation is subject to and dependant on the Company’s financial resources and prospects. 
 
Set out below are particulars of individuals who would be considered named executive officers (“NEOs”): 
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(a) the Company’s CEO; 
 

(b) the Company’s chief financial officer (“CFO”); 
 
(c) each of the Company’s three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 

compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually, more than 
$150,000; and 
 

(d) each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was 
neither an executive officer of the Company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that 
financial year. 

 
As at June 30, 2014, the end of the most recently completed financial year of the Company, the Company 
had two NEOs.  
 
Summary Compensation  
 
The following table sets forth all annual and long term compensation for the financial year ended June 30, 
2014, for services in all capacities to the Company in respect of the Company’s NEOs.  
 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Year 
Ended 
June 

30  
Salary 

($) 

Share-
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Option-
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Compensation ($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans 

Long-
Term 

Incentive 
Plans 

Michael 
Arguijo  
President 
and CEO(3) 

 
2014 

 
30,166(1) 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
30,166 

 
 

Richard 
Schroeder 
CFO and 
Corporate 
Secretary(3) 

 
2014 

 
5,365(2) 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
Nil 

 

 
5,365 

 

 
Notes: 
(1) Paid as consulting fees for services commencing in May 2014, prior to establishment of status as employee of SAOC. 
(2) Represents one month salary paid to Mr. Schroeder in June. 
(3) As at the date of this Prospectus, Mr. Arguijo is paid a monthly salary of US$7,500 and Mr. Schroeder is paid a monthly 

salary of $4,000. 
 
Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

 
The Company has not granted any share-based awards to the NEOs. 
 
The Company had not granted any option-based awards to the NEOs as at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year.  Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the Company granted stock options to the CEO 
and CFO, which grants will be effective on the Listing Date (see “Options to Purchase Securities”). 
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Incentive Plan Awards 
 
The Company has no Incentive Plan in place and therefore there were no awards made under any 
incentive plan to the NEOs during the Company’s most recently completed financial year. An “Incentive 
Plan” is a plan providing compensation that depends on achieving certain performance goals or similar 
conditions within a specified period. 

 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 
There are no other plans or arrangements with respect to compensation of the Company’s executive officers 
which would result from the resignation, retirement or any other termination of the executive officers’ 
employment with the Company and its subsidiaries or from any change of control of the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company or a change in the executive officers’ responsibilities following a change of 
control. 
 
Compensation of Directors 
 
No cash compensation was paid to any director of the Company for the directors’ services as a director 
during the financial year ended June 30, 2014, other than the reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The Board of Directors has approved the following cash compensation for directors: 
 
• $25,000 annually for each independent director; 
• $30,000 annually for the Chairman of the Board of Directors; and 
• an additional: 

o $3,000 annually for committee members, for each committee they serve on; or 
o $5,000 annually for the chair of each committee, for each committee they chair, other 

than the Audit Committee; or 
o $10,000 annually for the chair of the Audit Committee.  

 
Subsequently, the Board of Directors agreed to defer all compensation payments to the Board of 
Directors. Reinstatement of compensation payments to the Board of Directors will be at such later date to 
be determined by the Company. The Company has not granted any share-based awards to its directors. 
 
The Company had not granted any options to the directors, who are not NEOs, as at the end of the most 
recently completed financial year. Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the Company granted stock options to the 
directors, who are not NEOs, which grants will be effective on the Listing Date (see “Options to Purchase 
Securities”).  
 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
Other than routine indebtedness for travel and other expense advances, no existing or proposed director or 
officer of the Company or any associate of any of them, was indebted to the Company as at June 30, 
2014, or is currently indebted to the Company. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Audit Committee Disclosure 
 
Pursuant to Section 224(1) of the BCBCA the Company is required to have an Audit Committee 
comprised of not less than three directors, a majority of whom are not officers or employees of the 
Company or an affiliate of the  Company.  
 
The primary function of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors in 
fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing: (a) the financial reports and other financial 
information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities and shareholders; (b) the systems for 
internal corporate controls which have been established by the Board of Directors and management; and 
(c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting processes generally. In meeting these responsibilities 
the Audit Committee monitors the financial reporting process and internal control system; reviews and 
appraises the work of external auditors and provides an avenue of communication between the external 
auditors, senior management and the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee is also mandated to 
review and approve all material related party transactions. 
 
Composition of the Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is comprised of the following members: John G. Turner, Barry Loughlin and 
Donald A. Sharpe.  Mr. Turner is the Chair of the Audit Committee.  Messrs. Turner and Loughlin are 
considered to be independent, while Mr. Sharpe is not considered independent as an officer of the 
Company. Each member of the Committee is considered to be financially literate as defined by NI 52-110 
in that they have the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and 
level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of 
the issues that can presumably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Relevant Education and Experience 
 
John G. Turner, Chair - Mr. Turner has 18 years of accounting and finance experience. He has a BBA in 
Accounting and a Masters in Business Administration, both from the McCombs School of Business at the 
University of Texas at Austin. 
 
Barry Loughlin - Mr. Loughlin holds a BComm from the University of British Columbia along with a 
CPA, CMA designation issued in British Columbia. He has experience in accounting and finance, 
primarily in manufacturing and distribution environments. This included 8 years in a senior financial role 
with Masonite International Corporation (a NYSE listed company), a manufacturer of interior and 
exterior doors. 
 
Donald A. Sharpe - Mr. Sharpe is a professional geophysicist with over 30 years of experience in the oil 
and gas business, in exploration, production, marketing, finance and the management of public 
companies.  Operating under the umbrella of D. Sharpe Management Inc., Mr. Sharpe has consulted to, 
managed and served as a director of a number of start-up oil and gas companies.  Mr. Sharpe has served 
as a director of TSX-V listed companies.  He received a Bachelor of Science degree in Geophysics from 
the University of British Columbia in 1981, a Certificate in Business Management from the University of 
Calgary in 1989, and graduated from the Banff School of Advanced Management in 1991.  Mr. Sharpe 
graduated from the ICD – Rotman Directors Education Program in May, 2013.   
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The Audit Committee’s Charter 
 
The Company has adopted a Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, a copy of which is 
annexed hereto as Schedule B. 
 
Audit Committee Oversight 
 
Since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year, the Board of Directors 
has not failed to adopt a recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external 
auditor. 
 
Reliance on Certain Exemptions 
 
Since its incorporation, the Company has not relied on the exemptions contained in section 2.4 or section 8 
of NI 52-110. Section 2.4 provides an exemption from the requirement that the audit committee must pre-
approve all non-audit services to be provided by the auditor, where the total amount of fees related to the 
non-audit services are not expected to exceed 5% of the total fees payable to the auditor in the fiscal year in 
which the non-audit services were provided. Section 8 permits a company to apply to a securities regulatory 
authority for an exemption from the requirements of NI 52-110, in whole or in part. 
 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 
 
The Audit Committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 
services.  Subject to the requirements of NI 52-110, the engagement of non-audit services is considered by 
the Board of Directors, and where applicable the Audit Committee, on a case-by-case basis. 
 
External Auditor Service Fees 
 
The fees billed by the Company’s external auditor during the period ended June 30, 2014 for audit and non-
audit related services provided to the Company and SAOC are as follows: 
 

Financial Year 
End 

Audit Fees(1) Audit Related 
Fees(2) 

Tax Fees(3) All Other Fees (4) 

June 30, 2014 22,500 15,000 Nil Nil 
 
Notes: 
(1) Aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditor. 
(2) Fees charged for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of an audit, and not included 

under Audit Fees. In particular, these included fees for audit related services in connection with the Company’s convertible 
debenture financing.  

(3) Fees charged for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services. 
(4) Fees for services other than disclosed in any other column. 
 
Exemption 
 
The Company is relying on the exemption provided by section 6.1 of NI 52-110 which provides that the 
Company, as a venture issuer, is not required to comply with Parts 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) 
and 5 (Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Board of Directors, the members of which are elected 
by and are accountable to the shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of 
management who are appointed by the Board of Directors and charged with the day to day management 
of the Company. The Canadian Securities Administrators have implemented NI 58-101, which prescribes 
certain disclosure by the Company of its corporate governance practices. This disclosure is presented 
below. 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors currently consists of five directors. The Board of Directors has considered the 
independence of each of its current directors. Consistent with NI 58-101, to be considered independent, 
the Board of Directors must conclude that a director has no material relationship with the Company. A 
“material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board of Directors, reasonably 
interfere with the exercise of a director’s independent judgment and includes an indirect material 
relationship. 
 
The Board of Directors has concluded that three directors, John G. Turner, Michael J. Black and Barry 
Loughlin, are “independent” for purposes of membership on the Board of Directors, as provided in NI 58-
101. Michael Arguijo, CEO of the Company, and Donald A. Sharpe, Chairman of the Board, are not 
“independent” for purposes of membership on the Board of Directors, as provided in NI 58-101. 
 
Other Directorships 
 
The following table sets forth the Directors of the Company who are Directors of other reporting issuers: 
 

Name Name of other reporting issuer 

Michael Arguijo Outrider Energy Corp. 

Donald A. Sharpe Black Springs Capital Corp. 
Oyster Oil and Gas Ltd. 
Outrider Energy Corp. 

John G. Turner None 

Michael J. Black Essential Energy Services Ltd. 
High North Resources Ltd. 

Barry Loughlin Outrider Energy Corp. 
Q Investments Ltd. 

 
Orientation and Continuing Education  
 
Orientation of new members of the Board of Directors is conducted informally by management and 
members of the Board of Directors. The Company has not adopted formal policies respecting continuing 
education for  members of the Board of Directors. 
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Ethical Business Conduct 
 
The Board of Directors has not adopted a formal code of business conduct and ethics. The Board of 
Directors is of the view that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s 
governing legislation and common law together with corporate statutory restrictions on an individual 
Director’s participation in decisions of the Board of Directors in which the Director has an interest are 
sufficient to ensure that the Board of Directors operates independently of management and in the best 
interests of the Company. 
 
Compensation and Nomination of Directors 
 
The Company has a compensation, nomination and governance committee (the “Compensation, 
Nomination and Governance Committee”) comprised of Michael J. Black and John G. Turner, 
independent directors, and Donald A. Sharpe, non-independent director. Mr. Black serves as Chair of the 
Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee. The Compensation, Nomination and 
Governance Committee has been established to: 
 
• monitor and assess the effectiveness of the governance of the Company by the Board of 

Directors; 
• develop and recommend to the Board of Directors corporate governance practices which are 

effective and suitable for the Company; 
• identify and recommend to the Board of Directors qualified and suitable individuals for 

nomination to the Board of Directors; 
• oversee the Board of Directors’ annual evaluation of its performance; 
• review, approve and report to the Board of Directors on major compensation plans, policies and 

programs of the Company; and 
• oversee the preparation of the Company’s public disclosure regarding executive compensation 

practices. 
 
Other Board Committees 
 
The Company has a reserves committee (the “Reserves Committee”) comprised of Donald A. Sharpe 
and Barry Loughlin, independent directors, and Michael Arguijo, non-independent director. Mr. Arguijo 
serves as Chair of the Reserves Committee. The Reserves Committee has been established to: 
 
• review the Company’s procedures relating to the reporting and disclosure of information with 

respect to oil and gas activities, and provision of information to independent evaluators; 
• meet with management and the independent evaluator to determine whether any restrictions 

placed by management affect the ability of the evaluator to report without reservation; 
• approve the appointment of the independent evaluator; and 
• provide a recommendation to the Board of Directors as to whether to approve the content and 

filing of the statement of reserves data. 
 
The Company has a health, safety and environment committee (the “Health, Safety and Environment 
Committee”) comprised of Michael J. Black and Barry Loughlin, independent directors, and Michael 
Arguijo, non-independent director. Mr. Loughlin serves as Chair of the Health, Safety and Environment 
Committee. The Health, Safety and Environment Committee, has been established to review and monitor 
the Company’s operations with respect to protecting the natural surroundings, providing a safe and 
healthy work environment and permitting the responsible and cost-effective extraction of natural 
resources.  

65 



 
 

 
Assessments 

The Company has a limited period of existence, having been incorporated on February 11, 2014.  
Accordingly, the Board of Directors has not carried out any performance reviews.  The Board of Directors 
intends to implement an annual performance review process for the Board of Directors, members of the 
Board of Directors and its committees. 
 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 
Pursuant to this Prospectus, the Company, through the Agent, is offering 5,000,000 Units to the public at 
a price of $0.20 per Unit, for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,000,000.  Each Unit is comprised of one 
Offering Share and one Warrant.  Each Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to acquire one Warrant 
Share upon payment of the exercise price of $0.30 at any time prior to 1:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the 
date which is 24 months from the Listing Date. The Warrants will be administered pursuant to the 
Warrant Indenture.  See “Description of Securities Distributed- Warrants- Warrant Indenture”.  This 
Prospectus qualifies the distribution of 5,000,000 Units.   
 
The TSX-V has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares and the Warrants.  Listing of 
the Common Shares and the Warrants is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the 
TSX-V on or before April 23, 2015.   As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of 
its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to 
apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a 
marketplace outside Canada and the U.S.   
 
Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has granted to the Agents an Over-Allotment 
Option exercisable, in whole or in part, from time to time, if the Offering is completed and in the sole 
discretion of the Agent, at any time up to the Closing Date, to cover over-allotments, if any, and for 
market stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised by the Agent, the Company will 
issue up to 750,000 Over-Allotment Units to the public under this Prospectus at a price of $0.20 per Over-
Allotment Unit, for additional gross proceeds of up to $150,000.  Each Over-Allotment Unit is comprised 
of one Over-Allotment Share and one Over-Allotment Warrant. Each Over-Allotment Warrant will entitle 
the holder thereof to acquire one Over-Allotment Warrant Share upon payment of the exercise price of 
$0.30 at any time prior to 1:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date which is 24 months from the Listing 
Date. The Over-Allotment Warrants will be administered pursuant to the Warrant Indenture.  See 
“Description of Securities Distributed- Warrants- Warrant Indenture”.  This Prospectus qualifies the 
distribution of up to 750,000 Over-Allotment Units.  
 
The Offering is being made on a commercially reasonable efforts basis and is subject to a minimum 
aggregate subscription of 5,000,000 Units within 90 days of the Effective Date.  All subscription funds 
received will be held by the Agent and if subscriptions for the entire Offering are not received within the 
90 day period, subscription monies will be returned to subscribers without interest or deduction.  If the 
Offering is not fully subscribed within 90 days from the Effective Date, the Offering may continue if the 
British Columbia Securities Commission gives its consent to an extension of time and an amendment has 
been filed with them and sent to all subscribers who subscribed during the 90 day period.  The maximum 
distribution period for the Offering is 180 days from November 18, 2014, the date the Company received 
a final receipt for its prospectus dated November 14, 2014. 
 
Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Company has engaged the Agent as its exclusive agent for the 
purposes of the Offering, and the Company, through the Agent, hereby offers for sale to the public under 
this Prospectus, on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, the Units to be issued and sold under the 
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Offering at the Offering Price, subject to prior sale if, as and when issued. The Offering Price was 
established through negotiation between the Company and the Agent.   
 
The Agent may, in connection with the Offering subject to prior review by the Company, retain one or 
more Selling Firms and may receive subscriptions for Units from such Selling Firms.  The Agent is not 
obligated to purchase any of the Units in connection with the Offering.   
 
The Offering is being made in each of the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. 
The Offering Shares will be offered in each of the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and 
Ontario, through the Agent or their affiliates who are registered to offer the Units for sale in such 
provinces and such other registered dealers as may be designated by the Agent. Subject to applicable 
laws, the Agent may offer the Units outside of Canada. 
 
The Units offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any 
securities or “blue sky” laws of any state of the U.S.  Accordingly, the Units may not be offered or sold, 
directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the benefit or account of, any U.S. Person, 
except in accordance with an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable state securities laws.  The Agency Agreement permits the Agent, through registered U.S. 
broker dealer affiliates, to offer Units to Qualified Institutional Buyers (as defined in Rule 144A of the 
U.S. Securities Act) and “accredited investors” that satisfy one or more of the criteria set forth in Rule 
501(a) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act, pursuant to exemptions from the registration 
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.  In addition, the Agency 
Agreement provides that the Agent will offer and sell the Units outside the U.S. in compliance with 
Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act. 
 
The Warrants may not be exercised in the United States or by, or on behalf of, a U.S. Person unless an 
exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable securities laws 
of any state of the United States is available to the holder and the holder has furnished an opinion of 
counsel of recognized standing to such effect, or other evidence of such exemption, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 
 
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation to buy any of the Units in the U.S.  In 
addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, an offer or sale of the Units or Offering 
Shares within the U.S. by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in 
accordance with an available exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act. 
 
Other than Units sold in the U.S. and other international jurisdictions which may be represented by 
individual certificates representing the Offering Shares and Warrants, one or more book entry-only 
certificates representing each of the Offering Shares and Warrants will be issued in registered form to 
CDS or its nominee and deposited with CDS on the Closing Date.  With respect to the Offering Shares 
and Warrants, a Purchaser (other than a Purchaser in the U.S. or other international jurisdiction) will 
receive only a customer confirmation from the registered dealer through which the Offering Shares and 
Warrants are purchased. The Warrant Shares will be issued in book-entry form by Computershare 
Investor Services Inc., and the Purchasers will receive a direct registration statement on exercise of their 
Warrants. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay the Agent the Agent’s 
Commission equal to 8% of the gross proceeds received from the sale of the Units under the Offering 
(excluding any proceeds received from the President’s List Purchasers on which the Agent will be entitled 
to receive 4%). 
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Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to the Agent an Agent’s 
Option.  The Agent’s Option entitles the Agent to purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 8% 
of the Units sold by the Agent under the Offering, excluding any Units sold to President’s List Purchasers 
on which the Agent will be entitled to purchase such number of Common Shares as is equal to 4% of the 
Units sold to such President’s List Purchasers. The maximum number of Agent’s Shares that may be 
issued, assuming there are no President’s List Purchasers, is 400,000. The Agent’s Option may be 
exercised in whole or in part at any time prior to 4:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date which is twenty-
four (24) months from the Listing Date upon the payment of the exercise price of $0.20 per Agent’s 
Share. This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent’s Option.   
 
Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to the Agent the Agent’s 
Over-Allotment Option. The Agent’s Over-Allotment Option entitles the Agent to purchase that number 
of Common Shares equal to 8% of the Over-Allotment Units sold by the Agent pursuant to the Over-
Allotment Option, excluding any Over-Allotment Units sold to President’s List Purchasers on which the 
Agent will receive 4%. The maximum number of Agent’s Shares that may be issued, assuming there are 
no President’s List Purchasers, is 60,000. The Agent’s Over-Allotment Option may be exercised in whole 
or in part at any time prior to 4:30 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date which is twenty-four (24) months 
from the Listing Date upon the payment of the exercise price of $0.20 per Agent’s Over-Allotment Share. 
This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent’s Over-Allotment Option.   
  
Pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has paid the Agent a corporate finance fee 
of $10,000 plus applicable GST. Pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Company has also 
agreed to pay the Agent’s reasonable expenses in connection with the Offering, including legal expenses 
(such legal fees of Agent’s counsel not to exceed $32,500 exclusive of taxes and disbursements) and the 
Agent’s reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (such expenses not to exceed $15,000 exclusive of taxes and 
disbursements). 
  
The Agent, the directors, officers, employees and affiliates thereof and the associates of each of them, 
own or control, as of the date of this Prospectus, 165,000 Common Shares representing 1.04% of the 
outstanding Common Shares of the Company, and 82,500 warrants representing 2.23% of the outstanding 
warrants of the Company. See “Escrowed Securities- Seed Share Resale Restrictions- Non-Principals- 
Units”. 
 
The obligations of the Agent under the Agency Agreement may be terminated at any time before the 
Closing Date at the Agent’s discretion on the basis of the assessment of the state of the financial markets 
and may also be terminated at any time on the occurrence of certain stated events. 
  
Subscriptions will be received for the Units and Over-Allotment Units offered hereby subject to rejection 
or allotment in whole or in part and the right is reserved to the Company to close the subscription books 
at any time. Upon rejection of a subscription, or in the event that the Offering does not complete within 
the time required, the subscription price and the subscription will be returned to the Purchaser forthwith.  
 

RISK FACTORS 
 
An investment in the Company’s securities is highly speculative due to the nature of the Company’s 
involvement in the exploration for, and the acquisition, development and production of, oil and natural 
gas properties in the U.S. The Company’s business is subject to the risks normally encountered in the oil 
and natural gas industry such as the marketability of, and prices for, oil and natural gas, competition with 
companies having greater resources, acquisition, exploration and production risks, need for capital, 
fluctuations in the market price and demand for oil and natural gas, the regulation of the oil and natural 
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gas industry by various levels of government and public protests. The success of further exploration or 
development projects cannot be assured. In addition, the Company’s operations are primarily outside of 
Canada and are subject to risks arising from political instability, foreign exchange and foreign regulatory 
regimes. Investors must rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good faith of 
the directors and officers of the Company. 
 
In addition to the other information contained in this Prospectus, prospective investors should carefully 
review and consider the risk factors set forth below before a decision is made to invest in the Company. 
Such risks may not be the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks not currently known may also 
impair the Company’s business operations and results of operation. 
 
An investment in the Units and Over-Allotment Units is highly speculative and should only be made by 
persons who can afford to risk a significant or total loss of their investment. 
 
Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry 
 
Volatility of Pricing  for Oil and Natural Gas 
 
The price of oil and natural gas is highly dependent on a number of factors, including worldwide 
supply and demand levels, energy policies, weather, competitiveness of alternative energy sources, global 
economic and political developments and the volatile trading patterns of the commodity futures markets 
and a variety of additional factors beyond the control of the Company.  These factors include economic 
conditions in the U.S. and Canada, the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, 
governmental regulation, and political stability in the Middle East and elsewhere, the foreign supply of oil 
and natural gas, the price of foreign imports and the availability of alternative fuel sources. Changes in oil 
and natural gas prices will have an impact on the Company’s valuation of reserves.  International oil 
and natural gas prices have fluctuated widely in recent years and more recently have experienced a 
significant drop. Lower oil and natural gas prices will adversely affect the Company’s revenues, 
business, and financial condition, and the valuation of its reserves.  In periods of sharply lower 
commodity prices, the Company may curtail production and capital spending projects as well as defer or 
delay drilling wells because of lower cash flows. 
 
An extension of the current decline in the price of oil and natural gas would have an adverse effect on the 
Company's carrying value of its reserves, borrowing capacity, revenues, profitability and cash flows from 
operations. The Reserve Report was prepared effective June 30, 2014 using projected future oil and gas 
prices that are significantly higher than current prices (see “Statement of Reserves Data and Other Oil and 
Gas Information”).  Volatile oil and natural gas prices make it difficult to estimate the value of producing 
properties for acquisition and often cause disruption in the market for oil and natural gas producing 
properties, as buyers and sellers have difficulty agreeing on such value. Price volatility also makes it 
difficult to budget for and project the return on acquisitions and development and exploitation projects. 
 
Global Demand For Oil and Natural Gas 
 
Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, increasing consumer demand for alternatives 
to oil and natural gas, and technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices could 
reduce the demand for oil and other liquid hydrocarbons. The Company cannot predict the causes or 
effects of changing demand for oil and natural gas products, and any major changes may have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, operations and cash flows. 
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Exploration, Development Production and General Operational Risks 
 
The exploration for, and production of, oil and other natural resources is speculative and involves a high 
degree of risk that even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able 
to overcome. In particular, the operations of the Company may be disrupted by a variety of risks and 
hazards which are beyond the control of the Company, including environmental hazards, industrial 
accidents, occupational and health hazards, technical failures, labour disputes, earthquakes, unusual or 
unexpected geological formations, flooding, earthquake and extended interruptions due to inclement or 
hazardous weather conditions, terrorist attacks, explosions and other accidents. These risks and hazards 
could also result in damage to or destruction of wells or production facilities, damage to the 
Company’s reputation, personal injury, environmental damage, business interruption, monetary losses 
and possible legal liability. 
 
Delays in the construction and commissioning of projects or other technical difficulties may result in 
adjustments to the Company’s current or future projected target dates for production or may require 
further capital expenditures. If the Company fails to meet its work or expenditure obligations, the rights 
granted to the Company under the various agreements, licences and concessions in each of the 
jurisdictions in which the Company operates may be forfeited and the Company may be liable to pay 
large sums, which could jeopardize its ability to continue operations. 
 
The Company’s future drilling activities, if they commence, are expected to be subject to many risks. For 
example, the Company cannot assure prospective investors that wells will be drilled, that exploration 
wells will discover hydrocarbons and, if so, that future development wells drilled by the Company 
will be productive or that the Company will recover all or any portion of its investment in such 
wells. Drilling for oil and natural gas often involves unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells but 
also from wells that are productive but do not produce sufficient quantities of oil or natural gas to 
return a profit at then realized prices after deducting drilling, operating and other costs. The seismic data 
and other technologies the Company expects to use do not allow the Company to know conclusively 
prior to drilling a well that oil or natural gas is present or that it can be produced economically. The 
costs of exploration, exploitation and development activities are subject to numerous uncertainties 
beyond the Company’s control, and increases in those costs can adversely affect the economics of a 
project. While diligent well supervision and effective maintenance operations can contribute to 
maximizing production rates over time, production delays and declines from normal field operating 
conditions cannot be eliminated and can be expected to adversely affect revenue and cash flow levels to 
varying degrees 
 
The long-term commercial success of the Company depends on its ability to find, acquire, develop and 
commercially produce oil and natural gas reserves. The future value of the Company is therefore 
dependent on the success of the Company's activities, which are principally directed toward the 
exploration, appraisal and development of its properties in the U.S. Exploration, appraisal and 
development of oil and natural gas properties is highly speculative and involves a significant degree of 
risk. Without the continual addition of new reserves, any existing reserves that the Company may 
discover or acquire at any particular time and the production therefrom will decline over time as such 
existing reserves are exploited. Any discovery of or future increase in the Company's reserves will depend 
not only on its ability to explore and develop any properties it may have from time to time, but also on its 
ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects.  No assurance can be given that 
the Company will be able to continue to locate satisfactory properties for acquisition or participation.  
Moreover, if such acquisitions or participations are identified, the Company may determine that current 
markets, terms of acquisition and participation or pricing conditions make such acquisitions or 
participations uneconomical. There is no assurance that commercial quantities of oil and natural gas will 
be discovered or acquired by the Company.   
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Delays in Production, Marketing and Transportation 
 
Various production, marketing and transportation conditions may cause delays in oil production and 
adversely affect the Company’s business. Drilling wells in areas remote from distribution and 
production facilities may delay production from those wells until sufficient reserves are established to 
justify construction of the necessary transportation and production facilities. The Company’s inability to 
complete wells in a timely manner would result in production delays. 
 
In addition, marketing demands, which tend to be seasonal, may reduce or delay production from 
wells. The marketability and price of oil and natural gas that may be acquired or discovered by the 
Company will be affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company.   The ability of the 
Company to market its oil and natural gas may depend upon its ability to acquire space on pipelines that 
deliver oil and natural gas to commercial markets. The Company is also subject to market fluctuations in 
the prices of oil and natural gas, deliverability uncertainties related to the proximity of its reserves to 
adequate pipeline and processing facilities and extensive government regulation relating to price, taxes, 
royalties, licences, land tenure, allowable production, the export of oil and natural gas and many other 
aspects of the oil and natural gas business. Moreover, weather conditions may impede the 
transportation and delivery of oil and natural gas. 
 
Drilling Costs and Availability of Equipment 
 
The oil and natural gas industry is capital intensive. The oil and natural gas industry historically has 
experienced periods of rapid cost increases.  Increases in the cost of exploration and development 
would affect the Company’s ability to invest in prospects and to purchase or hire equipment, supplies 
and services. 
 
Oil and natural gas exploration and development activities are dependent on the availability of drilling 
and related equipment in the particular areas where such activities will be conducted.  Demand for such 
limited equipment or access restrictions may affect the availability of such equipment to the Company 
and may delay exploration and development activities. The reduced availability of equipment and 
services may delay the Company’s ability to exploit reserves and adversely affect its operations and 
profitability. 
 
Global Financial Conditions  
 
Global financial conditions may be subject to high volatility which could result, as they have in the 
past, in numerous commercial and financial enterprises either going into bankruptcy or creditor 
protection or having had to be rescued by governmental authorities.  In recent years, access to public 
financing has been negatively impacted by sub-prime mortgage defaults in the U.S., the liquidity crisis 
affecting the asset-backed commercial paper and collateralized debt obligation markets, massive 
investment losses by banks with resultant recapitalization efforts and a deterioration in the global 
economy. More recently, the European debt crisis has affected equity investor sentiment and, if it 
worsens, could also affect worldwide credit markets, which might impact the Company. As such, the 
Company is subject to counterparty risk and liquidity risk. The Company is exposed to various 
counterparty risks including, but not limited to: (i) through financial institutions that hold the Company's 
cash; (ii) through companies that have payables to the Company; and (iii) through the Company's 
insurance providers. The Company is also exposed to liquidity risks in meeting its operating expenditure 
requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be maintained or appropriate financing is 
unavailable. These factors may impact the ability of the Company to obtain loans and other credit 
facilities in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Company. If these increased levels of 
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market volatility and reduced liquidity continue, the Company's operations could be adversely impacted 
and the trading price of the Common Shares could be adversely affected. 
 
Notwithstanding various actions by governments, concerns about the general condition of the capital 
markets, financial instruments, banks, investment banks, insurers and other financial institutions can 
cause the broader credit markets to further deteriorate and stock markets to decline substantially. Banks 
have been adversely affected by the worldwide economic crisis and have somewhat curtailed existing 
liquidity lines, increased pricing and introduced new and tighter borrowing restrictions to corporate 
borrowers, with limited access to new facilities or for new borrowers.  These factors, if they were to 
reoccur, could negatively impact the Company’s ability to access liquidity needed for the Company’s 
business in the longer term. These factors may impact the Company’s future ability to obtain equity, 
debt or bank financing on terms favourable to the Company, or at all. Additionally, these factors, as 
well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than 
temporary, which may result in impairment losses. In addition, certain of the Company’s customers 
could be unable to pay the Company, in the event that they are unable to access the capital markets to 
fund their business operations. 
 
Natural Disasters and Weather-Related Risks 
 
The Company is subject to operating hazards normally associated with the exploration and production 
of oil and natural gas, including blow-outs, explosions, oil spills, cratering, pollution, earthquakes, 
hurricanes and fires. The occurrence of any such operating hazards could result in substantial losses to 
the Company due to injury or loss of life and damage to or destruction of oil and natural gas wells, 
formations, production facilities or other properties. 
 
Government Regulation 
 
The oil and natural gas industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels 
of government. It is not expected that any of these controls or regulations will affect the operations of the 
Company in a manner materially different than they would affect other oil and gas companies of similar 
size. All current legislation is a matter of public record and the Company is unable to predict what 
additional legislation or amendments may be enacted. 
 
Hydraulic Fracturing 
  
Hydraulic fracturing is the process of pumping a fluid or a gas under pressure down a well, which 
causes the surrounding rock to crack or fracture. The fluid, typically consisting of water, sand, 
chemicals and other additives, flows into the cracks where the sand remains to keep the cracks open 
and allow natural gas or liquids to be recovered. Fracturing fluids are produced back to the surface 
through the wellbore and are stored for reuse or future disposal in accordance with applicable 
regulations, which may include injection into underground wells. While hydraulic fracturing has 
been in use and improved upon for many years, there has been increased focus on environmental 
aspects of hydraulic fracturing practices recently. The Company’s corporate reputation may be 
negatively affected by the negative public perception and public protests against hydraulic 
fracturing, and oil and natural gas development generally. Increased regulation and attention given to 
the hydraulic fracturing process could lead to greater opposition, including litigation, to oil and 
natural gas production activities using hydraulic fracturing techniques. Additional legislation or 
regulation could also lead to operational delays or increased operating costs in the production of oil 
and gas, or could make it more difficult to perform hydraulic fracturing, which could adversely 
affect the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Risks Related to the Company 
 
Limited Operating History 
 
The Company was incorporated on February 11, 2014 and has a limited operating history.  The Company 
has not received any revenue to date from activities on the Orb Prospect and, since incorporation, the 
Company has relied on sales of equity and debt securities to meet its cash requirements.  There can be no 
assurance that funding from these or other sources will be sufficient in the future to satisfy operational 
requirements and cash commitments.  Investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative 
given the nature of the Company's business and its current early stage of development. 
 
Risks Relating to Negative Cash Flow 
 
The Company had negative operating cash flow from operating activities for the period from incorporation 
on February 11, 2014 to June 30, 2014, as well as the period ended September 30, 2014. 
 
Lack of cash flow from the Company’s operating activities could impede its ability to raise capital through 
debt or equity financing as required to fund its business operations. In addition, continued working capital 
deficiencies could negatively impact the Company’s ability to satisfy its obligations promptly as they 
become due. The Company is not currently operating under a working capital deficiency, but requires 
additional financing to ensure it can continue to maintain a positive working capital position. If the 
Company does not generate sufficient cash flow from operating activities it will remain dependent upon 
external financing sources. There can be no assurance that such sources of financing will be available on 
acceptable terms or at all. If the Company raises additional funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to 
the holders of the Company’s securities may result. 
 
Holding Company 
 
The Company is a holding company with limited material assets related to office operations and all of its 
material assets (other than a portion of cash and cash equivalents) and operations are held and conducted 
through its subsidiary, SAOC, located outside of Canada.  The Company will maintain control over 
SAOC as it is the sole shareholder of SAOC. The board of directors (managers) of SAOC is elected by 
the parent corporation and it holds the power to remove directors or officers without the requirement of a 
shareholder meeting. The directors (or managers) are vested with the power to manage the business and 
affairs of the subsidiary corporation and may delegate that authority to officers appointed by the directors 
(or managers).  The directors (or managers) are also responsible for the dismissal of the officers of 
SAOC.  
 
All of the securities of the Company's U.S. subsidiary, SAOC, are held by the Company. The directors are 
John G. Turner, Michael Arguijo and Donald Sharpe, and each have experience with oil and gas 
companies operating in the U.S. including operations and finance. See "Directors and Officers" for their 
specific experience, backgrounds and educational qualifications. 
 
Foreign Subsidiary 
 
The Company will conduct operations through its foreign subsidiary, SAOC, and substantially all of its 
assets will be held in such entity.  Any material change in the business, operations or capital of SAOC 
would be a material change for the Company. Currently, and for the foreseeable future, all of the 
Company’s assets are located in the U.S. and held by SAOC. The ability of such subsidiary to make 
payments to the Company may be constrained by certain factors including the level of taxation, 
particularly corporate profits and withholding taxes, in the U.S. Any limitation on the transfer of cash or 
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other assets between the Company and such entity could restrict the Company’s ability to fund its 
operations efficiently. Any such limitations, or the perception that such limitations may exist now or in 
the future, may adversely affect the Company’s business and results of operations and cash flows. The 
Company views this risk to be minimal in the context of North American operation, however, it intends to 
mitigate against the potential risks by maintaining sufficient working capital within the Canadian parent 
corporation and control and direction of the payments for the liabilities of the U.S. subsidiary of the 
Canadian parent corporation. 
 
Risks of Foreign Operations Generally 
 
The Company’s oil and natural gas properties and operations are located in a foreign jurisdiction. As 
such, the Company’s operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign government policies 
and legislation (which in some instances may apply retrospectively) or social instability and other factors 
which are not within the control of the Company, including, but not limited to, corruption, 
unenforceability of contract rights, nationalization and expropriation of assets or other related property 
without receiving fair compensation, renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions and 
contracts, changes in governments or senior government officials, the imposition of specific drilling 
obligations and the development and abandonment of fields, changes in energy policies, foreign 
investment policies, policies relating to the ownership of mineral interests, or the personnel 
administering them, changes in oil and natural gas pricing policies, the actions of national labour 
unions, currency fluctuations and devaluations, exchange controls, economic sanctions and royalty 
and tax increases and other risks arising out of foreign governmental sovereignty over the areas in 
which the Company’s operations are conducted, as well as risks of loss due to civil strife, acts of war, 
terrorism, guerrilla activities and insurrections. The Company’s operations may also be adversely 
affected by laws and policies of the U.S. affecting foreign trade, taxation and investment. If the 
Company’s operations are disrupted and/or the economic integrity of its projects is threatened for 
unexpected reasons, its business may be harmed. Prolonged problems may threaten the commercial 
viability of its operations. 
 
The Company's operations may be adversely affected by laws and policies of Canada affecting 
foreign trade, taxation and investment. Acquiring interests and conducting exploration and development 
operations in foreign jurisdictions often require compliance with numerous and extensive procedures and 
formalities. These procedures and formalities may result in unexpected or lengthy delays in commencing 
important business activities. For example, the Company’s operations will require licenses, permits and 
in some cases renewals of licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. These 
licenses and permits are subject to numerous requirements, including compliance with the 
environmental regulations of the local governments. In some cases, failure to follow such formalities 
or obtain relevant licenses, permits or evidence may call into question the validity of the entity or 
the actions taken, and prevent of delay drilling and subject the Company to civil or criminal liability 
or fines. Management is unable to predict the effect of additional corporate and regulatory formalities 
which may be adopted in the future including whether any such laws or regulations would materially 
increase the Company’s cost of doing business or affect its operations in any area. 
 
Future Funding Requirements 
 
The proceeds from the Offering and any future operating revenue of the Company, if any, may not be 
sufficient to fund its ongoing activities and debt obligations at all times, and from time to time, it will 
likely require additional financing.  On closing of the Offering the Company will have sufficient resources 
to meet the obligations of its outstanding convertible debentures for the 12 months following completion of 
the Offering, however, may not have sufficient resources beyond that time, unless funds are obtained from 
production activities or other sources.  The convertible debentures are secured by a first charge over all the 
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assets owned by the Company and SAOC, including (but not limited to) the Orb Prospect.  There is risk that 
if the economy, banking industry or commodity markets experience prolonged deterioration, the 
Company’s access to additional financing may be affected, and its interest in the Orb Prospect may be at 
risk.  Likewise, the Company may be unable to meet its future drilling obligations under the terms of the 
PSPA. 
 
Even if the results of exploration are encouraging, the Company may not have sufficient funds to conduct 
the further exploration that may be necessary to determine whether or not a commercially viable project 
exists on any of its properties. While the Company may generate additional working capital through 
further equity offerings or through the sale or possible syndication of its properties, there is no assurance 
that any such funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. If available, future 
equity financing may result in substantial dilution to Purchasers under the Offering. At present it is 
impossible to determine what amounts of additional funds, if any, may be required. 
 
The Company may from time to time have restricted access to capital and increased borrowing costs. 
Failure to obtain such financing on a timely basis could cause the Company to forfeit its interest in the 
Orb Prospect or its other properties, miss certain acquisition opportunities and reduce or terminate its 
operations.  To the extent that external sources of capital become limited, unavailable, or available on 
onerous terms, the Company’s ability to make capital investments and maintain existing assets may be 
impaired, and its assets, liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
affected materially and adversely as a result. In addition, the future development of the Company’s 
petroleum properties may require additional financing and there are no assurances that such financing 
will be available or, if available, will be available upon acceptable terms. Failure to obtain any 
financing necessary for the Company’s capital expenditure plans may result in a delay in development or 
production on its properties. 
 
No Assurance of Title 
 
Title to or rights in oil and gas interests is often not susceptible of determination without incurring 
substantial expense.  Title to oil and gas properties may involve certain inherent risks due to problems 
arising from the ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many such properties. Although 
title reviews will be done according to industry standards prior to the purchase of most oil and natural 
gas producing properties or the commencement of drilling wells, such reviews do not guarantee or 
certify that an unforeseen defect in the chain of title will not arise to defeat the claim of the Company.  To 
the extent title defects do exist, it is possible the Company may lose all or a portion of its right, title, 
estate and interest in and to the properties to which the title relates and/or result in a reduction of the 
revenue received by the Company. 
 
The Company may in the future acquire oil and natural gas properties and operations outside of Texas, 
which expansion may present challenges and risks that the Company has not faced in the past, any of 
which could adversely affect the results of operations and/or financial condition of the Company. 
 
Influence of Third Party Stakeholders 
 
The lands in which the Company holds an interest, or the exploration equipment and road or other means 
of access which the Company intends to utilize in carrying out its work programs or general business 
mandates, may be subject to interests or claims by third party individuals, groups or companies.  In the 
event that such third parties assert any claims, the Company's work programs may be delayed even if such 
claims are not meritorious. Such delays may result in significant financial loss and loss of opportunity for 
the Company. 
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Expiration of Licenses and Leases 
 
The Company's properties will be held in the form of licenses and leases and working interests in licenses 
and leases. If the Company or the holder of the license or lease fails to meet the specific requirement of a 
license or lease, the license or lease may terminate or expire. There can be no assurance that any of the 
obligations required to maintain each license or lease will be met. The termination or expiration of the 
Company's licenses or leases or the working interests relating to a license or lease may have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's results of operation and business. 
 
Expansion into New Activities 
 
The operations and expertise of the Company's management are currently focused primarily on 
conventional oil and gas acquisition, exploration and development in Texas.  In the future the Company 
may acquire or move into new industry related activities or new geographical areas, may acquire 
different energy related assets, and as a result may face unexpected risks or alternatively, significantly 
increase the Company's exposure to one or more existing risk factors, which may in turn result in the 
Company's future operational and financial conditions being adversely affected. 
 
Uncertainty of Reserves Figures 
 
Results of production expenditures, revenues and reserves will likely vary from estimates, and these 
variances may be material. Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are interpreted through geological, 
petro-physical and reservoir engineering data. Such interpretations are inherently uncertain, as are the 
projections of future rates of production and timing of development expenditures. The accuracy of the 
reserves estimates is a function of the quality of available data, engineering and geological interpretation 
and judgment. Factors such as historical production from the area compared with the production from 
other producing areas, assumed effects of governmental regulations, assumptions of future oil and natural 
gas prices, future operating costs, development costs and remedial workover costs, will affect the 
estimates of economically recoverable quantities and of future net cash flow. Any significant variance in 
the assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantity and value of reserves.  For example, the 
Reserve Report was prepared effective June 30, 2014 using projected future oil and gas prices that are 
significantly higher than current prices (see “Statement of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas 
Information”).  The Company’s reserves will be evaluated by an independent reserves evaluator each 
year. Copies of the Company’s oil and gas annual disclosure reports that are in accordance with NI 51-
101 will be available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
Value of Property 
 
The amounts attributed to the Company’s oil and natural gas properties in its financial statements 
represent acquisition and expenditures as at such financial statement date, and should not be taken to in 
any way reflect realizable value. 
 
Exploration Activities May Not Yield Oil or Natural Gas 
 
Geoscientists and engineers may believe, based on available seismic, geological and engineering 
information, that there may be indications of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas in the 
properties of the Company.  However, the use of seismic data and other technologies and the study of 
fields in the same area will not enable the Company to know conclusively prior to future drilling and 
testing whether oil or natural gas will be present or, if present, whether oil or natural gas will be present 
in sufficient quantities to recover drilling or completion costs or to be economically viable. Even if 
sufficient amounts of oil or natural gas exist, it is possible that the Company may damage the 
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reservoir or experience  mechanical difficulties while drilling or completing the well, resulting in a 
reduction in future production from the well or the abandonment of the well.  The Company will be 
materially and adversely affected by drilling wells that are later identified as dry holes. 
 
Uncertainty of Cost Estimates 
 
Due to the nature of the Company’s business and the early stage of development of the Company’s 
oil and gas business, the Company is unable to estimate costs, including infrastructure improvement 
costs, transportation costs, seismic and drilling costs and production costs for its exploration and 
development plans, with complete accuracy. The inability of the Company to estimate these costs could 
affect the commerciality of the reserves discovered, if any, in the petroleum and natural gas holdings 
and exploration properties in Texas, or any other properties the Company may have from time to time, 
the economic viability of the Company’s product and the ability of the Company to transport its product 
to market. 
 
Any future profitability from the Company’s business will depend upon the successful development of 
the petroleum and natural gas holdings and exploration projects in Texas, or any other properties the 
Company may have from time to time. There can be no assurance that the Company can achieve 
profitability in the future. Additional revenues, other than interest on unused funds, may not occur for 
some time, if at all. The timing and extent of any revenues is variable and uncertain and, accordingly, 
the Company is unable to predict when, if at all, profitability will be achieved. 
 
Competition 
 
The Company’s competitors include major and independent oil and natural gas companies. The 
search for and acquisition of reserves, the gathering and marketing of oil and natural gas production 
and in the recruitment and employment of qualified personnel in the oil and natural gas industry is 
extremely competitive.  In addition, the Company will compete with oil and natural gas companies in 
bidding for exploration and production licences and acquiring properties.  Some of the Company’s 
competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and other resources and are able to devote 
greater resources to the development of their businesses.  Competition for producing properties will be 
affected by the amount of funds available to the Company, information available to the Company and any 
standards established by the Company for the minimum projected return on investment.  If the Company 
is unable successfully to compete, its business will suffer. 
 
Limited Diversification 
 
Generally, risk is reduced through diversification. Diversification is maximised by drilling a large 
number of wells over a large and geographically diverse areas of prospects having different geological 
characteristics.  The Company’s current business will not be diversified and, therefore, presents a higher 
degree of financial risk for investors. 
 
Permit and Licencing Requirements 
 
The Company’s operations require licences, permits and in some cases assignments or renewals of 
existing licences and permits from  various governmental and administrative authorities.  Governmental  
approvals, licences and permits are subject to the discretion of the applicable governments or 
governmental and administrative offices, and are outside the control of the Company. The Company’s 
ability to obtain, sustain, renew or assign such licences and permits on acceptable terms is therefore 
subject to the discretion of the applicable governments as well as changes in regulations and policies.  A 
failure to obtain, sustain, renew or assign these permits or licences where needed could result in the 
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dilution or forfeiture of interests held by the Company which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, operations and properties. 
 
Enforcement of Judgments 
 
The Company has assets in Texas.  As a result, it may be difficult for investors or creditors to enforce 
judgments obtained in Canadian courts against the Company.  It is not certain whether courts in Texas 
will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including Canada, against the Company or its, 
directors or officers under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions against the 
Company in Texas. 
 
Risks Related to Health, Safety, and Environment 
 
These risks include, the following: major process safety incidents; failure to comply with approved 
policies; effects of natural disasters and pandemics; social unrest; civil war and terrorism; exposure to 
general operational hazards; personal health and safety; and crime.  If any of these risks materialize, 
injuries, loss of life, environmental harm and disruption to business activities are likely to occur. 
Depending on the cause and severity of the event, the Company’s reputation, operational performance 
and financial position may be materially adversely affected. 
 
In addition, failure by the Company to comply with applicable legal requirements or recognised 
international standards with respect to health, safety and the environment, may give rise to significant 
liabilities. The obligations imposed by applicable legislation may over time become more complex and 
stringent or the subject of increasingly strict interpretation or enforcement. Obtaining exploration, 
development or production licences and permits may become more difficult or be subject to significant 
delays as a result of the need for governmental, regional or local environmental consultation, approvals 
or other considerations or requirements. Any such delays or changes in the applicable legislation may 
lead to delayed, reduced or ceased exploration, development or production activity which may also lead 
to increased costs and liabilities. 
 
Environmental Liability 
 
Hazards incident to the exploration and development of oil and gas properties such as accidental spills or 
leakage of petroleum liquids and other unforeseen conditions may be encountered by the Company.  The 
Company may be subject to unforeseen environmental liabilities resulting from oil and natural gas, 
exploration or operational activities, pollution and other damages due to hazards, which require 
significant costs to remedy and cannot be insured against due to prohibitive premium costs, unavailability 
of coverage or for other reasons.  Governmental regulations relating to environmental matters could also 
increase the cost of doing business or require alteration or cessation of operations in certain areas. 
Existing and possible future environmental legislation, regulations and actions could give rise to 
additional expense, capital expenditures, restrictions and delays in the activities of the Company, the 
extent of which cannot be predicted.  Regulatory requirements and environmental standards are subject to 
constant evaluation and may be significantly increased, which could materially and adversely affect the 
business of the Company or its ability to develop its properties on an economically feasible basis.  Before 
development and production can commence on any of the Company's properties, the Company must 
obtain regulatory and environmental approvals. There is no assurance that such approvals will be obtained 
on a timely basis or at all.  The cost of compliance with changes in governmental regulations has the 
potential to reduce the profitability of operations or preclude entirely the economic development of a 
property. Environmental regulation is becoming increasingly stringent and costs and expenses of 
regulatory compliance are increasing.  The Company expects it will be able to fully comply with all 
regulatory requirements in this regard. 
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Insurance Coverage 
 
There are significant exploration and operating risks associated with drilling oil and natural gas wells, 
including blowouts, cratering, sour natural gas releases, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well 
fluids, adverse weather conditions, and fire, all of which can result in accidental spills, leakages or 
discharges of harmful liquids and toxic natural gases. The occurrence of any of these incidents can 
result in substantial losses to the Company due to injury or loss of life, damage to or destruction of the 
Company’s oil and natural gas wells, pollution or other environmental damage. Damages occurring as a 
result of such risks can give rise to claims against the Company or SAOC or a member of either the 
Company or SAOC, and can result in the Company’s targets for drilling or production being delayed or 
halted. 
 
Although the Company has obtained insurance against certain of these risks, such insurance is subject to 
coverage limits and exclusions and may not be available for the risks and hazards to which the 
Company is exposed. In addition, no assurance can be given that such insurance will be adequate to 
cover the Company liabilities or will be generally available in the future or, if available, that premiums 
will be commercially justifiable.  If the Company incurs substantial liability and such damages are not 
covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits, or if the Company incurs such liability at a time 
when it is not able to obtain liability insurance, the Company’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. 
 
Further, the Company does not maintain political risk insurance to cover losses that the Company may 
incur as a result of a nationalization or expropriation of assets or other related property without receiving 
fair compensation or similar events in the U.S. or other future countries in which the Company 
explores or has other activities. 
 
Decommissioning Costs 
 
The Company may become responsible for costs associated with abandoning and reclaiming wells, 
facilities and pipelines which it may use for production of oil and natural gas.  Abandonment and 
reclamation of facilities and the costs associated therewith is often referred to as “decommissioning”. 
There are no immediate plans to establish a reserve account for these potential costs.  Rather, the 
costs of decommissioning are expected to be paid from the proceeds of production in accordance with 
the practice generally employed in onshore and offshore oilfield operations. Should decommissioning be 
required, the costs of decommissioning may exceed the value of reserves or resources remaining at any 
particular time. To cover such decommissioning costs, the Company may have to draw on funds from 
other sources. The use of other funds to satisfy such decommissioning costs could have a materially 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and future results of operations. 
 
Key Officers and Employees 
 
The success of the Company is highly dependent on the expertise of Michael Arguijo (President and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company). Also, the success of the Company may depend on the efforts 
of other third parties, including technical and engineering specialists in the oil and natural gas 
exploration field with experience doing business in Texas.  The Company may be unable to contract with 
such third parties for required services or may be able to do so only on terms that are unfavorable to the 
Company.  Any loss of the services of any one of such officers or the aforementioned individuals or a 
sufficient number of other employees could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business 
and operations.  There is no assurance the Company can maintain the services of management or other 
qualified personnel required to operate its business. The Company’s ability to expand its services is 
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dependent upon its ability to attract and retain additional qualified employees.  The ability to secure the 
services of additional personnel may be constrained in times of strong industry activity. 
 
Ability to Attract and Retain Qualified Personnel 
 
Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to the Company’s success. The number of persons 
skilled in the acquisition, exploration, development and operation of oil and gas properties in the U.S. is 
limited and competition for such persons is intense. As the Company’s business activity grows, it 
will require additional key financial, administrative, technical and operations staff.  If the Company is not 
successful in attracting and training qualified personnel, the efficiency of its operations could be 
affected, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s future cash flows, net income, 
results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Potential for Conflicts of Interest 
 
Some of the directors and officers are engaged and will continue to be engaged in the search for 
additional business opportunities on behalf of other corporations, and situations may arise where these 
directors and officers will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be dealt with 
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the BCBCA). Some of the directors and officers of the 
Company are or may become directors or officers of other companies engaged in other business ventures. 
See "Directors and Officers – Conflicts of Interest". 
 
Officers and Directors of the Company Own Significant Shares and Can Exercise Significant Influence  
 
The officers and directors of the Company, as a group, beneficially own, 3,192,500 Common Shares, and 
$362,500 worth of convertible debentures, the Common Shares representing approximately 15.28% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares, following completion of the Offering. Assuming conversion of 
the convertible debentures by only the officers and directors of the Company, as a group the officers and 
directors would then beneficially own 5,005,000 Common Shares which would represent approximately 
20.05% of the Company’s then issued and outstanding Common Shares.  As such, as shareholders, the 
officers and directors will be able to exert significant influence on matters requiring approval by 
shareholders, including the election of directors and the approval of any significant corporate transactions. 
The concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in 
control and may make some transactions more difficult or impossible to complete without the support of 
these shareholders. 
 
Securities or Industry Analysts 
 
The trading market for Common Shares and Warrants could be influenced by the research and 
reports that industry and/or securities analysts may publish about the Company, its business, the 
market or competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover the Company’s business change their 
recommendation regarding the Company’s stock adversely, or provide more favourable relative 
recommendations about its competitors, the stock price would likely decline.  If any analyst who may 
cover the Company’s business were to cease coverage or fail to regularly publish reports on the 
Company, it could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the stock price 
or trading volume to decline. 
 
No Prior Public Market 
 

As of the date hereof, there is no public market for the Common Shares or Warrants. The price to the 
public and the number of Units to be issued have been determined by negotiation among the Company 
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and the Agent.  The price paid for each Unit will not necessarily reflect the prevailing market price of the 
Common Shares and Warrants following completion of the Offering.  If an active public market for the 
Common Shares or Warrants does not develop, the liquidity of a shareholder's investment may be limited 
and the price per Common Share and Warrant may decline below the Offering Price.  The Company 
cannot predict at what price the Common Shares or Warrants will trade and there can be no assurance 
that an active trading market in the Common Shares or Warrants will develop or be sustained. 
 
Share Price Fluctuations Following the Initial Public Offering 
 

In recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility 
has had a significant effect on the market price of securities issued by many companies for reasons 
unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of these companies. There 
can be no assurance that continual fluctuations in price will not occur.  It may be anticipated that any 
quoted market for the Common Shares and Warrants will be subject to market trends generally, 
notwithstanding any potential success of the Company in creating revenues, cash flows or earnings.  The 
value of Common Shares and Warrants distributed hereunder will be affected by such volatility.  The 
market price of the Common Shares and Warrants could similarly be subject to wide fluctuations in 
response to a number of factors, most of which the Company cannot control, including, but not 
limited to: 
 
• the public’s reaction to the Company’s press releases, announcements and filings with Canadian 

securities regulatory authorities and those of its competitors; 
• fluctuations in broader stock market prices and volumes, particularly among securities of oil 

and gas exploration companies; 
• changes in market valuations of similar companies; 
• investor perception of the Company’s industry or prospects; 
• additions or departures of key personnel; 
• commencement of or involvement in litigation; 
• changes in environmental and other governmental regulations; 
• announcements by the Company or its competitors of  strategic alliances, significant contracts, new 

technologies, acquisitions, commercial relationships, joint ventures or capital commitments; 
• variations in the Company’s quarterly results of operations or cash flows or those of other oil 

and gas exploration companies; 
• revenues and operating results failing to meet the expectations of securities analysts or 

investors in a particular quarter; 
• changes in the Company’s pricing policies or the pricing policies of its competitors; 
• future issuances and sales of Common Shares and Warrants; 
• demand for and trading volume of Common Shares and Warrants; 
• changes in securities analysts’ recommendations and their estimates of the Company’s financial 

performance; 
• domestic and worldwide supplies and prices of and demand for oil and natural gas; and 
• changes in general conditions in the domestic and worldwide economies, financial markets or the 

oil and natural gas industry. 
 

The realization of any of these risks and other factors beyond the Company’s control could cause the 
market price of the Common Shares and Warrants to decline significantly. In particular, the market 
price of the Common  Shares and Warrants may be influenced by variations in oil and natural gas 
commodity prices. This may cause the Common Share and Warrant price to fluctuate with these 
underlying commodity prices, which are highly volatile. 
 

81 



 
 

Resale of Common Shares and Warrants 
 
The continued operation of the Company will be dependent upon its ability to generate operating 
revenues and to procure additional financing. There can be no assurance that any such revenues can be 
generated or that other financing can be obtained.  If the Company is unable to generate such revenues or 
obtain such additional financing, any investment in the Company may be lost. In such event, the 
probability of resale of the Common Shares and Warrants purchased would be diminished. 
 
Future Sales of Common Shares and Warrants by Existing Shareholders 
 
Sales of a large number of Common Shares or Warrants in the public markets, or the potential for such 
sales, could decrease the trading price of the Common Shares or Warrants and could impair the 
Company’s ability to raise capital through future sales of Common Shares or Warrants. 
 
Discretion in the Use of Proceeds 
 
Management will have broad discretion concerning the use of the proceeds of the Offering, as well as the 
timing of their expenditure. As a result, Purchasers will be relying on the judgment of management for 
the application of the proceeds of the Offering.  Management may use the net proceeds of the Offering 
in ways that Purchasers may not consider desirable. The results and the effectiveness of the 
application of the net proceeds are uncertain. If the proceeds are not applied effectively, the results of 
the Company’s operations may suffer. 
 

Working Capital and Future Issuances 
 
The Company may issue additional Common Shares in the future which may dilute a shareholder’s 
holdings in the Company.  The articles of the Company permit the issuance of an unlimited number 
of Common Shares and shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with any further 
issuances.  The directors of the Company have the discretion to determine the provisions attaching to the 
Common Shares and the price and the terms of issue of further Common Shares.  While the board of 
directors is required to fulfill its fiduciary obligations in connection with the issuance of such Common 
Shares, the Common Shares may be issued in transactions with which not all shareholders agree, and the 
issuance of such Common Shares will cause dilution to the ownership interests of the Company's 
shareholders. 
 
Dividends to Shareholders 
 
The Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends on the Common Shares in the foreseeable 
future.  The Company currently intends to retain all future earnings to fund the development and 
growth of its business.  Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the directors and 
will depend on, among other things, the Company’s earnings, financial condition, capital 
requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applying to the payment of 
dividends, and other considerations that the directors deems relevant. Investors must rely on sales of 
their Common Shares after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize a 
return on their investment. 
 
Costs of Compliance 
 
In connection with the Offering, the Company will be required to comply with the rules and regulations 
applicable to public companies in Canada and to file reports with the Canadian securities 
administrators.  Accordingly, the Company will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses 
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that the Company would not incur as a private company.  Management and other personnel will need 
to devote a substantial amount of time and resources to comply with the complex requirements of the 
relevant securities administrators and the exchange.  The Company’s legal and financial compliance costs 
will therefore increase. 
 
Foreign Currency Fluctuations 
 
The Company is raising funds in Canadian dollars, but the majority of the Company’s expenditures are 
denominated in U.S. dollars.  As a result, the Company is exposed to exchange rate risk.  International 
currency markets may cause significant adjustments to occur in the value of the Canadian  dollar.  Any 
events that result in a devaluation of this currency versus the U.S. dollar may have an adverse effect 
on the Company’s financial results. The Company has not entered into agreements or purchased 
instruments to hedge its exchange rate risks. 
 
Tax Issues 
 
Income tax consequences in relation to the Common Shares and Warrants will vary according to the 
circumstances of each Purchaser.  Prospective Purchasers should seek independent advice from their own 
tax and legal advisers prior to subscribing for the Units. 
 
Labour Requirements 
 
Workers hired by the Company may organize into labour unions and any strike or labour unrest in the oil 
and natural gas industry could adversely affect the Company’s ongoing operations and its ability to 
explore for, produce and market its oil and natural gas production. 
 
Dilution to Common Shares 
 
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company had 15,890,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  
Following the completion of the Offering, there will be an additional 5,000,000 Common Shares issued 
and outstanding upon completion of the Offering, and pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option, could be a 
further 750,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding. The increase in the number of Common Shares 
issued and outstanding, and the sale of Common Shares, may have a depressive effect on the price of the 
Common Shares. In addition, as a result of such additional Common Shares, the voting power of the 
Company’s existing shareholders will be diluted. 
 

PROMOTERS 
 
Michael Arguijo will be executing this Prospectus as a promoter of the Company.  Mr. Arguijo owns 
1,500,000 Common Shares, representing 7.18% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding 
immediately following completion of the Offering. Mr. Arguijo also holds $70,000 of the convertible 
debentures issued by the Company (see “Prior Sales”). 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no person who was a promoter of the Company within the last 
two years: 
 
(a) received anything of value directly or indirectly from the Company or a subsidiary;   

 
(b) sold or otherwise transferred any asset to the Company or a subsidiary within the last 2 years; 
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(c) has been a director, officer or promoter of any company that during the past 10 years was the 
subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any 
statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted 
any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager 
or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 

 
(d) has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities 

legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; 

 
(e) has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that 

would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment 
decision; or 

 
(f) has within the past 10 years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets. 

 
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OR REGULATORY ACTIONS 

 
The Company is not a party to any legal proceedings or regulatory actions and is not aware of any such 
proceedings or actions known to be contemplated.  
 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 
 
Other than disclosed below, no director, executive officer or other insider of the Company, or associate or 
affiliate of them, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since incorporation or in any 
proposed transaction that has materially affected or will materially affect the Company. 
 
Barry Loughlin, a director of the Company, entered into a hypothecation agreement dated August 25th, 
2014, with a securityholder of the Company pursuant to which such securityholder pledged 166,667 
common shares of the Company to Mr. Loughlin as collateral for a $50,000 loan.  In addition, Mr. Loughlin 
and the securityholder agreed to certain restrictions with respect to the securityholder’s exercise of 83,333 
warrants of the Company until the loan is repaid in full. 
 

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND AGENT 
 
The Company is not a related issuer or a connected issuer to the Agent, as such terms are defined under 
National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts. As of the date of this Prospectus, two employees of 
the Agent own a total of 165,000 Common Shares representing 1.04% of the outstanding Common Shares 
of the Company, and 82,500 warrants representing 2.23% of the outstanding warrants of the Company. 
See “Escrowed Securities- Seed Share Resale Restrictions- Non-Principals- Units”. 
 

AUDITORS 
 
The auditors of the Company are Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants of 700 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1C7. 
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REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 
 
The registrar and transfer agent of the Company is Computershare Investor Services Inc., of 3rd Floor, 510 
Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9. 
 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
 
Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 
entered into by the Company within two years prior to the date of this Prospectus which are currently in 
effect and considered to be currently material: 

 
1. Agency Agreement dated for reference November 14, 2014 and amended and restated on January 

26, 2015, and further amended and restated the 3rd day of February, 2015 between the Agent and 
the Company, referred to under “Plan of Distribution”. 
 

2. 2014 Plan, referred to under “Options To Purchase Securities”. 
 

3. First Pooling Agreement dated July 10, 2014 between the Company, Morton Law LLP and 
certain shareholders of the Company, referred to under “Escrowed Securities – Pooling 
Agreements”. 
 

4. Second Pooling Agreement dated July 22, 2014 between the Company, Morton Law LLP and 
certain convertible debenture holders of the Company, referred to under “Escrowed Securities – 
Pooling Agreements”. 
 

5. Agent Pooling Agreement dated November 13, 2014 between Morton Law LLP, the Company, 
Greg Phillips and Sean McLean, referred to under “Escrowed Securities – Seed Share Resale 
Restrictions – Non-Principals – Units”. 
 

6. Escrow Agreement dated November 13, 2014 between Computershare Investor Services Inc., the 
Company, and certain principals of the Company referred to under “Escrowed Securities- Escrow 
Agreement- Principals”. 

 
7. Escrow Agreement dated January 26, 2015 between Computershare Investor Services Inc., the 

Company, and certain principals of the Company referred to under “Escrowed Securities- Escrow 
Agreement- Principals”. 
 

8. Value Escrow Agreement dated November 13, 2014 between Computershare Investor Services 
Inc., the Company, and certain non-principals of the Company referred to under “Escrowed 
Securities- Seed Share Resale Restrictions- Non-Principals”. 

 
9. PSPA dated effective January 1, 2014 between SAOC and LoIn and referred to under “Business 

of the Corporation- Property of the Company- The Purchase, Sale and Participation Agreement”. 
 

10. Warrant Indenture dated as of the Closing Date between Computershare Trust Company of 
Canada and the Company and referred to under “Description of Securities Distributed- Warrants- 
Warrant Indenture”. 

 
Other than the Warrant Indenture (which will be entered into on the Closing Date), a copy of any material 
contract may be inspected during the Offering, and for a period of 30 days thereafter during normal 
business hours at the office of the Company's legal counsel, Suite 1200, 750 West Pender Street, 
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Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2T8.  Other than the Warrant Indenture (which will be filed on 
SEDAR under the Company's profile following the Closing Date), copies of the material contracts are 
also available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
 

EXPERTS 
 
NSAI prepared the Reserve Report, in accordance with NI 51-101 on behalf of the Company. There is no 
beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities of the Company’s issued capital, or in the property 
of the Company or of an associate or affiliate of the Company, held by NSAI. 
 
Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants are the auditors who prepared the auditor’s report for the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements as at June 30, 2014. As of the date of this Prospectus, Ernst 
& Young LLP is independent of the Company in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia.  
 
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE COMPANY’S PROFESSIONAL PERSONS AND EXPERTS 

 
Morton Law LLP is corporate and securities counsel to the Company. Getz Prince Wells LLP is corporate 
and securities counsel to the Agent. Bull, Housser & Tupper LLP is special tax counsel to the Company.  
As at the date of this Prospectus, the partners and associates of Morton Law LLP do not own, directly or 
indirectly, any Common Shares of the Company. As at the date of this Prospectus, the partners and 
associates of Getz Prince Wells LLP do not own, directly or indirectly, any Common Shares.  As at the 
date of this Prospectus, the partners and associates of Bull, Housser & Tupper LLP do not own, directly 
or indirectly, any Common Shares. 
 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 
 
There are no other material facts other than as disclosed herein.  
 

PURCHASER’S STATUTORY RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 
 
Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides Purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after 
receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment.  In several of the provinces, the securities 
legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of 
the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not 
delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revision of the price or damages are 
exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s 
province.  The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the 
purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.  
 

86 



Consolidated Financial Statements
[Expressed in Canadian dollars]

San Angelo Oil Limited
June 30, 2014



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Directors of
San Angelo Oil Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of San
Angelo Oil Limited, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at June 30, 2014, and the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the period from
February 11, 2014 [date of incorporation] to June 30, 2014, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.



– 2 –

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of San Angelo Oil Limited as at June 30, 2014,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from
February 11, 2014 [date of incorporation] to June 30, 2014 in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of matter - going concern

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the consolidated
financial statements which indicates that the Company incurred a loss of $147,399
during the period ended June 30, 2014, and as of that date, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $147,399 and net working capital of $295,387. These
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 1, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Vancouver, Canada
February 3, 2015 Chartered Accountants



San Angelo Oil Limited Amended and Restated

As at June 30

2014
$

ASSETS
Current
Cash 60,246
Funds held in trust [note 12] 570,250
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 6,786
Total current assets 637,282
Equipment [note 3] 13,434
Exploration and evaluation assets [note 4] 578,617
Operator’s bond [note 5] 26,666

1,255,999

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 341,895
Total current liabilities 341,895
Convertible debentures [note 6] 798,167
Deferred income taxes [note 10] 36,057
Total liabilities 1,176,119
Commitments [note 9]

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital [note 7] 81,068
Convertible debentures – equity component [note 6] 154,660
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (8,449)
Deficit (147,399)
Total shareholders’ equity 79,880

1,255,999

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board:

/S/ Michael Arguijo /S/ John Turner
Michael Arguijo John Turner

Director Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
[Expressed in Canadian dollars]



San Angelo Oil Limited Amended and Restated

Period from
February 11, 2014

[date of
incorporation] to

June 30,
2014

$

EXPENSES
Consulting fees 54,268
Legal 59,013
Office and miscellaneous 6,029
Professional fees 25,000
Salary and benefits 5,365
Travel 14,894

164,569
Loss before income taxes (164,569)
Recovery of income taxes [note 10] 17,170
Net loss for the period (147,399)
Other comprehensive loss

Exchange differences of translating foreign operations,
net of tax of nil (8,449)

Comprehensive loss for the period (155,848)

Weighted average number of  common shares outstanding 2,446,043
Loss per share – basic and diluted (0.06)

See accompanying notes

AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LOSS

[Expressed in Canadian dollars]
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San Angelo Oil Limited Amended and Restated

Period from
February 11, 2014

[date of
incorporation] to

June 30,
2014

$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss for the period (147,399)
Deferred income tax recovery (17,170)
Changes in non-cash working capital items

Other receivables and prepaid expenses (6,786)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 121,634

Cash used in operating activities (49,721)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of equipment (13,434)
Investment in exploration and evaluation assets (367,196)
Purchase of operator’s bond (26,666)
Cash used in investing activities (407,296)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Funds received on issuance of convertible debentures 1,030,250
Convertible debenture issuance expenses (22,953)
Funds received on issuance of share capital 85,000
Share issuance expenses (5,174)
Cash provided by financing activities 1,087,123

Effect of exchange rates on cash 390

Increase in cash during the period 630,496
Cash, beginning of period —
Cash, end of period 630,496

Represented by
Cash 60,246
Funds held in trust [note 12] 570,250

630,496

Supplemental cash flow information [note 13]

See accompanying notes

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
[Expressed in Canadian dollars]



San Angelo Oil Limited Amended and Restated

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Expressed in Canadian dollars]

June 30, 2014

1

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

San Angelo Oil Limited [the “Company”] was incorporated under the British Columbia Business
Corporations Act on February 11, 2014. The Company is a junior resource company engaged in
the identification, and the exploration and development, of both proven and unproven reserves via
drilling and/or acquisition with a focus on central Texas.

To date the Company has not earned significant revenues and is considered to be in the
exploration stage. The recoverability of the costs incurred for Exploration and Evaluation Assets is
dependent upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to
obtain the necessary financing to complete the projects and upon future profitable production or
from the proceeds of disposition. The Company will require additional capital to fund its future
property acquisitions and exploration programs as well as for administrative purposes. If
management is unable to obtain additional funding, the Company may be unable to continue its
operations, and amounts realized for assets may be less than amounts reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles
applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will realize its assets and
discharges its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company incurred a loss of
$147,399 during the period from February 11, 2014 [date of incorporation] to June 30, 2014, and
as of that date, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $147,399 and net working capital of
$295,387. Management has carried out an assessment of the going concern assumption and has
concluded that the cash position of the Company is insufficient to finance continued operations for
the twelve month period subsequent to June 30, 2014.

These factors indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt as to
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The continuity of the Company’s operations is dependent on raising future financings for working
capital, the continued exploration and development of its properties and for the acquisition of
development costs of new projects. The Company’s failure to raise additional funds could result in
a delay in the work to be performed on the Company’s existing exploration and evaluation assets
and may lead to an impairment charge on the Company’s exploration and evaluation asset.
Management believes that it will be able to secure the necessary financing through a combination
of the issuance of new equity or debt instruments. However, there is no assurance that the
Company will be successful in these actions. There can be no assurance that adequate financing
will be available, or available at terms favourable to the Company. Should it be determined that
the Company is no longer a going concern, adjustments which could be significant, could be
required to the carrying value of the assets and liabilities. These consolidated financial statements
do not reflect any adjustments to the carrying value of the assets or liabilities or any impact on the
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consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss, and consolidated statement of financial
position classifications that that would be necessary should the going concern assumption not be
appropriate.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards [“IFRS”], on a going concern basis, which presume the realization of assets
and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. In assessing
whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account all available
information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of
the reporting period.

The consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments to amounts and classifications of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Suite 1200 - 750 West Pender Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies in
compliance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [“IASB”].

The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and
effective as at February 3, 2015, the date the Board of Directors approved these financial
statements for issue.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention, except
for financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss [“FVTPL”] which are measured
at fair value. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting, except for cash flow information and are presented in Canadian dollars.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
wholly owned controlled U.S. subsidiary, San Angelo (Operating Corp.). Control exists when the
Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All inter-company balances have been eliminated
upon consolidation. The financial statements of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar [“CAD”], as it is presently reliant
on the Canadian capital markets to finance its activities. The functional currency of the
Company’s  subsidiary  is  the  US  dollar  as  all  of  its  activities  are  carried  out  in  the  US  dollar
[“USD”]. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars.

All assets and liabilities are translated into the presentation currency using the exchange rate in
effect on the reporting date, shareholders’ equity accounts are translated using the historical rates
of exchange and revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate for the period. Exchange
gains and losses on translation are included as a separate component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

Introduction

The significant accounting policies that have been applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarized below.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash consists of deposits held in banks. Cash equivalents include demand deposits together with
other highly liquid short-term investments with maturity dates of less than 90 days at the time of
issuance. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with institutions of high-credit
worthiness.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of
the following four categories: held to maturity, available-for-sale, loans and receivables or at
FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses
recognized through profit and loss. Regular purchases and sales of FVTPL financial assets are
accounted for at the trade date, as opposed to the settlement date. The Company has reported its
cash on hand and funds held in trust as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held-to-maturity are measured at amortized
cost. Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) except for losses that are
considered other than temporary. The Company has classified other receivables as being loans and
receivables. The Company has not classified any of its assets as being held-to-maturity or
available-for-sale.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are designated upon inception as FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value less
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective
interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments though the
expected life of the financial liability. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
convertible debentures are classified as other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL and are initially recorded at fair value.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held-for-trading and
recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as
FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss. The Company does not have any financial liabilities in
this category.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is
determined by reference to quoted market prices, without deduction for transaction costs. For
financial instruments that are not traded in active markets, the fair value is determined using
appropriate valuation techniques, such as using a recent arm’s length market transaction,
discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset is impaired.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is then reduced by the amount of the
impairment. The amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not
exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The
cost of an item of equipment consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and in a condition necessary for its intended use and an initial
estimate  of  the  costs  of  dismantling  and  removing  the  item and  restoring  the  site  on  which  it  is
located.
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The Company’s equipment consists of computers. Depreciation is recorded over the estimated
useful life of the asset on a straight line basis over a three year period. An item of equipment is
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in
profit and loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Pre-exploration expenditures

Expenditures made by the Company before acquiring the legal right to explore a specific area do
not meet the definition of an asset, and therefore are expensed by the Company as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Once a legal right to explore has been obtained, acquired costs incurred are capitalized as
exploration and evaluation assets. These assets include, but are not limited to, exploration license
expenditures, leasehold property acquisition costs, evaluation costs including drilling costs
directly attributable to an identifiable well and directly attributable general and administrative
costs. These costs are accumulated in cost centres by property and are not subject to depletion
until technical feasibility and commercial viability has been determined.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances
suggest that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.

The technical and commercial viability of extracting petroleum resources is considered to be
determinable when proved and probable reserves are determined to exist. A review of each
exploration license or field is carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proved and
probable reserves have been discovered. Upon determination of proved and probable reserves,
exploration and evaluation assets attributable to these reserves are tested for impairment and
reclassified to oil and gas properties.

Development and production costs

Oil and gas development and production assets are measured at cost less accumulated depletion,
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Development and production assets are grouped
in Cash Generating Units [“CGU”] for impairment testing. A CGU’s recoverable amount is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of a CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset group is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.
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Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds of disposal with the
carrying amount and the difference is recognized in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to commercial production including the costs of replacement are
recognized in profit and loss as incurred unless they increase the future economic benefits in the
assets to which they relate.

Depletion and depreciation

Depletion of oil and gas properties is determined using the unit-of-production method based on
production volumes in relation to the total estimated proved and developed reserves as determined
on an annual basis in compliance with NI 51-101. Natural gas reserves and production are
converted at the energy equivalent of six thousand cubic feet to one barrel of oil.

The calculation of depletion and depreciation is based on total capitalized costs less the estimated
net realizable value of equipment and facilities after the proved and developed reserves are fully
depleted.

Proved developed reserves are estimated using independent reserve engineer reports and represent
the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological,
geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a 90% degree of certainty to be recoverable in
future years from known proved and developed reservoirs and which are considered commercially
producible.

Impairment

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when they are reclassified to
developing and producing assets, as oil and gas properties, and also if fact and circumstances
suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Fair value less costs to sell is determined to be the amount for which the asset could be sold in an
arm’s length transaction. Fair value less costs to sell can be determined by using an observable
market or by using discounted future net cash flows.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
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Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indication
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amounts. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of accumulated depletion and depreciation, if no impairment
loss had been recognized.

Convertible debentures

The liability component of the convertible debentures has been recognized initially at the fair
value of a similar liability that does not possess a conversion option. The equity component is
initially recognized as the difference between the fair value of the convertible debenture as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component. Transaction costs are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying value. Subsequent to initial
recognition the liability component of the convertible note is measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component is not re-measured subsequent to initial
recognition.

Share capital

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they
do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common
shares are classified as equity instruments.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and
warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method, first allocates value to the
more easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the
less easily measurable component.

The fair value of common shares issued in private placements is determined to be the more easily
measurable component and are valued at their fair value as determine by the closing price on the
effective date. The balance, if any, would then be allocated to the attached warrants.

Interest income

Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis.
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Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to directly or indirectly control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties subject to common control are also considered to be related. Related parties may
be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result
of past transactions, including legal or constructive obligations and it is probable that there will be
a requirement to settle. The provision is measured at the best estimate of the present value of the
amount required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate reflecting current market assessment,
the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation. Future increases resulting from the
passing of time will be recognized as an accretion expense.

Reclamation costs

The Company records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations
required to remediate environmental disturbances caused during the exploration process. The
present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related
asset.  The  provision  is  measured  at  the  best  estimate  of  the  expenditure  required  to  settle  the
obligation at the reporting date. As at June 30, 2014, the Company has not incurred any legal or
constructive obligation as a result of its exploration and evaluation activities.

Earnings (loss) per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting
period. The calculation of diluted earnings per share assumes the outstanding options and warrants
are exercised and proceeds are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price of
the shares for the period. The effect is to increase the number of shares used to calculate diluted
earnings per share and is only recognized when the effect is dilutive.

Income taxes

Income tax expense includes current and deferred taxes.
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Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount to be
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current income tax related to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity
is recognized in other comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax filings with respect to situations where applicable
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at
the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and tax losses, can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.
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Significant accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting
period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. Certain estimates by their nature are
uncertain. The impacts of such estimates could be pervasive throughout the consolidated financial
statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on
historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The following accounting policies are subject to such judgements and because of the uncertainty
associated with the estimation process they could have the most significant impact on the reported
results and financial position:

Convertible debentures

The liability component of the convertible debenture has been recognized initially at the fair value
of a similar liability that does not possess a conversion option. As the debenture bears interest
below market rates the determination of fair value was based on using unobservable discount rates
appropriate to borrowings with similar characteristics such as the credit rating of the Company.
Based on this determination, the fair value yield for the liability component of the debenture has
been estimated at 16.4%.

Reserves

The estimate of oil and gas reserves is integral to the calculation of the amount of depletion to be
charged to the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss and is also a key
determinant in assessing whether the carrying value of any of the Company’s exploration and
evaluation assets have been impaired. Changes in reported reserves can impact asset carrying
values. The Company’s reserves are evaluated and reported on by independent reserve engineers
in accordance with National Instrument 51-101 – Standards of Disclosure of Oil and Gas
Activities [“NI 51-101”]. Reserve estimation is based on a variety of factors which are subject to
significant judgement and interpretation.

Exploration and evaluation assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether or not there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any indication exists that an asset may be impaired, the Company estimates
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the recoverable amount determined based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations are based on a number of factors which are subject to estimates and
assumptions.

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by
the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after July 1, 2014, or later
periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company may have
been excluded from the list below.

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of
authorization of these financial statements are disclosed below. Management anticipates that all of
the pronouncements will be adopted in the accounting policy for the first period beginning after
the effective date of the pronouncement.

The Company continues to evaluate the impact the implementation of these standards will have on
the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting standards anticipated to be effective on or after July 1, 2014

Financial instruments

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments [“IFRS 9”]
On July 24, 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of
IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption
permitted. The Company is still in the process of assessing the impact of these changes.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers [“IFRS 15”]
IFRS 15 is effective for years commencing on or after January 1, 2017, and replaces IAS 11,
Construction Contracts; IAS 18, Revenue; IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15,
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers;
and SIC 31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The standard contains
a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and
judgemental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of
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revenue recognized. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been
determined.

3. EQUIPMENT

Computer Equipment Total
$ $ $

Cost
Additions 1,544 11,890 13,434
Balance, June 30, 2014 1,544 11,890 13,434
Accumulated amortization
Balance, June 30, 2014 — — —
Net carrying value
Balance, June 30, 2014 1,544 11,890 13,434

4. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Runnels County, State of Texas, U.S.A.

The Company acquired an undivided fifty-five percent working interest in twenty-nine claims
covering approximately 2,348 acres located in Runnels County in the State of Texas. The
Company has agreed to bear its proportionate share of well costs for the Operator’s drilling and
completion of the initial vertical well and, in the Operator’s discretion, either (a) one horizontal
well or (b) two additional vertical wells. Should the Company fail to pay its proportionate share of
well costs, the Company shall be obligated to reassign its interests to the Operator, free of charge
and without refund of the purchase price.

Cumulative expenditures related to the Runnels County interest consists of the following:

2014
$

Balance, February 11, 2014 —
Acquisition costs 582,625
Drilling 2,027
Land 5,866
Permits 800
Translation adjustment (12,701)
Balance, June 30, 2014 578,617
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A review is carried out at each reporting date to assess whether or not indicators of impairment are
present  and  whether  or  not  an  adjustment  to  the  carrying  value  of  the  asset  is  required.  As  at
June 30, 2014, management has concluded that there were no indicators of impairment present.

5. OPERATOR’S BOND

The Company is required to provide an operator’s bond in respect of its exploration activities in
the State of Texas. The bond represents collateral for possible reclamation activities necessary in
connection with the permits required for exploration activities.

The bond, in the amount of US$25,000 or CAD$26,666, is fully refundable on discontinuing
exploration activities or alternatively putting in place an alternative form of collateral acceptable
to the governing authorities as a substitute.

6. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

During the period ended June 30, 2014, the Company undertook a non-brokered private placement
of 10% secured subordinated convertible debentures in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,100,000. The first tranche of the offering closed on June 30, 2014 resulting in the receipt of
$1,030,250 in gross proceeds. The convertible debentures are due five years from their date of
issuance, pay interest at the rate of 10% per annum and are convertible into 5,500,000 units of the
Company. The debenture holders have the right, at their option, to convert all or part of the
principal amount, excluding interest thereon, into units of the Company at a price of $0.20 per unit
for a period of five years after the closing date. Each unit is comprised of one common share and
one-half of a share purchase warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional common share
for each full warrant tendered at a purchase price of $0.50 per share for a period of five years from
the closing date of the offering. On January 21, 2015, the Company repriced the warrants
[note 14[f]].

Pursuant to a pooling agreement between the holders of the debentures, the Company and the
Pooling Agent, the units, which includes the unit shares and unit warrants, issuable upon
conversion of the debentures and the unit share warrant shares issuable upon exercise of any unit
warrants may not be sold or transferred for three years from the date of closing. The unit pooling
period may be altered to allow for an earlier release if the original debenture holders who hold
two-thirds or greater of the total Canadian dollar value of the Debenture Offering agree to do so in
writing.
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The following table reconciles the fair value of the convertible debentures on initial recognition as
at June 30, 2014:

Liability Equity Total
$ $ $

Subscription proceeds 816,355 213,895 1,030,250
Convertible debenture issuance costs (18,188) (4,766) (22,954)

798,167 209,129 1,007,296

7. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has an unlimited number of common shares without par value authorized for
issuance.

Number of
issued and

outstanding
shares

Share
capital

# $

Shares issued for cash pursuant to a private placement 8,500,000 85,000
Less share issuance expense, net of taxes — (3,932)
Balance, June 30, 2014 8,500,000 81,068

On May 20, 2014, the Company completed a private placement issuing 8,500,000 common shares
of the Company at a price of $0.01 per share for gross proceeds of $85,000.

Pursuant to the terms of a Voluntary Pooling Agreement between the unit holders subscribing to
the May 20, 2014 private placement [the “Shareholders”], the pooling agent, and the Company,
the shares were placed on deposit on May 20, 2014. The pooled securities will be held by the
pooling agent and released subject to the provisions of the agreement on the date that is three years
from the closing date. The release date may be changed to an earlier date or the pooled securities
may be released in tranches in such amounts and on such dates as agreed to in writing by two-
thirds of the Shareholders on the closing date. As at June 30, 2014, there have been no changes to
the Voluntary Pooling Agreement and no shares, warrants, warrant shares or existing shares have
been released from the pool.
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Nature and purpose of equity reserves

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position
included accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated deficit.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is used to recognize the gain and loss from
exchange differences on the translation of foreign subsidiaries.

Accumulated deficit is used to record the Company’s cumulative results of operations from
inception net of any capital distributions.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties were in the normal course of operations and are measured at the
exchange amount established and agreed to by the related parties.

In addition to the related party transactions noted below, the Company has reimbursed these
related parties for out of pocket costs incurred on behalf of the Company. Such costs include
travel, telephone charges and other office related charges.

Key management personnel compensation, including senior officers and directors of the
Company:

2014
$

Short-term benefits 5,365
Total remuneration 5,365

[a] As at June 30, 2014, convertible debentures held by key management personnel and their
close family members totalled $362,500.

[b] For the period ended June 30, 2014, $30,166 have been paid to the CEO and Director of the
Company, for consulting services provided.
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9. COMMITMENTS

[a] The Company has a commitment to make monthly rental payments pursuant to an office
rental agreement in Austin, Texas. The Agreement expires on June 1, 2016 and will require
annual payments of approximately US$22,152 or CAD$23,628 until the expiry date.

[b] The Company is required to pay interest, calculated at the rate of 10% per annum, on the
outstanding balance of the convertible debentures outstanding at the end of each quarter after
closing. The Company has estimated that it will be required to pay approximately $27,500
each quarter subsequent to the first payment date until the notes are converted or repaid. The
first payment date is June 30, 2015 or an earlier date as agreed to by management.

10. INCOME TAXES

The major components of income tax expense (recovery) for the period ended June 30, 2014 are:

2014
$

Consolidated statements of loss

Deferred tax
Relating to recognition of loss carryforwards (17,170)
Income tax recovery (17,170)

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
Share issuance expenses (1,242)
Convertible debenture 54,469
Deferred income tax recognized in equity 53,227
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. Deferred income taxes as at June 30, 2014 relates to the following:

2014
$

Deferred income tax liability
Convertible debenture (60,342)

Deferred income tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards 17,344
Share and debt issuance costs 6,941
Total deferred income tax assets 24,285
Net deferred income tax liability (36,057)

Significant components of deductible temporary differences, which have not been recognized as at
June 30, 2014, are as follows:

2014
$

Net operating loss carryforwards 92,318
Cumulative eligible capital 2,748

95,066

Net operating loss carryforwards as at June 30, 2014 of $67,433 relate to the Canadian operations
and $92,318 relate to the U.S. operations. These losses will expire in 2034.

The income tax recovery differs from the amount computed by applying Canadian statutory rates
for the following reasons:

2014
$

Loss before income taxes (164,569)
Current statutory income tax rate 26%
Computed tax recovery at statutory rate (42,788)
Effect of higher tax rate in foreign jurisdiction (8,538)
Temporary differences and tax losses not recognized 33,908
Other 248
Reported income tax recovery (17,170)
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11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its convertible debentures and share capital as capital. It is management’s
objective to safeguard its capital in order that it will be able to continue as a going concern in the
best interests of all stakeholders.

The Company currently has no sources of revenues. As such, the Company is dependent upon
external financings to fund activities. In order to finance future projects and to pay for
administrative activities, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional
funds as needed. Management reviews its capital management practices on an ongoing basis and
believes that their approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK EXPOSURE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The
main types of risk are credit risks, liquidity risk and market risk. These risks arise throughout the
normal course of operations and all transactions are undertaken as a going concern. The type of
risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows:

Credit risk

Credit  risk  is  the  risk  that  one  party  to  a  financial  instrument  will  cause  a  financial  loss  for  the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily
associated with cash and funds held in trust. The carrying amounts of these assets included on the
consolidated statement of financial position represent the maximum credit exposure. The
Company limits exposure to credit risk by maintaining it cash and funds held in trust with
institutions of high credit worthiness.

The Company’s investment policy is to hold cash in interest bearing bank accounts and highly
liquid short-term interest bearing instruments with maturities of one year or less which can be
liquidated at any time without penalties.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or funds held in trust. The Company
manages its capital in order to meet short term business requirements, after taking into account
cash flows, capital expenditures and cash holdings. The Company believes that these sources
should be sufficient to cover the likely short term requirements. In the long term, the Company
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may have to issue additional shares to ensure there is cash available for its programs. All current
financial liabilities, being accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are payable within a 90 day
period and are to be funded from cash and funds held in trust. Refer to Commitments [note 9] for
details.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding cash reserves. The Company’s
policy is to invest cash at fixed and floating interest rates in order to maintain liquidity, while
achieving a satisfactory return for its shareholders. The Company monitors this exposure and does
not enter into any derivative contracts to manage this risk. The Company’s interest rate risk arises
from the interest rate impact on its cash and funds held in trust. Based on the cash and funds held
in trust on hand as at June 30, 2014, with other variables unchanged, a 1% change in the interest
rate would decrease (increase) its net loss by approximately $6,300. The Company’s financial
liabilities are not exposed to interest rate risk.

Fair value

The Company classifies its fair value measurements with a fair value hierarchy, which reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements as defined in IFRS 13 – Financial
Instruments; Fair Value Measurement [“IFRS 13”].

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in
active markets.

Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for
similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and
liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity. As required by
IFRS 13, assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

Categories of financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash, funds held in trust, other receivables and
prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and convertible debentures.
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The significance of the inputs used in determining fair value measurements of the Company’s
financial instruments is provided below:

2014

Category
Carrying

value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ $ $ $

Cash FVTPL 60,246 60,246 — —
Funds held in trust FVTPL 570,250 570,250 — —

Funds held in trust were a result of legal counsel receiving on the Company’s behalf the proceeds
from the convertible debenture offering. Subsequent to June 30, 2014, these funds were transferred
to the Company.

13. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:

2014
$

Other items
Exploration and evaluation expenditures included in accounts

payable and accrued liabilities 219,232

14. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following non-adjusting significant events have occurred between the reporting date and the
date of authorization of the financial statements.

[a] The Company closed Tranche #2 of the convertible debenture financing on July 22, 2014. The
Company received gross proceeds of $69,750 at the time of closing.

[b] The Company closed a private placement on August 28, 2014, issuing 7,390,000 units at a
price of $0.20 per unit resulting in gross proceeds of $1,478,000. Each unit consists of one
common share and one-half share purchase warrant. Each whole share purchase warrant shall
be exercisable at a price of $0.50 per common share. These warrants expire on the earlier of
[i] August 28, 2017 and [ii] the date that is 24 months from the day that the common shares of
the Company are listed for trading on a recognized public stock exchange or quotation system
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including the Canadian Securities Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange or the Toronto Stock
Exchange.

The Company also granted 591,200 Agents Options entitling the holder to subscribe for and
purchase 591,200 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share. These options expire on the
earlier of [i] August 28, 2017 and [ii] the date that is 24 months from the day that the common
shares are listed for trading on a recognized public stock exchange or quotation system.

[c] On October 1, 2014, the Company has been appointed as operator for the twenty-nine claims
in which it has a 55% interest, located in Runnels County in the State of Texas. The Company
and the remaining 45% interest holders have agreed to bear their proportionate share of well
costs on the farm out interest.

[d] The Company entered into an engagement letter dated October 7, 2014 with Richardson GMP
Limited [“RGMP”] pursuant to which it has engaged RGMP as agent for the initial public
offering of the Company, to offer for sale on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, a
minimum of 12,500,000 and a maximum of 15,000,000 units [the “Units”] of the Company at
a price of $0.40 per Unit. Each Unit will consist of one common share in the capital of the
Company [a “Share”] and one-half of one share purchase warrant of the Company. Each
whole warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one Share at a price of $0.55 per Share for a
period of 24 months from the date the Company’s shares are listed on the TSX Venture
Exchange [the “Listing Date”].

The terms of the offering have been revised whereby RGMP will be offering for sale on a
commercially viable basis 5,000,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.20 per Unit, [the
“Offering Price”] for gross proceeds of $1,000,000. Each unit will consist of one common
share in the capital of the Company and one whole share purchase warrant of the Company.
Each whole warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one additional common share at a price
of $0.30 per share for a period of twenty-four months form the date the Company’s shares are
listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange [the “Listing Date”].

[e] On October 8, 2014 and November 14, 2014, the Company granted 2,050,000 options to
directors, employees and consultants. The grant of 1,850,000 of the options will be effective
on the Listing Date and the options will be exercisable at the Offering Price for a period of six
years from the Listing Date. The options will vest over a 36-month period, with one-third of
the options vesting every 12 months after the Listing Date. The grant of 200,000 of the
options was to be effective on the earlier of the Listing Date and January 27, 2015 with the
options to be exercisable at the Offering Price for a period of six years from the effective date
of the grant. The options vest over an 18-month period, with 10% of the options vesting on
the effective date of the grant, and a further 15% vesting every 3 months following that date.
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On January 21, 2015, the number of options granted effective on the Listing Date was reduced
to 1,125,000, and the number of options granted effective on the earlier of the Listing Date
and January 27, 2015 was reduced to 128,600, with the exercise price of all the options
decreased to $0.20. All other terms and conditions remained unchanged.

On January 27, 2015, the grant of the 128,600 options became effective.

[f] On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants, issued on the conversion of the
convertible debentures, such that each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase an
additional one common share at a reduced exercise price of $0.30 per common share.

[g] On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants issued on the completion of a
brokered private placement such that each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one
additional common share at a reduced exercise price of $0.30 per common share.
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As at As at 
September 30, June 30,

2014 2014
$ $

ASSETS
Current
Cash 1,200,704 60,246
Funds held in trust — 570,250
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 35,287 6,786
Total current assets 1,235,991 637,282
Equipment [note 3] 30,623 13,434
Exploration and evaluation assets [note 4] 702,376 578,617
Operator’s bond [note 5] 28,036 26,666

1,997,026 1,255,999

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 164,624 341,895
Total current liabilities 164,624 341,895
Convertible debentures [note 6] 888,265 798,167
Deferred income taxes — 36,057
Total liabilities 1,052,889 1,176,119

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital [note 7] 1,287,103 81,068
Convertible debentures – equity component [note 6] 165,570 154,660
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 12,633 (8,449)
Deficit (521,169) (147,399)
Total shareholders’ equity 944,137 79,880

1,997,026 1,255,999

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board:

/S/ Michael Arguijo /S/ John Turner
Michael Arguijo John Turner

Director Director

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED 

[Expressed in Canadian dollars]
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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For the
three-month

period ended
September 30,

2014
$

EXPENSES
Accretion [note 6] 35,190
Amortization [note 3] 2,702
Consulting fees 141,798
Legal 83,081
Office and miscellaneous 17,369
Professional fees 37,500
Salary and benefits 81,281
Travel 17,588

416,509
Loss before income taxes (416,509)
Recovery of income taxes (42,739)
Net loss for the period (373,770)
Other comprehensive loss

Exchange differences of translating foreign operations,
net of tax of $12,250 21,082

Comprehensive loss for the period (352,688)

Weighted average number of  common shares outstanding 11,150,761
Loss per share – basic and diluted (0.03)

See accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED 

[Expressed in Canadian dollars]
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For the
three-month

period ended
September 30,

2014
$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss for the period (373,770)
Accretion 35,190
Amortization 2,702
Recovery of deferred income tax (42,739)
Changes in non-cash working capital items

Other receivables and prepaid expenses (28,501)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (60,626)

Cash used in operating activities (467,744)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of equipment (19,364)
Investment in exploration and evaluation assets (266,340)
Cash used in investing activities (285,704)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Funds received on issuance of convertible debentures 69,750
Funds received on issuance of share capital 1,478,000
Share issuance expenses (229,113)
Cash provided by financing activities 1,318,637

Effect of exchange rates on cash 5,019

Increase in cash during the period 570,208
Cash, beginning of period 630,496
Cash, end of period 1,200,704

Supplemental cash flow information [note 9]

See accompanying notes

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED 

[Expressed in Canadian dollars]
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

San Angelo Oil Limited [the “Company”] was incorporated under the British Columbia Business 
Corporations Act on February 11, 2014. The Company is a junior resource company engaged in 
the identification, and the exploration and development, of both proven and unproven reserves via 
drilling and/or acquisition with a focus on central Texas.

To date the Company has not earned significant revenues and is considered to be in the 
exploration stage. The recoverability of the costs incurred for Exploration and Evaluation Assets is 
dependent upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to 
obtain the necessary financing to complete the projects and upon future profitable production or 
from the proceeds of disposition. The Company will require additional capital to fund its future 
property acquisitions and exploration programs as well as for administrative purposes. If 
management is unable to obtain additional funding, the Company may be unable to continue its 
operations, and amounts realized for assets may be less than amounts reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements.

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis of accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company 
will realize its assets and discharges its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company 
incurred a loss of $373,770 during the three month period ended September 30, 2014, and as of 
that date, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $521,169 and net working capital of
$1,071,367. Management has carried out an assessment of the going concern assumption and has 
concluded that the cash position of the Company is insufficient to finance continued operations for 
the twelve month period subsequent to September 30, 2014. These factors indicate the existence of 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt as the Company’s ability to continue as 
going concern.

The continuity of the Company’s operations is dependent on raising future financings for working 
capital, the continued exploration and development of its properties and for the acquisition of 
development costs of new projects. The Company’s failure to raise additional funds could result in 
a delay in the work to be performed on the Company’s existing exploration and evaluation assets 
and may lead to an impairment charge on the Company’s exploration and evaluation asset. 
Management believes that it will be able to secure the necessary financing through a combination 
of the issuance of new equity or debt instruments. However, there is no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in these actions. There can be no assurance that adequate financing 
will be available, or available at terms favourable to the Company. Should it be determined that 
the Company is no longer a going concern, adjustments which could be significant, could be 
required to the carrying value of the assets and liabilities. These unaudited interim condensed
consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to the carrying value of the assets 
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or liabilities or any impact on the unaudited interim condensed consolidated statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss, and unaudited interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position 
classifications that that would be necessary should the going concern assumption not be 
appropriate.

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards [“IFRS”], on a going concern basis, which 
presume the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for 
the foreseeable future. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, 
management takes into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but not 
limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments to 
amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company 
be unable to continue as a going concern.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Suite 1200 - 750 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2T8.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim 
Financial Reporting [“IAS 34”] as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
[“IASB”]. As such, certain disclosures included in the annual financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB have been condensed or omitted. Accordingly, these 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2014.

The policies applied in these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements are 
based on IFRS issued and effective as at February 3, 2015, the date the Board of Directors 
approved these financial statements for issue and are the same as those applied to the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2014.
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New standards, amendments and interpretations issued

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by 
the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after July 1, 2014, or later 
periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company may have 
been excluded from the list below.

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
authorization of these financial statements are disclosed below. Management anticipates that all of 
the pronouncements will be adopted in the accounting policy for the first period beginning after 
the effective date of the pronouncement.

The Company continues to evaluate the impact the implementation of these standards will have on 
the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting standards anticipated to be effective on or after October 1, 2014

Financial instruments

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments [“IFRS 9”]
On July 24, 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification 
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace 
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of 
IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. The Company is still in the process of assessing the impact of these changes.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers [“IFRS 15”]
IFRS 15 is effective for years commencing on or after January 1, 2017, and replaces IAS 11, 
Construction Contracts; IAS 18, Revenue; IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15, 
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers;
and SIC 31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The standard contains 
a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognizing 
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of 
transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and 
judgemental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of 
revenue recognized. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been 
determined.
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3. EQUIPMENT

Computer Equipment Total
$ $ $

Cost
Additions 1,544 11,890 13,434
Balance, June 30, 2014 1,544 11,890 13,434
Additions 19,364 — 19,364
Effect of changes to foreign exchange rate — 527 527
Balance, September 30, 2014 20,908 12,417 33,325
Accumulated amortization
Balance, June 30, 2014 — — —
Amortization for the period 1,742 1,042 2,784
Effect of changes to foreign exchange rate (48) (34) (82)
Balance, September 30, 2014 1,694 1,008 2,702
Net carrying value
Balance, June 30, 2014 1,544 11,890 13,434
Balance, September 30, 2014 19,214 11,409 30,623

4. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Runnels County, State of Texas, U.S.A.

The Company acquired an undivided fifty-five percent working interest in twenty-nine claims 
covering approximately 2,348 acres located in Runnels County in the State of Texas. The 
Company has agreed to bear its proportionate share of well costs for the Operator’s drilling and 
completion of the initial vertical well and, in the Operator’s discretion, either (a) one horizontal 
well or (b) two additional vertical wells. Should the Company fail to pay its proportionate share of 
well costs, the Company shall be obligated to reassign its interests to the Operator, free of charge 
and without refund of the purchase price.
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Cumulative expenditures related to the Runnels County interest consists of the following:

$

Balance, February 11, 2014 —
Additions 591,318
Translation adjustments (12,701)
Balance, June 30, 2014 578,617
Additions 91,553
Translation adjustments 32,206
Balance, September 30, 2014 702,376

September 30, June 30,
2014 2014

$ $

Acquisition costs 582,625 582,625
Drilling 2,084 2,027
Lease 27,589 5,866
Mapping 1,473 —
Permitting 1,524 800
Reporting 64,065 —
Staking 3,511 —
Translation adjustment 19,505 (12,701)

702,376 578,617

A review is carried out at each reporting date to assess whether or not indicators of impairment are 
present and whether or not an adjustment to the carrying value of the asset is required. As at
September 30, 2014 management has concluded that there were no indicators of impairment 
present.

5. OPERATOR’S BOND

The Company is required to provide an operator’s bond in respect of its exploration activities in 
the State of Texas. The bond represents collateral for possible reclamation activities necessary in 
connection with the permits required for exploration activities.
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The bond, in the amount of US$25,000 or CAD$28,036 [June 30, 2014 – CAD$26,666], is fully 
refundable on discontinuing exploration activities or alternatively putting in place an alternative
form of collateral acceptable to the governing authorities as a substitute.

6. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

During the period ended June 30, 2014, the Company undertook a non-brokered private placement 
of 10% secured subordinated convertible debentures in the aggregate principal amount of 
$1,100,000. The first tranche of the offering closed on June 30, 2014 resulting in the receipt of 
$1,030,250 in gross proceeds. The second tranche of the offering closed on July 22, 2014 resulting 
in the receipt of $69,750 in gross proceeds. The convertible debentures are due five years from 
their date of issuance, pay interest at the rate of 10% per annum and are convertible into 5,500,000 
units of the Company. The debenture holders have the right, at their option, to convert all or part 
of the principal amount, excluding interest thereon, into units of the Company at a price of $0.20 
per unit for a period of five years after the closing date. Each unit is comprised of one common 
share and one-half of a share purchase warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional 
common share for each full warrant tendered at a purchase price of $0.50 per share for a period of 
five years from the closing date of the offering. On January 21, 2015 the Company repriced the 
warrants [note 10[d]].

Pursuant to a pooling agreement between the holders of the debentures, the Company and the 
Pooling Agent, the units, which includes the unit shares and unit warrants, issuable upon 
conversion of the debentures and the unit share warrant shares issuable upon exercise of any unit 
warrants may not be sold or transferred for three years from the date of closing. The unit pooling 
period may be altered to allow for an earlier release if the original debenture holders who hold 
two-thirds or greater of the total Canadian dollar value of the Debenture Offering agree to do so in 
writing.

The following table reconciles the recorded value of the convertible debentures:

Liability Equity Total
$ $ $

Subscription proceeds 871,263 228,737 1,100,000
Convertible debenture issuance costs (18,188) (4,766) (22,954)
Deferred income tax on equity component — (58,401) (58,401)
Accretion 35,190 — 35,190

888,265 165,570 1,053,835
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7. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has an unlimited number of common shares without par value authorized for 
issuance.

Number of 
issued and 

outstanding 
shares

Share
capital

# $

Shares issued for cash pursuant to a private placement 8,500,000 85,000
Less share issuance expense, net of taxes — (3,932)
Balance, June 30, 2014 8,500,000 81,068
Shares issued for cash pursuant to a brokered private placement 7,390,000 1,478,000
Less share issuance expenses, net of taxes — (281,467)
Balance, September 30, 2014 15,890,000 1,277,601

On August 28, 2014, the Company completed a brokered private placement issuing 7,390,000 
units at a price of $0.20 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,478,000. Each unit consists of one 
common share and one-half of a share purchase warrant. Each whole share warrant will entitle the
holder to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.50 per common share. The 
warrants expire on the earlier of [i] August 28, 2017 and [ii] the date that is 24 months from the 
day that the common shares of the Company are listed for trading on a recognized public stock 
exchange or quotation system including the Canadian Securities Exchange, the TSX Venture 
Exchange or the Toronto Stock Exchange. On January 21, 2015 the Company repriced the 
warrants [note 10[e]].

The Company also granted 591,200 Agents Options entitling the holder to subscribe for and 
purchase 591,200 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share. These options expire on the earlier 
of [i] August 28, 2017 and [ii] the date that is 24 months from the day that the common shares are
listed for trading on a recognized public exchange or quotation system.

The common shares and warrants will be subject to seed share resale restrictions with releases of 
20% on the listing date and 20% on each of months one through four after the listing date. In 
addition 165,000 common shares and 82,500 share purchase warrants have been placed into a 
voluntary pooling arrangement pursuant to which these securities will be restricted for a period of 
six months following the Listing Date.
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On May 20, 2014, the Company completed a private placement issuing 8,500,000 common shares 
of the Company at a price of $0.01 per share for gross proceeds of $85,000.

Pursuant to the terms of a Voluntary Pooling Agreement between the unit holders subscribing to 
the May 20, 2014 private placement [the “Shareholders”], the pooling agent, and the Company, 
the shares were placed on deposit on May 20, 2014. The pooled securities will be held by the 
pooling agent and released subject to the provisions of the agreement on the date that is three years 
from the closing date. The release date may be changed to an earlier date or the pooled securities 
may be released in tranches in such amounts and on such dates as agreed to in writing by two-
thirds of the Shareholders on the closing date. As at September 30, 2014, there have been no 
changes to the Voluntary Pooling Agreement and no shares, warrants, warrant shares or existing 
shares have been released from the pool.

[b] Warrants

The following table summarizes the continuity of warrants:

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average

exercise price
# $

Granted during the period 3,695,000 0.50
Outstanding at September 30, 2014 3,695,000 0.50

The maximum remaining contract life is 2.83 years.

[c] Options – Agent’s

The following table summarizes the continuity of agent’s options:

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
# $

Granted during the period [Agent’s] 591,200 0.20
Options outstanding at September 30, 2014 591,200 0.20

The maximum remaining contract life is 2.83 years.
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Nature and purpose of equity reserves

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position 
included accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated deficit.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is used to recognize the gain and loss from 
exchange differences on the translation of foreign subsidiaries.

Accumulated deficit is used to record the Company’s cumulative results of operations from 
inception net of any capital distributions.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties were in the normal course of operations and are measured at the 
exchange amount established and agreed to by the related parties.

In addition to the related party transactions noted below, the Company has reimbursed these 
related parties for out of pocket costs incurred on behalf of the Company. Such costs include 
travel, telephone charges and other office related charges.

Key management personnel compensation, including senior officers and directors of the 
Company:

2014
$

Short-term benefits 40,993
Total remuneration 40,993

[a] As at September 30, 2014, convertible debentures held by key management personnel and 
their close family members totalled $362,500.

[b] For the period ended September 30, 2014, $48,999 has been paid to a company controlled by 
the CEO and Director of the Company, for consulting services provided.
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9. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:

2014
$

Other items
Share issuance costs included in accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 52,355

10. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following non-adjusting significant events have occurred between the reporting date and the 
date of authorization of the financial statements.

[a] On October 1, 2014, the Company has been appointed as operator for the twenty-nine claims 
in which it has a 55% working interest located in Runnels County, in the State of Texas.

The Company and the remaining 45% interest holders have agreed to bear their proportionate 
share of well costs on the farm out interest.

[b] The Company entered into an engagement letter dated October 7, 2014 with Richardson GMP 
Limited [“RGMP”] pursuant to which it has engaged RGMP as agent for the initial public 
offering of the Company, to offer for sale on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, a 
minimum of 12,500,000 and a maximum of 15,000,000 units [the “Units”] of the Company at 
a price of $0.40 per Unit. Each Unit will consist of one common share in the capital of the 
Company [a “Share”] and one-half of one share purchase warrant of the Company. Each 
whole warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one share at a price of $0.55 per Share for a 
period of 24 months from the date the Company’s shares are listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange [the “Listing Date”].

The terms of the offering have been revised whereby RGMP will be offering for sale on a 
commercially viable basis 5,000,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.20 per Unit, [the
“Offering Price”] for gross proceeds of $1,000,000. Each unit will consist of one common 
share in the capital of the Company and one whole share purchase warrant of the Company. 
Each whole warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one additional common share at a price 
of $0.30 per Share for a period of twenty four months from the date the Company’s shares are 
listed on the TSX Venure Exchange [the “Listing Date”].



San Angelo Oil Limited Amended and Restated

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[Expressed in Canadian dollars]

September 30, 2014

11

[c] On October 8, 2014 and November 14, 2014, the Company granted 2,050,000 options to 
directors, employees and consultants. The grant of 1,850,000 of the options will be effective 
on the Listing Date and the options will be exercisable at the Offering Price for a period of six 
years from the Listing Date. The options will vest over a 36-month period, with one-third of 
the options vesting every 12 months after the Listing Date. The grant of 200,000 of the 
options was to be effective on the earlier of the Listing Date and January 27, 2015 with the 
options to be exercisable at the Offering Price for a period of six years from the effective date 
of the grant. The options vest over an 18-month period, with 10% of the options vesting on 
the effective date of the grant, and a further 15% vesting every 3 months following that date.

On January 21, 2015, the number of options granted effective on the Listing Date was reduced 
to 1,125,000, and the number of options granted effective on the earlier of the Listing Date 
and January 27, 2015 was reduced to 128,600, with the exercise price of all the options 
decreased to $0.20. All other terms and conditions remained unchanged.

On January 27, 2015, the grant of the 128,600 options became effective.

[d] On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants to be issued on the conversion of 
the convertible debentures such that each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one 
additional common share at a reduced price of $0.30 per common share.

[e] On January 21, 2015, the Company re-priced the warrants issued on the completion of a 
brokered private placement such that each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one 
additional common share at a reduced exercise price of $0.30 per common share.



SCHEDULE B 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

Mandate  

The primary function of the audit committee (“Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors in 
fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the following: (a) the financial reports and 
other financial information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities and shareholders; (b) the 
Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting and the Company’s auditing, 
accounting; and (c) financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee will 
encourage continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, 
procedures and practices at all levels. The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to (i) serve 
as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal control 
system and review the Company’s financial statements; (ii) review and appraise the performance of the 
Company’s external auditors; (iii) provide an open avenue of communication among the Company’s 
auditors, financial and senior management and the Board of Directors; and (iv) to ensure the highest 
standards of business conduct and ethics.  

Composition  

The Committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the Board of Directors, each of 
whom shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would interfere 
with the exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of the Committee.  

At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise. 
All members of the Committee are financially literate. For the purposes of the Company’s Charter, the 
definition of “financially literate” is the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that 
present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the 
breadth and complexity of the issues that can presumably be expected to be raised by the Company’s 
financial statements.  

The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following 
the annual shareholders’ meeting. Unless a chair is elected by the full Board of Directors, the members of 
the Committee may designate a chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership.  

Meetings  

The Committee shall meet at least four times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As 
part of its job to foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually management and 
the external auditors in separate sessions.  

Agendas, with input from management, shall be circulated to Committee members and relevant 
management personnel along with background information on a timely basis prior to the Committee 
meetings. 

The CEO and CFO or their designate shall be available to attend at all meetings of the Committee upon 
invitation by the Committee. 

Any employees as appropriate shall be available to attend and/or to provide information to the Committee 
upon invitation by the Committee. 

 



 
 

Responsibilities and Duties  

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall:  

Documents/Reports Review  

a. Review and update this Charter annually.  

b. Review the Company’s financial statements, MD&A, any annual and interim earning 
statements and press releases before the Company publicly discloses this information and any 
reports or other financial information (including quarterly financial statements), which are 
submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including any certification, report, opinion 
or review rendered by the external auditors.  

c. Review changes in accounting principles, or in their application, which may have a material 
impact on the current or future years’ financial statements; 

d. Review significant accruals, reserves or other estimates such as any calculations of 
impairment; 

e. Review adjustments raised by external auditors, whether or not included in the financial 
statements;  

f. Review disclosure requirements for any commitments and contingencies;  

g. Review expenses incurred by the Chairman of the Board and the CEO of the Company.  The 
Committee is to ensure that the CEO reviews and approves all expenses incurred by direct 
executive reports of the CEO; and 

h. Review any other matters required by law, regulation or stock exchange that the Committee 
feels are important or have been delegated by the Board. 

External Auditors  

The external auditors are the independent representatives of the shareholders, but the external 
auditors are also accountable to the Board and the Audit Committee.  With respect to the 
activities of the external auditors, the Committee shall: 

a. Review annually the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable 
to the Board of Directors and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the 
Company.  

b. Obtain annually a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships 
between the external auditors and the Company.  

c. Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may 
impact the objectivity and independence of the external auditors.  

d. Take or recommend that the full Board of Directors take appropriate action to oversee the 
independence of the external auditors.  

e. Recommend to the Board of Directors the selection and, where applicable, the replacement of 
the external auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval.  
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f. At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about 
the quality of the Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and 
accuracy of the Company’s financial statements.  

g. Review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former 
partners and employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company.  

h. Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial 
statements and intended template for such statements.  

i. Review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other 
compensation related thereto, and any non-audit services, provided by the Company’s external 
auditors. The preapproval requirement is waived with respect to the provision of non-audit 
services if:  

i. the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company 
constitutes not more than 5% of the total amount of revenues paid by the Company to its 
external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit services are provided;  

ii. such services were not recognized by the Company at the time of the engagement to be 
non-audit services; and  

iii. such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee by the Company 
and approved prior to the completion of the audit by the Committee or by one or more 
members of the Committee who are members of the Board of Directors to whom 
authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the Committee.  

Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the Committee’s first 
scheduled meeting following such approval such authority may be delegated by the Committee to 
one or more independent members of the Committee.  

Financial Reporting Processes  

a. In consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the 
Company’s financial reporting process, both internal and external.  

b. Consider the external auditor’s judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the 
Company’s accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting.  

c. Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting 
principles and practices as suggested by the external auditors and management.  

d. Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial 
statements and the view of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments.  

e. Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external 
auditors any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any 
restrictions on the scope of work or access to required information.  

f. Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in 
connection with the preparation of the financial statements.  

g. Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and 
improvements in financial or accounting practices have been implemented.  
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h. Review certification process for certificates.  

i. Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the 
Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.  

Other  

a. Review any related party transactions.  

b. Review reports from persons regarding any questionable accounting, internal accounting 
controls or auditing matters (“Concerns”) relating to the Company such that:  

i. an individual may confidentially and anonymously submit their Concerns to the 
Chairman of the Committee in writing, by telephone, or by e-mail;  

ii. the Committee reviews as soon as possible all Concerns and addresses same as they 
deem necessary; and  

iii. the Committee retains all records relating to any Concerns reported by an individual 
for a period the Committee judges to be appropriate.  
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SCHEDULE D 
 

FORM 51-101F3 
Report of Management and Directors on Reserves Data and Other Information 

 
Management of San Angelo Oil Limited (the “Company”) is responsible for the preparation and 
disclosure of information with respect to the Company’s oil and gas activities in accordance with 
securities regulatory requirements.  This information includes reserves data which are estimates of proved 
reserves and probable reserves and related future net revenue as at June 30, 2014, estimated using forecast 
prices and costs. 
 
An independent qualified reserves evaluator has evaluated the Company’s reserves data.  The report of 
the independent qualified reserves evaluator will be filed with securities regulatory authorities 
concurrently with this report. 
 
The Reserves Committee of the board of directors of the Company has: 
 
(a) reviewed the Company’s procedures for providing information to the independent qualified 

reserves evaluator; 
(b) met with the independent qualified reserves evaluator to determine whether any restrictions 

affected the ability of the independent qualified reserves evaluator to report without reservation; 
and 

(c) reviewed the reserves data with management and the independent qualified reserves evaluator. 
 
The Reserves Committee of the board of directors has reviewed the Company’s procedures for 
assembling and reporting other information associated with oil and gas activities and has reviewed that 
information with management.  The board of directors has, on the recommendation of the Reserves 
Committee, approved: 
 
(a) the content and filing with securities regulatory authorities of Form 51-101F1 containing reserves 

data and other oil and gas information;  
(b) the filing of Form 51-101F2 which is the report of the independent qualified reserves evaluator on 

the reserves data; and  
(c) the content and filing of this report. 
 
Because the reserves data are based on judgements regarding future events, actual results will vary and 
the variations may be material. 
 
“Michael Arguijo” 
      
MICHAEL ARGUIJO 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

“Richard Schroeder” 
      
RICHARD SCHROEDER 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
“Donald A. Sharpe” 
__________________________________ 
DONALD A. SHARPE 
Chairman and Director 

 
“Barry Loughlin” 
__________________________________ 
BARRY LOUGHLIN 
Director 

 
Date: January 26, 2015 
 

 



CERTIFICATE OF SAN ANGELO OIL LIMITED 
 

 
Dated: February 3, 2015 
 
This amended and restated Prospectus (which includes any marketing materials incorporated by 
reference) constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered 
by this amended and restated Prospectus as required by the securities legislation of the provinces of 
British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. 
 
 
 
“Michael Arguijo” 
__________________________________ 
MICHAEL ARGUIJO 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
“Richard Schroeder” 
__________________________________ 
RICHARD SCHROEDER 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
“Donald A. Sharpe” 
__________________________________ 
DONALD A. SHARPE 
Director 

 
 
“Barry Loughlin” 
__________________________________ 
BARRY LOUGHLIN 
Director 
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Dated: February 3, 2015 
 
This amended and restated Prospectus (which includes any marketing materials incorporated by 
reference) constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered 
by this amended and restated Prospectus as required by the securities legislation of the provinces of 
British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. 
 
 
 
“Michael Arguijo” 
__________________________________ 
MICHAEL ARGUIJO 
Promoter 
  

 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE AGENT 
 
 
Dated: February 3, 2015 
 
To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this amended and restated Prospectus (which 
includes any marketing materials incorporated by reference) constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material facts relating to the securities offered by this amended and restated Prospectus as required by 
the securities legislation of each of the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. 
 
 
RICHARDSON GMP LIMITED 
 
 

“Nargis Sunderji” 
Per: __________________________________ 

Nargis Sunderji 
Vice President, PVC Corporate Finance 
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